## ASEAN REGIONAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP REPORT 2015/2016

ASEAN Entrepreneurship: The Context, Impact and Opportunities for Women Entrepreneurs and Startups; Key Pivots for Growth and Sustainability

Siri Roland Xavier

Samsinar Md Sidin

Ulrike Guelich

Catharina Nawangpalupi









International Development Research Centre Centre de recherches pour le developpement international

# ASEAN REGIONAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP REPORT 2015/2016



### ASEAN REGIONAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP REPORT 2015/2016 ASEAN Entrepreneurship: The Context, Impact and Opportunities for Women Entrepreneurs and Startups; Key Pivots for Growth and Sustainability

Siri Roland Xavier

Samsinar Md Sidin

Ulrike Guelich

Catharina Nawangpalupi

Published by: UNIVERSITI TUN ABDUL RAZAK Jalan Tangsi, 50480 Kuala Lumpur.

ISBN: 978-983-2127-16-1 © Unirazak 2016

This regional research project was made possible through;

- The International Development Research Centre (IDRC) who funded Vietnam, Indonesia and the Philippines.
- Universiti Tun Abdul Razak (UNIRAZAK), Malaysia, the ASEAN coordinating institution.
- The Global Entrepreneurship Research Association (GERA).
- The GEM research teams of Vietnam, Indonesia, Philippines, Thailand and Malaysia.

ASEAN IDRC-GEM Project Leader: Assoc Prof Dr. Roland Xavier, Universiti Tun Abdul Razak, Malaysia. Contact: roland@unirazak.edu.my

Vietnam IDRC-GEM Team Leader: Dr Luong Minh Huan, Viet Nam Chamber of Commerce and Industry – VCCI, Vietnam. Contact: luongminhhuan@gmail.com

Philippines IDRC-GEM Team Leader: Assoc Prof Dr. Aida Licaros Velasco, De La Salle University, Manila. Contact: aidalicarosvelasco@gmail.com

Indonesia IDRC-GEM Team Leader: Assoc Prof Dr. Catharina Badra Nawangpalupi, Parahyangan University, Bandung, Indonesia. Contact: cnawangpalupi@gmail.com

Thailand GEM Team Leader: Dr Pichit Akrathit, funded by the Office of SMEs Promotion (OSMEP) and Bangkok University. Contact: gem\_thailand@buc.ac.th

The authors thank Prof Datuk Seri Dr Md Zabid of UNIRAZAK, Edgard Rodriguez of IDRC, Michael Herrington of GERA, Jonathan Francis Carmona of GEM data team and all participating national team members for their various contributions to this ASEAN regional entrepreneurship report.

Although GEM data was used in the preparation of this report, their interpretation and use are the sole responsibility of the authors.

Publishing Consultant: August Publishing Sdn. Bhd. (665084-U) Unit 25-3-33, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor, Plaza Prima, Jalan Klang Lama, Batu 4<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>, 58200 Kuala Lumpur, MALAYSIA. www.AugustPub.com







## CONTENTS

#### Foreword

**Authors** 

**Executive summary** 

#### Acknowledgements

#### PART I ASEAN ENTREPRENEURSHIP

#### SECTION 1 The Gem Research Project: An Introduction

- 1.1 The Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) research project
- 1.2 The GEM conceptual model
- 1.3 How GEM measures entrepreneurship
- 1.4 GEM methodology
- 1.4.1 Adult population survey (APS)
- 1.4.2 National expert survey (NES)

#### **SECTION 2 An Asean Perspective**

- 2.1 ASEAN
- 2.2 Human Capital in ASEAN
- 2.3 Competitiveness in ASEAN
- 2.4 The entrepreneurial pipeline in ASEAN
- 2.5 Profile of the ASEAN Entrepreneurs
- 2.6 Entrepreneurship impact
- 2.7 Summary of entrepreneurship by country

#### SECTION 3 ASEAN Women's Involvement In Entrepreneurship

- 3.1 Entrepreneurial attitudes
- 3.2 ASEAN's potential entrepreneurs
- 3.3 Entrepreneurial intentions
- 3.4 Entrepreneurial activity
- 3.5 Entrepreneurial aspirations
- 3.6 Conclusions

#### SECTION 4 A GEM Assessment Of The ASEAN National Entrepreneurial Environment

- 4.1 An overview of the business environment in the ASEAN region
- 4.2 Assessment of the Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions in six ASEAN countries
- 4.3 Key constraints to entrepreneurial activity
- 4.4 Key recommendations from the national experts

#### SECTION 5 Policy Recommendations And Conclusions

- 5.1 Recommended Policy Interventions for Startups and Beyond
- 5.2 Innovative and High Growth Startups
- 5.3 Woman Owned Startups
- 5.4 An ASEAN Entrepreneurial Ecosystem

#### References

#### PART II COUNTRY PROFILES

#### PART III DATA TABLES

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Selected ASEAN economic indicators (as of August 2015)

Table 2.2: Human Capital Index

Table 2.3: Employment indicators

Table 2.4: Entrepreneurial pipelines (2015 data)

- Table 2.5: Intentional entrepreneurs and potential entrepreneurs that do not intend to do business (in percentage)
- Table 2.6: Total early-stage entrepreneurs in ASEAN-6 countries (2015 data)
- Table 2.7: Job growth expectations in ASEAN-6 countries (2013-2015 data)
- Table 3.1: Gender Gap Index 2015 in ASEAN
- Table 3.2: Business sectors of TEA in ASEAN-5 countries, by gender, 2013 to 2015
- Table 3.3: Business sectors of estbalished businesses in ASEAN-5 countries, by gender, 2013 to 2015
- Table 3.4: Employee growth expectations of more than 5 employees for TEA, by country and gender, 2013 to 2015
- Table 3.5: Employee growth expectations of more than 5 employees for established businesses, by country and gender, 2013 to 2015
- Table 4.1: Main indicators 2013/14 versus 2015/16, by country
- Table 4.2: Global rankings of ASEAN countries in ease of doing business, 2015 versus 2013
- Table 4.3: The GEM Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions (EFCs)
- Table 4.4: Experts' assessment of GEM entrepreneurial framework conditions mean score by country, 2013 2015
- Table 4.5: GEM Entrepreneurial framework conditions rated positive >3.5 (green) and negative (red), per country,2015
- Table 4.6: Expert ratings on financing for new and growing firms, by country, 2013 to 2015 (five point scale)
- Table 4.7: Top five contraints for entrepreneurship by country, 2015

#### LIST OF FIGURES

- Figure 2.1: Global Competitiveness Index between 2006 and 2015
- Figure 2.2: The entrepreneurial pipeline
- Figure 2.3: Potential entrepreneurs in 2014 and 2015 in percentage
- Figure 2.4: Total early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity in three years
- Figure 2.5: Established Business Ownership Rate in three years
- Figure 2.6: TEA rates by age group in ASEAN-6 countries, GEM 2013-2015 (% of adult population in each age category involved in TEA)
- Figure 2.7: TEA rates by gender, GEM 2013-2015 (% of adult population for each gender involved in TEA)
- Figure 2.8: TEA rates by gender in 2015
- Figure 2.9: TEA rates by education level, GEM 2013-2015
- Figure 2.10: TEA rates by income, GEM 2013-2015
- Figure 2.11: Job growth expectations in ASEAN-6 countries, GEM 2013-2015
- Figure 2.12: International Orientation in ASEAN-6 countries, GEM 2013-2015
- Figure 2.13: New products/services offered to customers in ASEAN-6 countries, GEM 2013-2015
- Figure 3.1: Female leadership and ownership in ASEAN, 2015
- Figure 3.2: Entrepreneurship rates in Asia, 2015
- Figure 3.3: TEA rates in Asia by gender, 2015
- Figure 3.4: Established business rates in Asia by gender, 2015
- Figure 3.5: Development of entrepreneurial attitudes in ASEAN-6 countries by gender, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.6: Know start-up entrepreneur rate in ASEAN-6 region by gender, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.7: Contributors to know start-up entrepreneur rate by gender, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.8: Opportunity perception rate in ASEAN-6 region by gender, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.9: Opportunity perception rate by country, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.10: Perceived Capabilities rate in ASEAN-6 region by gender, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.11: Perceived Capabilities rate by country, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.12: Fear of failure rate in ASEAN-6 countries, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.13: Fear of failure rate by country, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.14: ASEAN's pool of potential male entrepreneurs in ASEAN-6 countries, 2015

- Figure 3.15: ASEAN's pool of potential female entrepreneurs in ASEAN-6 countries, 2015
- Figure 3.16: Entrepreneurial intentions in ASEAN-6 countries by gender, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.17: Entrepreneurial intentions by country, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.18: Entrepreneurship as a good career choice for Malaysia and the Philippines, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.19: High status to successful entrepreneurs for Malaysia and the Philippines, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.20: Average TEA in ASEAN-6 region by gender, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.21: TEA by country and gender, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.22: Female to male TEA ratio in ASEAN, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.23: TEA in Asia by gender, 2015
- Figure 3.24: Average established entrepreneurship rate in ASEAN-6 region by gender, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.25: Established entrepreneurship rates by country and gender, 2013-2015
- Figure 3.26: Motive for starting business, by country and gender, 2013 2015
- Figure 3.27: Exit reasons in ASEAN by gender, 2013
- Figure 3.28: Exit reasons in ASEAN by gender, 2015
- Figure 3.29: Exit because of "personal reasons" by country and gender, 2015
- Figure 3.30: Education level for male and female population, 2013 2015
- Figure 3.31: Development of education level for female population, 2013 2015
- Figure 3.32: Development of education level for female TEA, 2013 2015
- Figure 3.33: Retail trade, hotels & Restaurants by country, 2013 to 2015
- Figure 3.34: TEA with strong international organization, by country and gender, 2013 to 2015
- Figure 3.35: TEA with weak international organization, by country and gender, 2013 to 2015
- Figure 4.1: GDP growth in the world from 2001 to 2013
- Figure 4.2: ASEAN's GDP compared to major economies
- Figure 4.3: Global ranking in the Global Competitiveness Index 2013/14 and 2015/16, by country
- Figure 4.4: Global competitiveness values 2013/14 versus 2015/16, by country
- Figure 4.5: Average Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions (EFCs) in ASEAN-6 countries, 2013 2015
- Figure 4.6: Top five contraints for entrepreneurship in ASEAN-5, 2015 and 2013
- Figure 4.7: Financial constraints for ASEAN-6 countries, 2013 2015
- Table 4.8: Expert ratings on financing for new and growing firms, by country, 2013 to 2015 (five point scale)
- Figure 4.9: Average expert ratings on government policies for new and growing firms across ASEAN-5 countries, 2015
- Figure 4.10: Constraints from capacity for entrepreneurship for ASEAN-6 countries, 2013 2015
- Figure 4.11: Experts' recommendations for ASEAN-5 countries, 2015

## FOREWORD

Engaging countries to engender positive policies for sustainable growth is far from simple. This regional report serves to do just that for

entrepreneurship and entrepreneurship policies within ASEAN. Whilst it is well acknowledged that entrepreneurial efforts can fill gaps and add value, both by inventiveness and innovation, the guidance for policy making has been limited.

In this regard the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, by providing evidence based data and global benchmarking, paves the way for creating and fine tuning existing policies. Policies that will lead to higher self-esteem, more innovation and enhance job creation for a nation's people. In short policies that are actionable.

Startups and women entrepreneurs are focal points that today require the most attention. As much as they are both equally important, as pivots, they will require different levers taking into consideration the culture of each ASEAN nation. This report can serve to identify those levers. As such I commend all parties that have come together with much sacrifice and effort to research and write this report.



**Prof. Datuk Seri Dr. Md. Zabid Hj Abdul Rashid**, President and Vice Chancellor, Universiti Tun Abdul Razak, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.









## AUTHORS



Siri Roland Xavier is Associate Professor, Deputy Dean at the Bank Rakyat School of Business and Entrepreneurship, University Tun Abdul Razak. He is the National Team leader for GEM, a board member of the Global Entrepreneurship Research Association, founding member of the Babson Collaborative for Entrepreneurship Educators, Editorial board member of the Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research and Reviewer of Emerald Emerging Markets Case Studies. Prior to academia he was an entrepreneur and business consultant to SMEs. He is an avid writer and has published both reports and journals and holds a doctorate in the field of entrepreneurship. His research interests include Innovation Management and Entrepreneurship Policy Development.

#### Affiliation:

University Tun Abdul Razak, Bank Rakyat School of Business and Entrepreneurship, Malaysia Email: roland@unirazak.edu.my / xsroland@gmail.com

Professor Dr. Samsinar Md. Sidin is currently the Deputy Vice Chancellor (Academic and Student Affairs) at UNIRAZAK. She has extensive teaching experience in Marketing and Management at undergraduate and graduate levels. She is an active and productive researcher. Her major research area includes consumer entrepreneurship, branding, behavior, and vlqquz chain management. She has written and presented papers in various books, journals, proceedings, conferences, book chapters and business magazines. Prof. Samsinar has also established good networking with Marketing and Management academicians in Malaysia. She associated herself with the Malaysian Association of Consumer and Family Economics (MACFEA) and Institute of Marketing Malaysia (IMM). She has been engaged as a Trainer for several major organizations in Malaysia and has also shared her knowledge and experience in consulting projects.

#### Affiliation:

University Tun Abdul Razak, Bank Rakyat School of Business and Entrepreneurship, Malaysia Email: samsinar@unirazak.edu.my





**Ulrike Guelich** is senior researcher and lecturer at the School of Entrepreneurship and Management, Bangkok University, Thailand. Ulrike Guelich is GEM Thailand team member (since 2012). Prior to academia, she was an entrepreneur in Germany. Her 25 years of entrepreneurship experience include years as business owner in a manufacturing family business in the 4th generation and leading an IT start-up as supplier to the automotive industry. She holds two M.B.A. s and a Ph.D. in Entrepreneurship. Her research interests evolve around women entrepreneurship, the use of entrepreneurial networks and their influence on innovation in entrepreneurial activities.

#### Affiliation:

Senior Researcher and Lecturer Bangkok University School of Entrepreneurship and Management Email: ulrike.guelich@gmail.com

Catharina Badra Nawangpalupi is GEM Indonesia team leader. She is also Head of Industrial Engineering Department and a research fellow in Centre of Excellence in SME Small and Medium Enterprise Development, Institute of Research and Community Services, Universitas Katolik Parahyangan (UNPAR) Bandung, Indonesia. She was a sole trader in service, who offer system evaluation consultation in sustainability projects when she was in Australia. She gave up the business when returning to Indonesia. In Indonesia, she still gives various training in financial assessment, business plan & business model, product design and quality improvement. Catharina is also a trainer for research skills and research proposal workshop. She is also the principal author for GEM Indonesia Report in 2013 and 2014.

#### Affiliation:

Head of Institute for Research and Community Service Universitas Katolik Parahyangan Email: cnawangpalupi@gmail.com





## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

#### Introduction

ASEAN, with a workforce of more than 400 million, a combined GDP of 3,600 billion US\$ and an abundance of natural resources is a key economic engine for economic growth. The region with its consumer base of 626 million people is a strong performer in raising the living standards in its ten member countries. The average GDP per capita in ASEAN is to 12,426.5 US\$ with a spread from 1200 US\$ in Myanmar to above 52,000 US\$ in Singapore.

For three years (2013 – 2015), a comprehensive research on entrepreneurship has been carried out to understand the nature, characteristics and dynamics of entrepreneurs and enterprise formation within Southeast Asia, including perceptions, aspirations practices and of and youth with respect women to 48.4% entrepreneurship. In ASEAN, of the population are women (WorldBank, 2016), and their impact can be significant both for innovation and job creation. And they are making some significant inroads.

#### **Key findings**

Although there is economic growth in all nation members, about 180 million citizens (or 29% of the ASEAN population) still live in poverty and there are many members that still need proper infrastructure, energy and good education. Philippines show the highest number of people who see opportunities and have skills to create a new business followed by Indonesia. Thailand has a very low potential entrepreneurial rate while Vietnam is in the moderate rate, whilst Malaysia is the lowest in seeing the opportunities and perceiving that they are able to create a new business.

Overall, entrepreneurship can be specified as a good career choice. From the data, it can be concluded 24-44 that the age highest prevalence cohort has the of entrepreneurial activity, which is not really affected by gender. On the other hand, the education level may have some influences in the TEA because the number is dominated by the individuals that at least has passed their secondary degree.

#### ASEAN Women's entrepreneurship

An estimated number of 61.3 million women entrepreneurs in the ten ASEAN member countries Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, and Vietnam own and operate businesses, which accounts for 9.8% of the total population of 626.7 million people in ASEAN. The Gender Gap Index 2015 reveals that participation of women in ownership of firms and in top management positions is comparably high. In the Philippines, 69% of the firms have female participation in ownership and in Vietnam 59%, followed by Indonesia with 43%. The informal sector especially sees an over representation of women.

Despite a favorable overall development of entrepreneurial attitudes over the last three years, the entrepreneurial intention rate to start a business has decreased. In ASEAN, the average opportunity perception increased significantly from 2013 to 2015 for both genders. The rates of perceived capabilities in the ASEAN countries are slightly higher than the rates of perceived opportunities, indicating that more people believe that they are capable of becoming entrepreneurs than those who see opportunities to do so. On average, the gap between men and women three years ago was 6.8% which halved over the three years to 3.2%. In the last three years, capability perception of women increased by 16.1% to 54.8% and of men by 11.9% to 56.6%.

In general, factor-driven countries experience the lowest fear of failure rates and innovation-driven countries the highest with an exception in Asia Pacific and the South Asian region. Efficiency-driven Malaysia shows the lowest fear of failure rate in the region followed by innovation-driven Singapore. On the contrary, factor-driven Vietnam and efficiency-driven Thailand have the highest fear of failure rates in the region especially for women.

In all countries, women experience higher fear to fail than men. The total size of ASEAN's pool of potential entrepreneurs who believe in good opportunities PLUS their own entrepreneurial capabilities accounts for 7.2% of the adult population. Entrepreneurial intentions are highly influenced by the culture, existing social attitudes and values towards entrepreneurship in a country. In ASEAN, the Philippines is the only country with an increase in entrepreneurial intentions over the last three years, with more women intending to start a business (50%) than men (46%).

For the ASEAN region, average TEA rates are similar for both genders. In 2013, 16.4% of the female and 17.6% of the male population was engaged in early-stage entrepreneurial activities. The region felt a drop in TEA from year 2013 to year 2014. Women entrepreneurs were able to bounce back to 16.2% in 2015, whereas men remained on the 2014 level of 14.3%. The Philippines, Vietnam and Thailand experience more women than men, whereas Indonesia and Malaysia show gender equality in early-stage entrepreneurial activities.

The ASEAN region is home to some of the highest established business rates on a global scale. In 2015 (after Burkina Faso) Thailand ranked second out of 60 GEM countries with its established business rate of 24.6%, followed by third-ranked Vietnam with 19.6% established business owners. On average, established entrepreneurs rate increased in the last three years, slightly more for female established entrepreneurs (+17.5%) thanfortheirmale counterparts (+5.8%), especially from year 2014 to 2015.

In general, being pushed into entrepreneurship out of necessity often leads to less sustainable businessconditionsthanactivelymakingchoices and taking advantage of an opportunity. Overall, women in ASEAN are more likely to be pushed into entrepreneurship. On average, 27% of female TEA had necessity motives in 2015 as in 2013, whereas opportunity motives for male TEA on average slightly increased from 78% of TEA to 81% of TEA.

In the ASEAN-6 region, the rate of discontinuing business is relatively low and decreased in the last three years for both genders. Women exit their businesses at a higher rate than men (2013: 4% female vs.2.8% male; 2015: 3.6% female vs. 2.14% male). Problems in getting finance increased for both genders and at the same time other job and business opportunities increased as well.

Women entrepreneurs in ASEAN have a strong foothold in the "Retail trade, hotel & restaurant" business sector representing approximately 75% of the TEA businesses compared to 59% of their male counterparts. The majority of TEA entrepreneurs in all countries and women more than men do not intend to add any employees within the next 5 years. Women are less likely to have a strong international orientation. Singapore certainly is most dependent on international trade; however, only 27.5% of early-stage entrepreneurial women are strongly international-oriented compared to 44.3% of the men.

On the global stage, the ASEAN-6 countries form a region with overall better gender equality than other regions. Less women than in previous years start their businesses without a formal education, even though highly educated females are less likely to start up a business.

#### **Entrepreneurial Environments**

The top five constraints for entrepreneurship in ASE-AN-5, 2015 and 2013 were finance, government policies, capacity for entrepreneurship, internal market openness and education & training. Singapore was able to uphold its global No.1 rank in ease of doing business including the three categories dealing with construction permits, protecting minority investors and enforcing contracts. On average, many framework conditions in ASEAN saw a decline in the experts' perceptions. Only three conditions improved: (1) cultural, social and society support; (2) internal market dynamics and (3) entrepreneurial level of education at vocational, professional, college and university.

Women face constraints that limit their opportunities to establish, manage and grow an enterprise mainly in areas of policy development, coordination and implementation; access to finance and credit; capacity development; and social and cultural norms. Seed funding for the mainly very small start-ups in ASEAN is less available for women than for men. Often legal, regulatory and social barriers restrict women's ability to own assets, enterinto contracts and obtain credit. schemes are Within support that not gender-responsive, entrepreneurs women compete with male counterparts who have greater collateral and credit history.

Government policies in general are an important factor to enhance entrepreneurial activities. One role of government agencies is to increase the ease of doing business and to reduce bureaucratic burdens. It is not the task of governments to run businesses, but they are part of the ecosystem influencers who can easily hinder or not support entrepreneurial activities by having the wrong policies in place. In general, existing government policies in ASEAN are considered to be not sufficiently implemented in practice. On average 45.4% of the experts see them as a major constraining factor for entrepreneurs in 2015. Regarding capacity development and time, women entrepreneurs have less access to opportunities to pursue higher education, specialized training and job experience than men entrepreneurs.

#### **Recommendations**

Startups and firm concentration does create larger markets and attracts specialists labour not easily available elsewhere. The availability of natural resources will also play a role in this as apparent across ASEAN's economic trade zones. These give rise to clusters that significantly contribute to economic growth. However the sustainability of such clusters are not certain.

Thus a majority of ASEAN economies have embarked on R & D initiatives including research parks in affiliation with corporations and universitiesorevenpublicresearchfacilities. However successful clusters are not easily replicable and some form as a result of historically 'accidental' reasons. The key role will be for government to mitigate the risk and cost to private institutions for startup financing to encourage its development. Credit risk assessment methods will need to be revised to support entrepreneurial endeavours. These may be addressed using loan guarantee schemes and even specific banks. Startups will require credit decisions to be made speedily given the nature of opportunities for innovation led startups.

High growth startups result in high productivity and crucially job creation for ASEAN economies. Part of this is due fast paced products introduction or improvements. Generally for such fast growing startups the human resources, R&D and innovation aspects will require support and relevant training to be in place.

Among the main barriers to Innovative and High Growth startups (IHGS) is where the risk of knowledge investments is too high, there are challenging government regulations and taxes, bureaucracy and labour law policies (barrierstoimportingskilledlabour) aremajorhurdles. Additional challenges include recruiting qualified and skilled manpower for specific knowledge-led industries.

Where private sector participation is concerned cuntries need to attract, incentivise and retain talent for key industries that are strategically important for the economy, thus emphasizing Entrepreneurial Employees Activity (EEA) as much as independent new business activities. The idea is to recalibrate our emphasis and make the entrepreneurial employee activity (EEA) equally important.

This employee working within an organisation could be provided the same incentives as given to new start-ups. However it will be for innovation efforts or spin off organisation for their employers. This approach has the added benefit of the EEA having a mentor in addition to other subsidiary resources for the new spin off venture. New monitoring mechanisms may be put in place that ensures that both the employer and employee benefits. The employee benefitting is an important aspect as they are the source of ideas and innovation and should be the ones working the project.

Lastly an ASEAN ecosystem to support entrepreneurship is recommended which outlines the 'must-haves' which includes talent-driven initiatives that attract and keep the right talents, meaningful media communication, an entrepreneurship educational imperative (along with higher enrolment rates) that starts from the primary phase, an emphasis on R&D, high growth and sustainability for new start-ups, good IT infrastructure and individually tailored and holistic development programmes for SME vendors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Amoros and Bosma, 2013, GEM 2013 Global Report<sup>2</sup> http://asean.org/asean/about-asean/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Entrepreneurial Employee Activity or EEA is defined by the GEM EEA Report 2013 as 'employees developing new activities for their main employer, such as developing or launching new goods or services, or setting up a new business unit, a new establishment or subsidiary. The scope adopted is therefore broader than new organization creation; however it excludes employee initiatives that mainly aim at optimizing internal work processes'.

## ASEAN ENTREPRENEURSHIP



#### 1.1 The Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) research project

Academics and policy makers agree that entrepreneurs, and the new businesses they establish, play a critical role in the development and well-being of their societies. As such, there is increased appreciation for and acknowledgement of the role played by new and small businesses in an economy. GEM contributes to this recognition with longitudinal studies and comprehensive analyses of entrepreneurial attitudes and activity across the globe. Since its inception in 1997 by scholars at Babson College and London Business School, GEM has developed into one of the world's leading research consortia concerned with improving our understanding of the relationships between entrepreneurship and national development. GEM's key objectives are as follows:

- to track entrepreneurial attitudes, activity and aspirations within countries in order to provide annual national assessments of the entrepreneurial sector;
- to allow for comparison of levels of entrepreneurial activity among different countries, geographic regions and economic development levels;
- to determine the extent to which entrepreneurial activity influences economic growth within individual economies;
- to identify factors which encourage and/or hinder entrepreneurial activity (especially the relationships between national entrepreneurship conditions, social values, personal attributes and entrepreneurial activity); and

• to guide the formulation of effective and targetedpoliciesaimedatenhancingentrepreneurial capacity within individual countries.

In the seventeen years since its inception GEM has measured entrepreneurship in over 100 countries, covering all geographic regions and all economic levels, and has gained widespread recognition as the most informative and authoritative longitudinal study of entrepreneurship in the world. In 2015, 62 countries participated in the GEM study.

### 1.2 The GEM conceptual model

Prior to the GEM project, most studies of economic growth and competitiveness emphasised the contribution of larger established firms, on the assumption that these firms were the main drivers of prosperity in modern economies. The objective of the GEM research programme was to understand the relative impact of entrepreneurship on national economic development. In the context of understanding the role of entrepreneurship in economic growth, entrepreneurship was defined as:

"any attempt at new business or new venture creation, such as self-employment, a new business organisation, or the expansion of an existing business, by an individual, a team of individuals, or an established business" (Reynolds, P. et al, 1999). The GEM conceptual framework derives from the basic assumption that national economic growth is the result of the personal capabilities of individuals to identify and seize opportunities, and that this process is affected by environmental factors which influence individuals' decisions to pursue entrepreneurial initiatives.

In line with its objectives, then, GEM focuses on the role played by individuals in the entrepreneurial process. Every person engaged in any behaviour related to new business creation, no matter how modest, is regarded as having an impact on the national level of entrepreneurship.

The GEM model (Figure 1.1) maintains that particular environmental factors (social, political and economic) are influential in creating unique business and entrepreneurial contexts. These factors should therefore be taken into account when analysing cross-national differences as well as changes within economies over time. At a national level, there are three levels of factors that have an impact on business activity and, more specifically, on entrepreneurship.

The most fundamental set of conditions are basic requirements. Without a healthy foundation of these conditions it is difficult for the efficiency enhancers, at the next level, to productively influence business activity. In turn, the innovation and entrepreneurship factors will be less effective without a strong base of efficiency enhancers (which, as stated, depend on basic requirements). Economies that are in their earlier stages of development are often more focused on getting basic requirements in place, while more economically advanced societies turn their attention toward innovation and entrepreneurship factors such as the development of a formal venture finance sector and R&D transfer. International organisations such as the World Bank, the World Economic Forum, Doing Business Report, Heritage Foundation and the United Nations provide indices and data on factors and conditions constituting the basic requirements and efficiency enhancers. To assess the innovation and entrepreneurship factors, GEM developed the National Expert Survey (NES). The key indicators regarding the role played by individuals in the entrepreneurial process (shown in Figure 1.1 under attitudes, activity and aspirations) are assessed through GEM's Adult Population Survey (APS).

Although GEM's core objectives and tenets have remained constant, the GEM conceptual model is a dynamic entity that is progressively developed to incorporate advances in understanding of the entrepreneurship process and to allow for further exploration of patterns revealed in GEM studies. The revised GEM conceptual framework (Figure 1.2) recognises that entrepreneurship is part of a complex feedback system, and makes explicit relationships betweensocial values, personal the attributes and various forms of entrepreneurial activity. It also recognises that entrepreneurship can mediate the effect of the national framework conditions on new job creation and new economic or social value creation. Entrepreneurial activity is thus an output of the interaction of an individual's perception of an opportunity and capacity (motivation and skills) to act upon this AND the distinct conditions of the respective environment in which the individual is located. In addition, while entrepreneurial activity is influenced by the framework conditions in the particular environment in which it takes place, this activity ultimately benefits this environment as well, through social value and economic development. For example, entrepreneurs create jobs for themselves and others, which create income for families. They develop new products that improve people's lives, and advance the knowledge and competitiveness of their societies.



#### The GEM Conceptual Framework

The components of the GEM conceptual framework are:

#### Social, cultural, political and economic context

As in the previous GEM model, this is defined according to the twelve pillars of competitiveness derived from the Global Competitiveness Index and the nine components of GEM's Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions (see Figure 1.1). These will affect countries differently, depending on the stage of economic development at which the countries are, i.e. although all of the pillars will be important to each economy, the pillars of competitiveness which are of most importance to a factor-driven economy will differ from those that will be most important in an efficiency-driven economy.

#### Social values towards entrepreneurship

This includes aspects such as the extent to which society values entrepreneurship as a good career choice; whether

entrepreneurs have high societal status; and the extent to which media attention to entrepreneurship is contributing to the development of a positive entrepreneurial culture.

#### Individual attributes

This includes different demographic factors (such as gender, age, geographic location); psychological factors (including perceived capabilities, perceived opportunities, fear of failure); and motivational aspects (necessity versus opportunity based ventures, improvement-driven ventures).

#### **Entrepreneurial activity**

This is defined according to the phases of the life cycle of entrepreneurial ventures (nascent, new business, established business, discontinuation); according to type of activity (high growth, innovation, internationalisation); and sector of activity (Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity – TEA, Social Entrepreneurial Activity - SEA, Employee Entrepreneurial Activity – EEA).



#### The GEM Entrepreneurial Process Model: Businesses Phases and Entrepreneurship Characteristics

GEM's multi-phase measures of entrepreneurship are given below:

*Potential entrepreneurs* – those that see opportunities in their environments, have the capabilities to start businesses and are undeterred by fear of failure.

*Intentional entrepreneurs* – those who intend to start a business in the future (in the next three years). Nascent entrepreneurs – those who have taken steps to

start a new business, but have not yet paid salaries or wages for more than three months.

*New entrepreneurs* – those who are running new businesses that have been in operation for between 3 months and 42 months.

*Established business owners* – those who are running a mature business, in operation for more than 42 months.

*Discontinued entrepreneurs* – those who, for whatever reason, have exited from running a business in the past year.

GEM's individual-level focus enables more а comprehensive account of business activity than firmlevel measures of formally-registered businesses. In other words, GEM captures both informal and formal activity. This is important because in many societies, the majority of entrepreneurs operate in the informal sphere. In addition, GEM's emphasis on individuals provides an insight into who these entrepreneurs are: for example, their demographic profiles, their motivations for starting ventures, and the ambitions they have for their businesses. GEM also assesses broader societal attitudes about entrepreneurship, which can indicate the extent to which people are engaged in or willing to participate in entrepreneurial activity, and the level of societal support for their efforts. The GEM database allows for the exploration of individual or business characteristics, as well as the causes and consequences of new business creation.

A primary measure of entrepreneurship used by GEM is the Total Early-Stage Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA) rate. TEA indicates the prevalence of individuals engaged in nascent entrepreneurship and new firm ownership in the adult (18 - 64 years of age) population. As such, it captures the level of dynamic early-stage entrepreneurial activity in a country.

Every person engaged in any behaviour related to new business creation, no matter how modest, contributes to the national level of entrepreneurship. However, it is important to recognise that entrepreneurs can differ in their profiles and impact. For this reason, GEM provides a range of indicators that describe the unique, multifaceted pattern exhibited in each society. It is therefore important to consider not just the number of entrepreneurs in an economy, but other aspects such as the level of employment they create, their growth ambitions, and the extent to which groups such as youth and women are participating in entrepreneurial activity.

### 1.4 GEM methodology

In order to provide for reliable comparisons across countries, GEM data is obtained using a research design that is harmonised over all participating countries. The data is gathered on an annual basis from two main sources:

#### **1.4.1 Adult Population Survey (APS)**

The key indicators of GEM are measured through an Adult Population Survey (APS). Academic teams in each participating economy administer and oversee this survey, which is conducted using a random representative sample of at least 2 000 adults between the ages of 18 and 64 years. The surveys are conducted at the same time every year (between May and July) using a standardised questionnaire provided by the GEM Global Data Team. The questionnaire is translated into local languages, and back-translated for a validity check.

To ensure that the sample is representative, area stratified probability sampling is used. The sample is stratified by gender, age and population group, then by region and community size. Cities and large towns, small towns and villages, and even rural areas are additionally assessed in some economies. Accredited research companies in each economy conduct the survey.

Upon completion of the survey in each economy, the raw data is sent to the Global Data Team for quality control checks and uniform statistical calculations. The data are then released to the participating economies for analysis and interpretation, and, ultimately, to be utilised in the compilation of annual national reports. Results for the entire dataset are released in a global executive report, which is launched each January at the GEM Annual Meeting.

The APS methodology was developed to measure entrepreneurial activity in a way that allows for meaningful cross-national analyses each year, as well as intra-country comparisons over time. To provide for reliable comparisons across economies, GEM uses a research design that harmonises the data over all participating economies.

#### 1.4.2 National expert survey (NES)

A National Expert Survey (NES) was designed to support GEM's main APS survey. The NES assesses nine Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions (EFCs), which are shown in Figure 1.1 under innovation and entrepreneurship factors. These EFCs are important to GEM because they are conceptualised as having a more specific influence on entrepreneurial behaviour. The NES survey is thus a key component of GEM because it provides insights into the entrepreneurial climate in each economy.

GEM provides a number of criteria which must be met when selecting experts, in order to construct a balanced and representative sample.

- At least four experts from each of the entrepreneurial framework condition categories must be interviewed, making a minimum total of 36 experts per country.
- A minimum of 25% must be entrepreneurs or business people, and 50% must be professionals.
- Additional aspects such as geographical distribution, gender, involvement in the public versus private sector, and level of experience should also be taken into account when balancing the sample.

The information is used to add context to country-specific GEM reports and to help explain the relationship between entrepreneurial activity and economic growth.



The report aims to address gaps in entrepreneurship knowledge in Southeast Asia and to provide an empirical basis on which to build appropriate policies for the promotion of entrepreneurship, job creation and inclusive growth. The report addresses the levels of entrepreneurship in ASEAN countries and its business environments.

Using the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) methodology, six ASEAN countries – namely Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand, Singapore, and Vietnam - participated in three year GEM survey (2013 – 2015) with the exception of Singapore in 2015,

Starting with the discussion of ASEAN and its characteristics, this chapter focuses on the discussion of human capital and competitiveness in the area followed by detailed discussion of six GEM participating countries, which provides macro-level insights across the countries, as well as country-level insights into the people who participate in different phases of entrepreneurial activity.



The Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) comprise ten nations. Its purpose is to accelerate the economic growth, to improve social and cultural development, to promote regional peace and stability and to create active collaboration in the economic, social, cultural, technical, scientific and administrative fields'.<sup>1</sup>

After 49 years of its establishment, ASEAN has a vision in 2020 as "a concert of Southeast Asian nations,

outward looking, and living in peace, stability and prosperity, bonded together in partnership in dynamic development and in a community of caring societies" <sup>2</sup>.

ASEAN members vary in its country size and economic condition. Table 2.1 shows the characteristics of each member. Indonesia has the highest population and also the largest land and moderate population growth. Its population density is similar to Thailand and Vietnam, but Thailand and Vietnam have lower population growth (Thailand has the lowest population growth). In terms of GDP per capita, Singapore and Brunei have the highest GDP per capita while Cambodia has the lowest GDP per capita.

<sup>1</sup> Summarized from http://asean.org/asean/about-asean/ <sup>2</sup> http://asean.org/asean/about-asean/

	Table 2.1: Selected ASEAN economic indicators (as of August 2015)										
Country	Total land area	Total population <sup>1/</sup>	Total Population Annual Total		Gross domestic product at current prices	Gross domestic product per capita at current prices					
	km <sup>2</sup>	thousand	persons per km²	percent	US\$ million	US\$ <sup>2/</sup>	US\$ PPP <sub>3/</sub>				
	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014				
Brunei Darussalam	5,769	413.0	72	1.7	17,108	41,424	82,850				
Cambodia	181,035	15,184.1	84	1.5	16,771	1,105	3,334				
Indonesia	1,860,360	252,164.8	136	1.3	983,571	3,901	11.498				
Lao PDR	236,800	6,809.0	29	1.9	11,777	1,730	5,096				
Malaysia	330,290	30,261.7	92	1.0	326,346	10,784	24,607				
Myanmar	676,577	51,486.0	76	0.9	65,785	1,278	4,923				
Philippines	300,000	101,174.9	337	1.8	284,910	2,816	6,846				
Singapore	716	5,469.7	7,638	1.3	307,872	56,287	82,714				
Thailand	513,120	68,657.0	134	0.6	373,225	5,436	14,333				
Vietnam	330,951	90,630.0	134	1.0	186,224	2,055	5,644				
ASEAN	4,435,618	622,250.2	140	1.2	2,573,589	4,136	10,700				

Sources: ASEAN Finance and Macro-economic Surveillance Unit Database, ASEAN Merchandise Trade Statistics Database, ASEAN Foreign Direct Investment Statistics Database: http://asean.org/?static\_post=selected-key-indicators-2

### 2.2 Human Capital in ASEAN

The World Economic Forum on ASEAN in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia on 1-2 June 2016 resulted in a unanimous opinion that the ASEAN region will continue to grow and believed to become the fifth-biggest economy by 2020. However, ASEAN still faces many challenges that maintain the regional economic growth to be sustainable and inclusive. Although there is economic growth in all nation members, about 180 million citizens (or 29% of the

ASEAN population) still live in poverty and there are many members that still need proper infrastructure, energy and good education.

Reports on Human Capital in ASEAN (WEF, 2016)<sup>3</sup> that Human Capital Index in ASEAN varies from the rank of 24 to 112 (excluding Brunei Darussalam, which was not indexed due to data unavailability). The index is measured based on learning and employment indicators for different age categories. Table 2.2 shows the ranks and scores of ASEAN members in their Human Capital Index.

Table 2.2: Human Capital Index							
Country	Global rank	Score					
Singapore	24	78					
Philippines	46	71					
Malaysia	52	70					
Thailand	57	69					
Vietnam	59	68					
Indonesia	69	67					
Cambodia	97	59					
Lao PDR	105	53					
Myanmar	112	53					

Data taken from Figure 1 of Human Capital Outlook: ASEAN (WEF, 2016)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>World Economic Forum (2016), Human Capital Outlook: Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN).



In terms of employment, there are some concerns in ASEAN countries to find skilled employees and high numbers of unpaid workers and workers in informal sectors. Myanmar is the country with high incidence of workers in

vulnerable employment and the hardest countries to find skilled employees. Table 2.2 shows condition based on WEF findings in 2015.

	Table 2.3: Employment indicators								
Country	Ease of finding skilled employees (7 = easiest, 1 = hardest)	Workers in vulnerable employment (%)*	High skilled employees (% of employment)						
Singapore	4.8	9	55						
Philippines	4.4	42	24						
Malaysia	5.3	22	25						
Thailand	3.8	56	14						
Vietnam	3.4	36	9						
Indonesia	4.3	36	9						
Cambodia	3.4	64	4						
Lao PDR	3.1	83	6						
Myanmar	2.4	89	7						

\*workers in vulnerable employment refers to the number of unpaid family workers and informal sector own-account workers" as a part of total employment.

The numbers in red indicate the lowest rank and the numbers in blue indicate the highest rank.

Data taken from Human Capital Outlook: ASEAN (p.2) and (p.4) (WEF, 2016)

In its population, in total, ASEAN has approximately 625 million people and by 2025 it is projected to be 694 million people. This accounts for almost 9% of the world population that is equal to the combined populations of Latin America and the Caribbean, and is larger than that of the European Union. Its size is about twice bigger than the United States alone<sup>4</sup>.

The demographic ASEAN is experiencing significant demographic change. In some ASEAN countries, there is a phenomenon that high-skilled workers who have tertiary education are those who fall into younger generation, with a median age of mid-20s. These high skilled and well-educated young workers have met global standards, particularly for those in Malaysia, Singapore, the Philippines and Indonesia while the quality of skilling and training programs needs to be improved in other ASEAN countries.

ASEAN has put its concerns in the alignment between business strategic planning and workforce planning and training, including creating partnership programs with training providers to create demand-driven training, collaborating with educational institutions to provide workplace skills, providing intra-regional job placement opportunities, developing programs to facilitate the transition from education to employment, and supporting entrepreneurs within their value chains<sup>5</sup>.

In relation to entrepreneurship, the challenge is now not only for creating and supporting entrepreneurs, but also to support their business ecosystem and their value chain. Entrepreneurs who create new businesses drive and shape innovation should be supported to accommodate the needs of all types of skilled employees, to reduce unemployment but also to boost innovation and economic growth.

### 2.3 Competitiveness in ASEAN

Competitiveness in Global Competitiveness Index is defined as the set of institutions, policies and factors that determine the level of productivity of a country. The level of productivity determines the level of prosperity that can be attained in an economy. Based on 12 pillars of different aspects of competitiveness: institutions, infrastructure, macroeconomic environment, health and primary education, higher education and training, goods market efficiency, labor market efficiency, financial market development, technological readiness, market size, business sophistication, and innovation. These twelve pillars are categorized into three subindexes that identify the stages of development: basic requirements, efficiency enhancers, and innovation and sophistication factors.

In the global competitiveness, ASEAN has diverse economic development. Based on the classification of factor-driven, efficiency-driven and innovationdriven economies, ten ASEAN members fall into different development phases from Singapore as an innovation-driven economy, Malaysia as an efficiencydriven economy in transition to innovation-driven, Thailand and Indonesia as efficiency-driven economies and the rests as factor-driven economies. GEM research argues that patterns in entrepreneurial activity may also be influenced, in part at least, by phase of economic development. As it is also stated in the 2014 ASEAN report<sup>6</sup> and WEF and GEM report<sup>7</sup>, the classification of the economic development is explained as follow:

- Factor-driven economies: These are countries in the early stages of economic development, typically with a large agricultural sector. The majority of the population tends to live in rural areas. Industrial activity is often dependent on the extraction of natural resources. Migration from rural to peri-industrial areas may feed necessity-based entrepreneurship, as the surplus workers are forced into self-employment in order to make a living. Businesses in this phase of economy tend to compete based on selling price and offer basic products with low level of productivity. The competitiveness at this stage of development primarily focuses on well-functioning public and private institutions, well-developed infrastructure, stable macroeconomic environments, and healthy workforces with basic education.
  - Efficiency-driven economies: As the industrial sector develops further, higher productivity is pursued through economies of scale and development of financial institutions. Increasing productivity, combined with the opening up of an independent supply of financial capital from the emerging banking sector, expands opportunities for the development

of small-scale and medium-sized manufacturing sectors. Businesses in the economies which fall into this category tend to improve their production processes and increase product quality to maintain competitiveness. The businesses in this type of economy tend to have large domestic markets, or access to foreign markets.

Innovation-driven economies: As an economy matures, a gradual shift may occur towards an expanding service sector that caters to the needs of an increasingly affluent population. The industrial sector evolves and experiences improvements in variety and sophistication. This is typically associated with increasing development. research and knowledge intensity and innovation. Businesses in this category can compete with sophisticated production processes and innovative products. As the labour cost is high, businesses try to invest more in innovation to leverage its economic development.

Figure 2.1 shows the Global Competitiveness Index from ASEAN members between 2006 and 2015. Although there are some declining trends, most of the countries have better scores in 2015 and the ranks between these ten countries seem to be the same, with Singapore has the most developed economy and Myanmar is the least one. From Figure 2.1, it can be seen that Singapore and Malaysia are better developed while Thailand and Indonesia are the average scores and Myanmar and Cambodia are the two least developed economies in ASEAN.



<sup>6</sup>Xavier et al. (2015), ASEAN Regional Entrepreneurship Report 2014/2015, Driving ASEAN Entrepreneurship: Policy Opportunities for Inclusiveness and Sustainable Entrepreneurial Growth. <sup>7</sup>World Economic Forum (2015), Leveraging Entrepreneurial Ambition and Innovation: A Global Perspective on Entrepreneurship, Competitiveness and Development. Competitiveness in an economy gives impacts to entrepreneurship, although it may not straightforward. High competitive countries usually do not create high entrepreneurs but the small numbers of entrepreneurs in high competitive economies tend to be high-growth entrepreneurs. High-growth entrepreneurs are ambitious and they need to create a significant organization to pursue and fulfill their goals. GEM and WEF identify ambitious entrepreneurs as the early-stage entrepreneur that expects to employ 20 or more people in five years<sup>8</sup>. The ambitious entrepreneur helps the countries by the creating employment.

## 2.4 The entrepreneurial pipeline in ASEAN

GEM sees entrepreneurial activity as a continuous process. The Adult Population Survey (APS), a survey that randomly selected adults in each economy to measure the entrepreneurial attitude, aspiration and activity, was designed to allow for the measurement and assessment of individual participation across the range of phases comprising entrepreneurial activity. Based on Figure 2.2, there are phases of entrepreneurship including potential entrepreneurship, entrepreneurial intentions, nascent and new business activity, progression into established business ownership, and business discontinuance. This process is viewed as a pipeline, where adults in each phase are advancing to the next phase or they did not continue and stop in a certain phase only.



The actual entrepreneurial activity occurs after potential and intentional entrepreneurs. GEM in its research framework recognizes belief and attitudes as the dynamic interactive components of entrepreneurial activity. There are societal and individual attitudes that influence on a number of activities in the pipeline. Table 2.4 shows the summary of entrepreneurial pipelines in 2015 for 5 GEM participating countries. The numbers in red indicate the lowest rate and the numbers in blue indicate the highest rate. The number show the percentage of adult that involve in each entrepreneurial pipeline. In most of the phases, the Philippines have the highest rates while Malaysia has the lowest rates.

<sup>8</sup>World Economic Forum (2015), Leveraging Entrepreneurial Ambition and Innovation: A Global Perspective on Entrepreneurship, Competitiveness and Development.



	Table 2.4: Entrepreneurial pipelines (2015 data)								
Country	Potential entrepreneurs <sup>1</sup>	Intentional entrepreneurs <sup>2</sup>	Early-stage entrepreneurs <sup>3</sup>	Established business owners <sup>4</sup>					
Indonesia	44.4	27.5	17.7	17.2					
Malaysia	14.8	5.6	2.93	4.8					
Philippines	44.2	37.1	17.16	7.3					
Thailand	25.1	16.7	13.7	24.6					
Vietnam	29.7	22.3	13.7	19.6					
Average (unweighted)	31.6	21.8	12.0	14.7					

<sup>1</sup>Potential entrepreneurs: percentage of adults (18-64 years old) who perceived that they have good opportunities and they have required skills to start a business.

<sup>2</sup>Intentional entrepreneurs: percentage of adults (18-64 years old) who are not in any stage of entrepreneurial activity and intend to start a business within three years.

<sup>3</sup>Early stage entrepreneurs: percentage of adults (18-64 years old) who are either a nascent

entrepreneur or owner-manager of a new business.

Nascent entrepreneur: percentage of individuals aged 18-64 who are currently a nascent entrepreneur, i.e., actively involved in setting up a business they will own or co-own. The business has not paid salaries, wages, or any other payments to the owners for more than three months.

New business owner-manager: percentage of adults (18-64 years old) who are currently an owner-manager of a new business, i.e., owning and managing a running business that has paid salaries, wages, or any other payments to the owners for more than three months, but not more than 42 months.

<sup>4</sup>Established business owners: Percentage of adults (18-64 years old) who are currently an owner-manager of an established business, i.e., owning and managing a running business that has paid salaries, wages, or any other payments to the owners for more than 42 months.

#### 2.4.1 Potential entrepreneurs

GEM considers those who perceive good opportunities for starting a business and believe they have the required skills as the potential entrepreneurs. At this this stage, they have not yet decided whether they will take the chance to start the business or not.

To get an estimate of the size of potential entrepreneurs, the APS asks two questions:

- In the next six months, will there be good opportunities for starting a business in the area where you live?
- Do you have the knowledge, skills and experience required to start a new business?

Opportunities (or the perception of good opportunities) play an important role in determining whether an individual will even consider starting a business. Starting a business is a complex issue, people may decide to start a business because they recognise specific entrepreneurial opportunities. Others may decide to become entrepreneurs and consciously undertake a search for ideas. Entrepreneurs may recognise opportunities well in advance or just before they set up their businesses.

Figure 2.3 shows the comparison between the potential entrepreneurs in 2014 and 2015 in ASEAN GEM participating countries. Philippines always show the highest number of people who see opportunities and have skills to create a new business (more than 38 individuals out of 100 in 2014, and 44 out of 100 individuals in 2015) followed by Indonesia that has very similar figures. In 2015, Thailand has a very low potential entrepreneurial rate while in 2015, a quarter of its population sees the opportunity and perceives that they have the ability to create a new business. While Vietnam is in the moderate rate, Malaysia is always the lowest in seeing the opportunities and perceiving that they are able to create a new business.



#### Potential entrepreneurs (in %)

#### 2.4.2 Intentional entrepreneurs

While potential entrepreneurs see good opportunities for starting a business and perceive that they have the necessary skills, knowledge and experience to start a business, it does not necessarily a guarantee that they eventually start а business. Manv considerations shift the perception the to intention to start a business. Many individuals will evaluate costs, risks and benefits of starting a business in comparison to employment preferences.

Thus, GEM asks if individuals intend to start a business within the next three years as an estimate of intentional entrepreneurs. Intentional entrepreneurs, the next stage in the pipeline, are measured by the intention of starting a business. GEM defines entrepreneurial intention as the percentage of the 18 - 64 year old population (individuals already engaged in any stage of entrepreneurial activity excluded). This stage is important in the process entrepreneurial as а strong association exists between entrepreneurial intention and actual entrepreneurial behaviour.

Table 2.5: Intentional entrepreneurs and potential entrepreneurs that do not intend to do business (in percentage)								
Country	Potential entrepreneurs and has not intention to start a business not an entrepreneur (% in 2014)	Intentional entrepreneurs (% in 2014)	Potential entrepreneurs and has not intention to start a business not an entrepreneur (% in 2015)	Intentional entrepreneurs (% in 2015)				
Indonesia	10.5	27.4	11.6	27.5				
Malaysia	14.0	11.6	8.5	5.6				
Philippines	9.0	42.8	12.8	37.1				
Thailand	2.3	9.4	8.5	16.7				
Vietnam	7.1	21.8	12.0	22.3				
Average (unweighted)	9.8	21.9	10.7	21.8				

Table 2.5 show two-year data relating to intentional entrepreneurs in comparison to those who are missing in the entrepreneurial pipeline. While intentional entrepreneurs is a progressing step in the entrepreneurial pipeline that are likely to start a business in the next three years, the table also show individuals who perceive good

opportunities and have good skills, knowledge and ability but do not intend to start a business or not active entrepreneurs. Although for most countries the rate of intentional entrepreneurship is still high, we also see a high number of people who leave the entrepreneurial pipeline as they do not intend to involve in the entrepreneurial activities.

23

Malaysia is a country with a high number of people who perceive that they have potential to be an entrepreneur but eventually prefer not to do the business. In 2014, 14% of individuals are potential entrepreneurs but they are not intentional or active entrepreneurs that leave only 11% stay in the entrepreneurial pipeline. In 2015, the figure is even lower, only 5.6% are intentional entrepreneurs and 8.5% of them are potential but do not involve in the entrepreneurial pipelines. In 2015, Vietnam and the Philippines have the high rate of people who leave the entrepreneurial pipelines (12% for each country). However, the Philippines still has a very high intentional entrepreneurial rate, 42% in 2014 and 37% in 2015. The rate of potential entrepreneurs who do not intend to do a business or not active entrepreneurs is worth considering, as this group can be entrepreneurs if they have stronger belief and they receive support from their ecosystem.

The rate of intentional entrepreneurs is not always a promising figure. People may intend to start a business because they perceive opportunities and support the entrepreneurship values. People may intend to do a business simply as they do not have other options, as unemployment rateishigh. The Philippines, for example, has a high intentional entrepreneurial rate but it has a high unemployment rate (7.1%, based on Human Capital Report<sup>9</sup>) and has a high rate of workers in a vulnerable environment (See Table 2.3). Other countries as Thailand and Vietnam also have high numbers of workers in vulnerable environment (more than 50%). The number of incidence in chronic unemployment and poor working condition may create high numbers of intentional entrepreneurs.

#### 2.4.3 Entrepreneurial activity

Based on data in Table 2.4, the ASEAN GEM participating countries have a decrease figure between intentional and active entrepreneurs. Except for Thailand, almost half of individuals that have the intention to start a business finally take the active role in entrepreneurship, indicating by the rate of early-stage entrepreneurs. The most noticeable figure is for the Philippines where more than half of the intentional entrepreneurs leave the entrepreneurial pipeline. There is only 17% of early-stage entrepreneurs while there is 37% of intentional entrepreneurs.

The central indicator of GEM is the Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA) rate, which measures the percentage of the adult population (18 to 64 years) that are in the process of starting or who have just started abusiness. This indicator measures individuals who are participating in either of the two initial processes of the entrepreneurial process:

- Nascent entrepreneurs those who have not paid salaries or wages for more than three months, and
- New business owners those who have moved beyond the nascent stage and have paid salaries and wages for more than three months but less than 42 months.

Measuring these two types of entrepreneurs is important as it provides the level of early-stage activity that will hopefully be transformed into established businesses.

#### Figure 2.4: Total early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity in three years



Total early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA)

<sup>9</sup>World Economic Forum (2015), The Human Capital Report 2015.

Figure 2.4 shows TEA in ASEAN for the last 3 years. While Indonesia and Thailand have a dynamic numbers of individuals who are the early-stage entrepreneurs, the Philippines show a consistent high rate of early-stage entrepreneurs followed by Vietnam. Although the rates in Indonesia and Thailand varies from 2013 to 2015, the rates, however, are still high. Malaysia and Singapore has much lower rates in these three-year periods. With the average TEA in ASEAN countries is 14.7% in 2014 and 12% in 2015, the total early-stage entrepreneurs in these countries are less the average. The productive-age individuals in Malaysia and Singapore prefer to enter job market rather than creating a new business.

The established business rate (in Figure 2.5) indicate the sustainability of entrepreneurship in an economy. These businesses have moved beyond the nascent and new

business phases, and are likely to contribute to a country's economy by introducing new products and processes and offering employment. Established business ownership rate measures the percentage of adults (18-64 years old) who are currently an owner-manager of an established business. It means that the established entrepreneurs own and manage a running business that has paid salaries, wages, or any other payments to the owners for more than 42 months.

Thailand and Vietnam show a high number of established entrepreneurs while the Philippines have much lower number of established entrepreneurs compared to the early-stage ones. The relatively high established business rates in most of ASEAN GEM participating countries give a positive impression these countries have the potential to contribute to job creation, economic growth and more equal income distribution.

#### Figure 2.5: Established Business Ownership Rate in three years



#### **2.5 Profile of the ASEAN Entrepreneurs**

#### 2.5.1 Age

This report aims to reveal a range of some characteristics about entrepreneurs. The report also assesses the level of inclusiveness in economy, or in the other words to various groups that engage in entrepreneurial activity, for example the group of age, gender, education level, and income. This information can assist policy makers in targeting effective interventions aimed at increasing participation and productivity in the economy. Data in 2015 for five ASEAN countries show that the prevalence of early-stage entrepreneurial activity (TEA) tends to be relatively low in the 18-24 age cohort, and peaks among 25-34 year olds, and declines as age increases (See Table 2.6). For Indonesia, Thailand and Vietnam, the highest TEA rate is found in 25-35 years old cohort while for Malaysia and the Philippines, the highest TEA falls into the 35-44 year old cohort.

Table					
Country	18 - 24 years	25 - 35 years	35 - 44 years	45 - 54 years	55 - 64 years
Indonesia	14.93	21.24	19.19	14.98	13.70
Malaysia	2.32	3.25	3.51	2.71	2.57
Philippines	8.61	18.63	21.10	21.12	17.88
Thailand	8.96	18.04	16.74	11.50	9.35
Vietnam	12.77	17.80	16.38	8.02	8.43
Average (unweighted)	9.52	15.79	15.38	11.67	10.38
GEM average (unweighted)	11.06	16.31	15.41	12.68	8.80

Data for three years, 2013 – 2015 in ASEAN (average, unweighted) shows that there is an exception of trend that occurs in 2013, when TEA peaks among 35-44 age cohort, then declines as age increases (See Figure 2.6). Similar to previous report (Xavier et al., 2015)<sup>10</sup>, the lower prevalence of entrepreneurial activity between the ages of 18 and 24 could be attributed to the fact that these individuals may have not accumulated the essential factors, such as networks, personal savings, and access to other financial resources.

Although access to financial resources is a lasting problem for all small businesses, the youth are particularly vulnerable to this limitation. Young people often have no credit history or assets to serve as collateral in order to secure loans from financial institutions. In the 25-44 age cohort, they may have accumulated the critical factors and able to build their confidence in their own abilities since they have had more time to develop their skills and knowledge through education and work experiences. Those reasons may lead these age cohorts to have the higher rates of TEA in the years observed. The 55-64 age cohort has the second lowest rate of TEA, which may be affected by their preferences. Some individuals from this cohort may need to enjoy their life, while the other individuals cannot stand doing nothing. For the 55-64 age cohort, entrepreneurial activity may not be their career choice, but with enough resources, some individuals may choose to be an entrepreneur to spend their time doing something impactful.

Figure 2.6 indicates the participation in earlyentrepreneurial activity that characterised by an almost equal distribution of entrepreneurial involvement across the different age groups. The 25-34 age cohort is notable for the highest level of entrepreneurial activity in 2014 and 2015, while the 35-44 age cohort is notable for the highest level of entrepreneurial activity in 2013. On the other hand, it is notable that the 18-24 age cohort has the least rate of TEA in 2013, 2014, and 2015.





#### TEA in ASEAN based on age

<sup>10</sup> Xavier et al. (2015), ASEAN Regional Entrepreneurship Report 2014/2015, Driving ASEAN Entrepreneurship: Policy Opportunities for Inclusiveness and Sustainable Entrepreneurial Growth.

26

#### 2.5.2 Gender

In the first two years of observation, a consistent finding is that men are more likely to be involved in entrepreneurial activity. Women may enter entrepreneurship for many of the same reasons as males, such as to support themselves and their family, to attain financial independence, to enrich their lives with meaningful careers, to have a more flexible life, or because their creativity does not fit the corporate environment. In 2015, the rate of women entering entrepreneurial activity could surpass the rate of males entering entrepreneurial activity. This might be the result of the progressing society and may be pushed by necessity.

Figure 2.7 indicates that the rates of males entering the entrepreneurial activity keep decreasing from 2013 until 2015, and the rates of females entering the entrepreneurial activity may fluctuate impacted by the supporting factors.

Figure 2.7: TEA rates by gender, GEM 2013-2015 (% of adult population for each gender involved in TEA)

#### TEA based on gender



In each country's data in 2015, it can be seen that ASEAN has relatively equal opportunity in early-stage

entrepreneurship compared to the average GEM as there are more female early-stage entrepreneurs than the male ones. Figure 2.8 shows that Indonesia and Malaysia has the equal early-stage entrepreneurs based on gender while there are significantly higher proportion for female early-stage entrepreneurs in the Philippines, Thailand and Vietnam.

Figure 2.8: TEA rates by gender in 2015



#### TEA based on gender (2015 data)

#### 2.5.3 Education level

Competitiveness, productivity, and growth are the vital factors that affect the level of the economy of a country. A good education system is one of the keys for a competitive country, as it is reasonable to believe that a good quality education system will give a positive influence on individuals' self-efficacy and self-confidence. Such individuals are essential to start building businesses, and to navigate the business in a competitive and changing business environment.

Figure 2.9 shows the distribution level across TEA entrepreneurs according to their education level. Most of the early-stage entrepreneurs have passed their secondary degree (excluding Singapore in 2015). That means the networks and knowledge that they gained during their education could be applied in their entrepreneurial life.





#### TEA based on education level

#### **2.5.4 Income**

The amount of income that an individual gets may vary, it may relate to the sector of entrepreneurship that they are managing. Although the early-stage entrepreneurs tend to fall into the upper income level (upper 33% tile), there is not significant proportion that has the income in the first one-third of the category. Figure 2.10 shows that for three years, it has been consistently occur that the highest TEA rates by income is for the upper 33% tile and the rates by income for the middle 33% tile and the lower 33% tile are decreasing.

For the lowest 33% tile, they may feel they start doing their business in order to get a better life. Their needs might push them to give more effort and get out of their lowest tile, unless they would suffer staying in the same tile. The middle 33% tile may feel comfortable enough staying in their tile; they can get what they need, but it would be risky to invest their money in their own business. For to the upper 33% tile, to get better income or to get the opportunities might be reasons for starting a business.

#### Figure 2.10: TEA rates by income, GEM 2013-2015



#### TEA based on income



#### 2.6 Entrepreneurship impact

Entrepreneurs have differing impacts on their societies. There are several keys to economic developmentandgrowth, such as job creation, and the level of innovation. This section focuses on these factors with respect to the ASEAN-6 region

#### 2.6.1 Job creation

A key focus in the development strategies of the ASEAN countries is to facilitate growth that is sustainable in

order to increase the employment and to reduce poverty. Creating job opportunity is a crucial factor in growing a country economically.

Table 2.7 indicates the growth expectations in 2013-2015 among the ASEAN entrepreneurs. Growth expectations represent a future assessment of the expansion prospects for a business and the ambitions of the entrepreneurs to grow the enterprise. The number of growth expectations decrease in 2014, except for Indonesia and the Philippines. The number of growth expectations then increase in 2015, except for Indonesia, and no data for Singapore.

Table 2.7: Job growth expectations in ASEAN-6 countries (2013-2015 data)								
Growth Expectation early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity: Relative Prevalence	Indonesia	Malaysia	Thailand	Vietnam	Singapore	Philippines		
2013	4.4	15.0	16.5	28.7	51.2	6.3		
2014	5.9	11.4	8.9	16.7	42.5	7.3		
2015	4.2	22.1	9.9	19.1	N/A	13.5		

Figure 2.11 shows that the level of job growth expectations in Singapore exceed the expectations in the other ASEAN countries. Indonesia has the lowest level of expectations, which decreased in 2015 and was in their lowest point by that year. The Philippines' expectations was a bit higher than Indonesia, and has exceeds Thailand's level in 2015.

Figure 2.11: Job growth expectations in ASEAN-6 countries, GEM 2013-2015



#### 2.5.3 International orientation

Entrepreneurial activity has wide and persistent variations across economies in international market. Table 2.8 shows the international orientation of the early stage entrepreneurial activity. In 2013, Indonesia and Malaysiahadtheleastratesofinternationalorientation, while

Singapore had the highest rate of international orientation. Some of the rates increased in 2014, except for Vietnam and Philippines. In 2015, Indonesia's rate was even lower than the one they had in 2013, while Malaysia increased their rate for more than three times.

Table 2.8: International Orientation in ASEAN-6 countries, GEM 2013-2015								
International Orientation early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity	Indonesia	Malaysia	Thailand	Vietnam	Singapore	Philippines		
2013	0.4	0.0	1.9	3.6	36.7	11.3		
2014	7.7	2.4	3.8	1.7	37.2	0.4		
2015	0.3	7.7	3.2	1.5		6.9		

In Figure 2.12, it is clear that Singapore is the only country with high level of international orientation. This may be related with the high level of job creation that they have. As they have higher rates for their international orientation, they can raise their rates of job creation. The other ASEAN countries have far lower rates of international orientation, which results in lower rates of job creation, as we can see in Figure 2.11.





#### 2.5.3 Innovation

Innovation has а really close relation with entrepreneurship. The introduction of new productmarket may disrupt market equilibrium. Some innovations can transform into a customer's need, and entrepreneurs need to identify their new market to then develop creative ways to offer, deliver, and promote their products or services. All of this requires an awareness of competitive offerings, and the ability to incorporate this knowledge into distinct products and services.

Table 2.9 shows the new products/services offered to customers in ASEAN-6 countries. In 2013, Thailand had the most products, which then decreased as the year increased. On the other hand, the Philippines has the highest overall rate among the other countries. The rate of the new products fluctuates differently in each country every year, and it is influenced by some factors, such as competitors, regulations, and customers.

Table 2.9: New products/services offered to customers in ASEAN-6 countries, GEM 2013-2015								
New Product early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity	Indonesia	Malaysia	Thailand	Vietnam	Singapore	Philippines		
2013	23.3	32.5	58.9	50.8	34.2	55.1		
2014	47.2	30.0	49.6	36.9	48.8	61.0		
2015	44.5	17.0	41.1	45.1		53.6		



Figure 2.13 shows the growth of the new product in each country in three years. Malaysia has the least rate of new product, while the Philippines has the most rate of new product. The growth of the new product may shift the

market, leading to the appearance of some new trends or needs. In this case, it is required for the entrepreneurs to do the competitive offering, and strategize the promotion of their products.

Figure 2.13: New products/services offered to customers in ASEAN-6 countries, GEM 2013-2015



#### New product innovation

#### 2.7 Summary of entrepreneurship by country

Overall, entrepreneurship can be specified as a good career choice. From the data, it can be concluded that the 24-44 age cohort has the highest prevalence of entrepreneurial activity, which is not really affected by gender. On the other hand, the education level may have some influences in the TEA because the number is dominated by the individuals that at least has passed their secondary degree. The income level may also have influence in TEA because it determines whether an individual has done enough effort or not. The upper 33% tile has the higher rate of TEA, which shows that their current income is not enough for their needs. Innovation works closely with entrepreneurship, which will lead to more new products and more job creations. Following are some summary insights into entrepreneurship in each of the six ASEAN countries that participate in GEM study:

Indonesia has the highest potential market because of its large population, and it is strengthened by the fact that Indonesia has one of the most number of potential entrepreneurs and total early-stage entrepreneurial activity among the ASEAN countries. Start-ups in Indonesia show good sustainability with relatively high number of new firms and established businesses. Unfortunately, it is shown that Indonesia has the lowest job growth expectation, international orientation, and the low level of new product innovation. Compared to the other ASEAN countries, Indonesia has the most number of the lowest rates in each of the categories. Malaysia is the least innovative country in the region. In 2015, Malaysia may have the least number of total potential entrepreneurs, total intentional entrepreneurs, total early-stage entrepreneurial activity in the region, and the total of established business owners, but Malaysia is actually growing their job growth expectation and their international orientation. Besides that, Malaysia also holds the second place of the global competitiveness index between 2006 and 2015. From the numbers, it can be concluded that Malaysians have a low level of confidence in their own entrepreneurial abilities, and have negative perspective about entrepreneurship as a career choice as well as the status of entrepreneurs in society.

The Philippines has one of the highest employment indicators, which indicates the ease of finding skilled employees in the country. In 2015, the Philippines also has the second highest number of potential entrepreneurs and the early-stage entrepreneurs, along with the highest number of intentional entrepreneurs. On the other hand, the Philippines has the second lowest number of established business owners among the ASEAN countries. It may indicate that the business is not really sustainable and the early-stage entrepreneurs tend to shift to another types of employment or simply give up their businesses. Although the Philippines has one of the least rate of job growth expectation, but their international orientation and new product innovation is one of the highest in the region. The Philippines has highly positive societal attitudes towards entrepreneurship, which correspond with high levels of perceived opportunities and perceived capabilities.

Singapore has one of the highest employment indicators, and has the highest percentage of high skilled employees. This finding is related to their leadership inglobal competitiveness index among ASEAN countries. Singapore does not have the highest number of potential entrepreneurs, nor the intentional entrepreneurs. They also have the second lowest number of total early-stage entrepreneurial activity, and the lowest number of established business ownership rate in 2013 and 2014. Although the entrepreneurship activity in Singapore is relatively low compare to other ASEAN countries, Singapore has the highest number of job growth expectation and international orientation, which can be translated strongly into actual entrepreneurial activity.

In 2015, Thailand has the most number of established business owner, moderate number of potential entrepreneurs, intentional entrepreneurs, and early-stage entrepreneurs. Thailand also has moderate number of job growth expectations and international orientation, but the highest number of new product innovation in 2013, which unfortunately falls within the next 2 years. It can be concluded that Thailand responds positively to entrepreneurial activity, and has potentials in their innovative entrepreneurial activity.

In 2015, Vietnam has grown 70% of their potential entrepreneur in 2014, but the number of the intentional entrepreneurs does not really grow that much in 2015. Vietnam has moderate rates in almost every aspect; total early-stage entrepreneurial activity, established business ownership, job growth expectation and international orientation. On the other hand, Vietnam has one of the highest rate of new product innovation among the ASEAN countries, which can be the driven for their entrepreneurial activity.



Entrepreneurship is a highly appreciated form of economic empowerment where entrepreneurs and their talents drive economic growth and societal well-being through their investments, innovation, and job creation. In ASEAN, 48.4% of the population are women (WorldBank, 2016), and very often this resource is underutilized. Since women's participation differs around the world, so does their impact on innovation and job creation (Kelley, Brush, Greene, & Litovsky, 2013). One key strategy in the ASEAN region is the focus on sustainable growth and inclusiveness, an innovation-enabling environment for enhanced job and business opportunities. Sustainable developments that include women empowerment and gender equality are an effective tool to increase educationandstrengthensocietieswhilefightingpovertyand diseases (Neimanis & Tortisyn, 2003).

There is growing international trend to nurture women's economic empowerment in relation to entrepreneurship. Besides promoting a world of general freedom and choices for girls and women, the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (UN, 1996) also distinguishes critical areas of concern, such as "Women and the Economy", with an emphasis on gender equality with regard to access to economic resources, including land, credit, science technology, vocational training, information, and communication and markets, in order to advance and economically empower women and girls. One main aspect in the Beijing Platform is to enable women to become self-employed and entrepreneurs. The World Economic Forum (2016) captures gender differences every year in its Global Gender Gap Report and displays a large disparity within ASEAN countries (Table 3.1) with the Philippines leading not only in Asia but also ahead of many developed countries, ranked No. 7 out of 145 countries globally, yet coming from rank No. 5 in 2013. Still this was the best ranking in the ASEAN region. Both Singapore and Malaysia lost their ranking, Singapore going from rank 2 to rank 3 versus Lao PDR, Malaysia from rank 8 to 9 versus Cambodia, ranking Malaysia last in the ASEAN region in the gender gap index. On a global scale, Vietnam lost 10 ranks, yet remains ranked No. 5 in ASEAN. Brunei managed to come back to its 2013 position after a deep drop in 2014, and all other countries improved their rankings. On a global scale, only Lao PDR, Singapore and Thailand could improve their rankings.

	Table 3.1: Gender Gap Index 2015 in ASEAN*									
	Overall rank 2015 in ASEAN	Overall rank 2013 in ASEAN	Overall rank 2015 out of 145 countries	Overall rank 2014 out of 142 countries	Overall rank 2013 out of 136 countries	Rank 2015: Economic participation and opportunity	Rank 2015: Educational attainment	Rank 2015: Health and survival	Rank 2015: Political empowerment	
Philippines	1	1	7	9	5	16	34	1	17	
Lao PDR	2	3	52	60	60	11	116	92	84	
Singapore	3	2	54	59	58	9	111	122	92	
Thailand	4	4	60	61	65	19	67	1	131	
Vietnam	5	5	83	76	73	41	114	139	88	
Brunei Darussalam	6	6	88	98	88	23	70	131	145	
Indonesia	7	7	92	97	95	114	89	60	71	
Cambodia	8	8	109	108	104	63	127	1	109	
Malaysia	9	9	111	107	102	95	100	110	134	

\*Data for Myanmar were not available

Source: World Economic Forum: Gender Gap Index 2015

In countries which experience high participation of women in entrepreneurial activities, the Gender Gap Index 2015 reveals that participation of women in ownership of firms and in top management positions is comparably high (Figure 3.1). In the Philippines, 69% of the firms have female participation in ownership and in Vietnam 59%, followed by Indonesia with 43%.



#### Figure 3.1: Female leadership and ownership in ASEAN, 2015

\*Data for other ASEAN countries were not available Source: World Economic Forum: Gender Gap Index 2015

The changing economic situation in the last few years also impacted existing employment situations as far as to job losses, regardless of education and prevalent skills. Lacking better opportunities, many women entered the informal entrepreneurship sector, resulting in increasing entrepreneurship rates in some regions. Especially in developing countries, women are overrepresented in the informal sector (Chen, 2001).

Within Asia, entrepreneurship rates differ across economies. In a broader perspective towards Asia,

including China, India, Korea, and Taiwan, three of the ASEAN countries exhibit doubled entrepreneurship rates compared to the four countries outside ASEAN (Figure 3.2). Lowest entrepreneurship rates in the Asian region are experienced in Malaysia with 7.7%: 50% lower than in the four Asian countries China, India, Korea and Taiwan, 60% lower than in the Philippines and 70% lower than in Indonesia, Thailand and Vietnam. Thailand shows the highest percentage of entrepreneurs in the region with 36.4% of the adult population being engaged in entrepreneurial activities.

Figure 3.2: Entrepreneurship rates in Asia, 2015



#### Source: Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2015

Increasingly, politics, policies and recommendations are centred on the development of women in the SoutheastAsiannations. This includes improvements bothin general and in higher education, health benefits, policies for labor and specifically entrepreneurship which is recognized as a critical component to economic development and sustainability across the globe 2015). Half of (Kelley et al., the global population are women and very often this resource is underutilized. The inclusion of their talents in the labor process can drive economic growth and societal well-being through their investments, innovation, and job creation. An estimated number of 61.3 million women entrepreneurs<sup>1</sup> in the ten ASEAN member countries Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, and Vietnam own and operate businesses, which accounts for 9.8% of the total population of 626.7 million people in ASEAN (Schwab & Sala-i-Martin, 2015).

Figure 3.3 displays rather similar TEA entrepreneurship rates for men and women in ASEAN countries whereas the four Asian countries experience lower female TEA rates.



Figure 3.3: TEA rates in Asia by gender, 2015

In line with these levels, established business rates are similar (Figure 3.4). China experiences low overall levels (3%) with an equal gender distribution, as does Indonesia (17%). Thailand and Vietnam both have more established women entrepreneurs (both 23%) compared to their male counterparts (both 16%), whereas Malaysia, Philippines, India, Korea and Taiwan see lower female established business rates.

Source: Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Calculated based on WEF data 2014 for country population, World Bank data 2011-2015 for the population aged 15 to 64 years, census data 2010-2012 for the sex ratio at age 15-64 and GEM data 2013-2014 for the percentage of women entrepreneurs in the female population in Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam. For Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Lao PDR, and Myanmar we assessed a careful estimation with available data from various resources on women entrepreneurship rates.
Figure 3.4: Established business rates in Asia by gender, 2015



Source: Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2015

### **3.1 Entrepreneurial attitudes**

The entrepreneurial pipeline gets started with entrepreneurial attitudes and perceptions, influenced by the framework conditions and the overall entrepreneurial culture in a country. Not only start-ups will certainly be affected by attitudes, perceptions and ecosystem conditions, but also existing businesses. Before entering entrepreneurial activities, potential and intentional entrepreneurs will be considerably more affected by societal attitudes towards entrepreneurship. Despite a favorable overall development of entrepreneurial attitudes over the last three years, the entrepreneurial intention rate to start a business has decreased. In 2015, more men and women knew other start-up entrepreneurs than in 2013 and more have opportunity and capability perceptions (Figure 3.5) whereas the fear to fail which is traditionally higher in the region than in other parts of the world slightly increased for both genders.



Previous GEM research confirms the importance of positive perceptions of opportunities and skills and an entrepreneurial network on start-up activities. However, perceiving a good opportunity and having the skills to pursue it will not necessarily lead to the intentions to start a business. Potential entrepreneurs will also assess opportunity costs and risks of starting a business. An increased risk-averseness could play a role in lower entrepreneurial intentions. In addition, the framework conditions in which potential, intentional and active entrepreneurs can blossom and grow needs to be sufficiently supportive. The fine interplay of environmental conditions and entrepreneurial attitudes to higher levels of entrepreneurship in the entrepreneurial pipeline requests more information for

policy-makers from which to draw their conclusions and on which to base their stimulation efforts to nurture entrepreneurship.

### 3.1.1 Know start-up entrepreneur

Entrepreneurs can act as role models to others, giving valuable advice, support and contacts. Therefore, start-up rates are associated with knowing an entrepreneur. On the other hand: the higher the TEA rates in an economy are, the more likely it is that these entrepreneurs also know other entrepreneurs. Likewise, a high presence of female TEA entrepreneurs as seen in ASEAN countries means, that generally also more women will know entrepreneurs. This might explain why in ASEAN both female startup rates and women entrepreneurs who know entrepreneurs are increasing, yet at a half the slope than this is the case for men (Figure 3.6). On average, the know start-up entrepreneur rate increased from 2013 to 2015 by 10.5% for men to 56.7% and by 5.0% for women to 48.3%.





The rate of knowing another entrepreneur varies considerably between the ASEAN member countries, being lowest in Singapore in 2015 both for men with 20.1% (down from 20.9% in 2013) and for women with 15.8% (slightly up from 15.1% in 2013). Similarly, the rate dropped in Malaysia to 41.2% for men (2013:48.9%) and from 38% for women (2013) to 31.9% (2015) as they did in

Thailand, yet only for men (2015: 35.8% and 2013: 40.8%), whereas the rate for females increased slightly to 30.9% in 2015. The overall increase in the know startup entrepreneur rate from 2013 to 2015 as displayed in Figure 3.7, is mainly led by the Philippines (+24.1% for men) and Vietnam (+9.6% for men and +16.5% for women).

### Figure 3.7: Contributors to know start-up entrepreneur rate by gender, 2013-2015



Main contributors to Know start-up entrepreneur rate 2013-2015

The decrease of the rate in 2014 exists in all but the two countries Thailand and Malaysia, which show an increase in 2014 (both men and women) and a setback in 2015 for men and in Malaysia also for women, down to a lower level than in 2013.

### **3.1.2 Opportunity perception**

Opportunity perception is a good indicator for the likeliness of start-up activities and one integral step to starting a business. Entrepreneurs who start out of opportunity are found to be more sustainable and more innovative in their businesses. On a global scale, women entrepreneursgenerallyperceivelessopportunitythanmen. Previous GEM research indicates that female TEA rates tend to be higher where women perceive the presence of opportunities for starting a business (Kelley et al., 2015). In ASEAN, the average opportunity perception increased significantly from 2013 to 2015 for both genders. (Figure 3.8). Within two years, women's opportunity perception increased by 19.4% to 47.3%, slightly exceeding those of their male counterparts (47.2%) whose opportunity perception increased by 16.5%.



### Opportunity perception rate in ASEAN-6 region, 2013-2015

Figure 3.9 shows that the Philippines and Vietnam experience the highest rate of opportunity perception for women (both 56%), followed by Indonesia (53%). In addition, Vietnam (58%), Philippines (54%) and Indonesia (51%) are also leading for male opportunity perceptions. In Malaysia, the opportunity perception dropped significantly by 2/3 to a 3-year-low for both genders and also decreased in Thailand to the lowest level in three years. Singapore, already being lowest in the

region, dropped further to 18% for men (-28%) and 15% for women (-25%).

The overall increase in the region through the years is mainly contributed to by Indonesia, the Philippines, and Vietnam. In contrast to the sharp decrease of opportunity perception in Malaysia (-66.7%), Vietnam experiences an increase to 56% for women (+64.7%) and to 58% for men (+48.7%).

### Figure 3.9: Opportunity perception rate by country, 2013-2015



### Opportunity perception rate by country, 2013-2015

### 3.1.3 Capability perception

Perceived capabilities reflect the percentage of individuals who believe they have the required skills, knowledge and expertise to start a new business. GEM research has found that individuals who are confident that they possess the necessary skills to start a business are four to six times more likely to be become involved in entrepreneurial activity. The rates of perceived capabilities in the ASEAN countries are slightly higher than the rates of perceived opportunities, indicating that more people believe that they are capable of becoming entrepreneurs than those who see opportunities to do so. Kelley et al. (2013) found, that women in general have lower capabilities perceptions than men with developed Asia as the lowest regional average of (16%). On average, the gap between men and women three years ago was 6.8% which halved over the three years to 3.2% (Figure 3.10). In the last three years, capability perception of women increased by 16.1% to 54.8% and of men by 11.9% to 56.6%.

### Figure 3.10: Perceived Capabilities rate in ASEAN-6 region by gender, 2013-2015



Perceived capabilities rate in ASEAN-6 region, 2013-2015

Confirming the findings of Kelley et al. (2013), Singapore as the only developed country in ASEAN experiences the lowest perceived capabilities, especially for women (Figure 3.11). For the male population, Malaysia has comparable rates to Singapore, whereas women are slightly higher. The gender gap narrows in Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philippines and Vietnam, with nearly no change in Thailand and Singapore.

### Figure 3.11: Perceived Capabilities rate by country, 2013-2015



### Perceived capabilities rate by country 2013-2015

### 3.1.4 Fear of failure

Figure 3.12:

The measure of fear of failure –when it comes to starting a business- applies to those who perceive entrepreneurial opportunities only. Variations can be large

Fear of failure rate in ASEAN-6 countries, 2013-2015

because individuals who intend to start their business also plan on different businesses and different scale and scope. Over the last three years, the fear of failure rate tends to increase, yet only very slightly for women (+1.1%) and by 4.3% for men (Figure 3.12).



In general, factor-driven countries experience the lowest fear of failure rates and innovation-driven countries the highest with an exception in Asia Pacific and the South Asian region (Amorós & Bosma, 2014). Figure 3.13 shows this contradictory picture as well with Malaysia as a country in transition phase between efficiency- and innovation-driven showing the lowest fear of failure rate in the region, followed by Singapore as innovation-driven country. On the contrary, Vietnam as factor-driven country and Thailand as efficiency-driven country have the highest fear of failure rates in the region especially for women. In all countries, women experience higher fear to fail than men. Overall, women's fear of failure rates has decreased considerably with the exception of Indonesia, which shows an increase of 11.3% for women and 12.5% for men from 2013 to 2015. Vietnam was able to close the large gender gap of 12.3% difference in 2013 to 1.9% in 2015. Most countries in ASEAN could narrow their gender gaps from 2013 to 2015; only the Philippines' fear to fail gender gap increased. In 2015, Thailand is the country with the largest gender gap in fear of failure rate of 8.2%.

### Figure 3.13: ar of failure rate by country, 2013-2015



### **3.2 ASEAN's potential entrepreneurs**

GEM defines potential entrepreneurs as those who perceive good opportunities AND who believe that they have the necessary entrepreneurial capabilities. The opportunity perception rate for ASEAN men is 47.2% and for women 47.3% in 2015. The region's rate for perceived capabilities is 56.6% formen and 54.8% for women. Using cross-tabulation, the overlap of the two attitudes "good

opportunity perception" and "entrepreneurial capability perception" is shown to be only 6.7% of the male adult population (Figure 3.14) and 7.6% of the female adult population (Figure 3.15), despite high attitude perceptions. The total size of ASEAN's pool of potential entrepreneurs who believe in good opportunities PLUS their own entrepreneurial capabilities accounts for 7.2% of the adult population.



The composite indicator of potential entrepreneurs is based on two self-reported perceptions which may be wishful thinking. Believing to have the right skills to start a business and actually having the right skill set could be two sides of a coin. However, Own perceptions are the major reference for an entrepreneur to take the first steps and time and success of the business will tell if the perceptions were right or could be adjusted.

### **3.3 Entrepreneurial intentions**

The next stage in the early entrepreneurship process is when a potential entrepreneur expresses the intention to start entrepreneurial activities. GEM defines entrepreneurial intention as the percentage of the adult non-entrepreneur population who intend to start a business within the next three years. This is an important second step in the entrepreneurial pipeline, as entrepreneurial intent is closely associated with actual start-up rates. This process is highly influenced by existing social attitudes and values towards entrepreneurship in a country. Referring to women entrepreneurs, the prevalence of entrepreneurial intentions also displays if a culture in a country tends to foster or rather hinder women in entrepreneurship.

Entrepreneurial intentions in the ASEAN region were at a similarly high rate for both genders in 2013 and dropped significantly in 2014 by 19.1% for women to 24.5% and by 10.7% for men to 27.5% (Figure 3.16). From 2014 to 2015, men's entrepreneurial intentions decreased further to 26.6%, which indicates a total decline of 13.6% from 2013 to 2015. On the contrary, women's intentions increased again to 28%, surpassing those of their male counterparts, yet not being able to reach back to the rates on 2013.

### Figure 3.16: Entrepreneurial intentions in ASEAN-6 countries by gender, 2013-2015



Entrepreneurial intentions 2013-2015

In ASEAN, the Philippines are the only country with an increase in entrepreneurial intentions over the last three years, with more women intending to start a business (50%) than men (46%). As Figure 3.17 displays, all other countries show a decline in entrepreneurial intentions. Indonesia experiences the largest decline with -20% for women and -21.4% for men. Thailand sees a decline but closes the gender gap with a slightly higher entrepreneurial intent for women in 2015 (20.1%) than for men (19.9%) and Vietnam is able to narrow the gap to 0.8%. In Malaysia, with a low fear of failure rate, low capability perceptions and a steep decline in opportunity perceptions, individuals show the lowest entrepreneurial intent and a decline from 2013 to 2015 by -40% to 6% for women and -36.4% 60 7% for men.



Entrepreneurial intentions by country, 2013-2015

The existence of social values towards entrepreneurship influences an individual's perception and can hinder or foster entrepreneurial intent. The comparison of Malaysia, the country with the lowest level of entrepreneurial intent for women, with the Philippines with the highest level shows significant differences in the entrepreneurship perceptions, if is а desirable career in the country. Less than half of the females in Malaysia compared to the Philippines perceive entrepreneurship as a good career choice (Figure 3.18). In addition, 33% less women and 45% less menin Malaysia compared to the Philippines believe that successful entrepreneurs have a high status in 2015. Figures 3.18 and 3.19 indicate only small gender differences in these two indicators within the country and over time.

Figure 3.18: Entrepreneurship as a good career choice for Malaysia and the Philippines, 2013-2015



### Entrepreneurship as a good career choice 2013-2015



### High status to successful entrepreneurs rate, 2013-2015



### 3.4 Entrepreneurial activity

The entrepreneurial pipeline has steps which happen before actual entrepreneurial activity starts: the potential entrepreneurs, followed by the intentional entrepreneurs who intend to start their business in the next three years. GEM differentiates nascent entrepreneurs who are in the real start-up phase, not older than 3 months, and new entrepreneurs (between 3 and 42 months). Both combined form the total early-stage entrepreneurial activity (TEA). Firms older than 42 months are considered established businesses.

## 3.4.1 Total early-stage entrepreneurial activity (TEA) rate

Gender-related research on early-stage entrepreneurial activities confirms gender differences, due to social, cultural and economic reasons. For the ASEAN region, average TEA rates are similar for both genders. In 2013, 16.4% of the female and 17.6% of the male population was engaged in early-stage entrepreneurial activities. The region felt a drop in TEA from year 2013 to year 2014. Women entrepreneurs were able to bounce back to 16.2% in 2015, whereas men remained on the 2014 level of 14.3% (Figure 3.20).

### Figure 3.20: Sector Sector Figure 3.20: Figu



In general across the globe, men are more active in TEA than women. In ASEAN however, women and men participate at least similarly in early-stage entrepreneurial activities with the exception of Singapore (Figure 3.21), where nearly twice as many men are actively

involved in TEA compared to women. Over the years 2013 to 2015, TEA rates in all six observed countries seem to be volatile with ups and down, subject to changing political and economic ecosystem conditions.

### 30% 25% 20% 15% 10% 5% 0% 2013 2014 2015 2013 2014 2015 2013 2014 2015 2013 2014 2015 2013 2014 2015 2013 2014 2015 2013 2014 Philippines Thailand Vietnam Singapore Indonesia Malavsia male TEA 26% 13% 18% 8% 5% 3% 19% 16% 15% 18% 25% 13% 17% 15% 12% 13% 15% female TEA 25% 14% 18% 5% 7% 3% 18% 21% 20% 17% 22% 15% 14% 16% 16% 8% 7%

One outstanding feature of the region is the ratio of female TEA to male TEA entrepreneurs. The GEM 2015/16 Global Report refers to only six out of 60 countries with an equal or higher percentage of female than male TEA (Kelley, Singer, & Herrington, 2016). Besides Peru in Latin America, all other five countries are located in the ASEAN region. Despite cultural differences in religion and traditions,

the five countries with Catholic, Buddhist and Muslim backgrounds equally share this unique pattern in the region. The Philippines, Vietnam and Thailand experience more women than men, whereas Indonesia and Malaysia show gender equality in early-stage entrepreneurial activities (Figure 3.22).

### Figure 3.21: TEA by country and gender, 2013-2015

Figure 3.22: Female to male TEA ratio in ASEAN, 2013-2015



A comparison to other Asian countries shows that gender equality in TEA rates for the ASEAN countries is a unique characteristic in this specific region only (Figure 3.23). Even though TEA rates are comparatively high in China and

TEA in Asia by gender, 2015

Figure 3.23:

India, this accounts only for male TEA. Female to male TEA ratio is between 0.5 (Taiwan) and 0.7 (Korea), considerably lower than 1.0.



TEA in Asia by gender, 2015

### 3.4.2 Established entrepreneurship rate

The ASEAN region is home to some of the highest established business rates on a global scale. In 2015, After Burkina Faso, Thailand ranked second out of 60 GEM countries with its established business rate of 24.6%, followed by third-ranked Vietnam with 19.6% established

business owners. On average, established entrepreneurs rate increased in the last three years, slightly more for female established entrepreneurs (+17.5%) than for their male counterparts (+5.8%), especially from year 2014 to 2015 (Figure 3.24).



### Established entrepreneurship rate in ASEAN-6 countries, 2013-2015





The differences in established entrepreneurship rates between the countries are apparent in Figure 3.25. Despite high TEA rates of 15% for men and 20% for women, businesses in the Philippines tend to be not sustainable and only few businesses manage to survive into the established business phase. On the contrary, Thailand's businesses seem to survive on a high rate and become established. The sharp drop for Thailand from 2014 to 2015 mirrors the current more pessimistic outlook and the restrained economic situation for many businesses in Thailand. Within the last three years, female established entrepreneurs in Vietnam managed to exceed their male counterparts by 38.7%, having grown 40.4% since 2013. Similar to low TEA rates, Malaysia and Singapore also exhibit a smaller percentage of established entrepreneurs with women keeping their share over the last three years and male established entrepreneurs declining.



### 3.4.3 Reason for starting a business

Why do individuals start up their businesses? The motives for starting a business can be to perceive a business opportunity or an improvement of one's own conditions or there simply are no other options for work. In general, being pushed into entrepreneurship out of necessity often leads to less sustainable business conditions than actively making choices and taking advantage of an opportunity. Overall, women in ASEAN are more likely to be pushed into entrepreneurship. On average, still 27% of female TEA had necessity motives in 2015 as in 2013, whereas opportunity motives for male TEA on average slightly increased from 78% of TEA to 81% of TEA.

During the last three years opportunity motives to start up increased in most ASEAN countries (Figure 3.26), especially in the Philippines, who initially showed the highest rate of necessity-driven motives in 2013, but opportunity-driven start-up motives increased by 21% for women and by 30% for men. In Vietnam, necessity motives increased versus opportunities, especially for women. 44% of female TEA are necessity-driven, an increase of 76% from only 25% two years earlier. In the same time, the increase for male necessity-driven start-ups was only an increase of 12% from 25% in 2013 to 28% in 2015. Malaysia with its generally low entrepreneurship rates exhibits that -if individuals start their businesses in Malaysia- they do so opportunity-driven. Nevertheless, from 2013 to 2015 female necessity-driven start-ups increased by 100% from 7% to 14%. In comparison to the other countries, this is still the lowest number for female necessity motives among the five ASEAN countries.



### **3.4.4 Business discontinuance**

In the ASEAN-6 region, the rate of discontinuing business is relatively low and decreased in the last three years for both genders. Women exit their businesses at a higher rate than men (2013: 4% female vs.2.8% male; 2015: 3.6% female vs. 2.14% male). Highest discontinuance rates for both genders are in the Philippines but decreased from 2013 to 2015 from 8.1% to 65% for men and from 11.7 to 10.1% for women. The only increase in exiting their businesses is prevalent in Indonesia for women (2013: 2.0% / 2015: 2.6%) and in Thailand for men (2013: 1.6% / 2015: 1.8%).

More important are the reasons why entrepreneurs exit their businesses. In Asia, where an important cultural aspect is to not lose one's face, a disproportionally high number of respondents compared to the rest of the world names "personal reasons" for the business exit. If losing face is involved, these personal reasons can be anything from not being profitable to death of a partner. However, many women entrepreneurs experience greater problems than men because they have to combine household duties with business duties, raise and educate children, often managing the household income and in rural parts facing limited transportation options often long hours to commute. One third of female entrepreneurs terminated their businesses in 2013 out of personal reasons compared to one fifth of the men.

The remaining reasons why individuals decided to exit their businesses in 2013 were similar per gender (Figure 3.27). More men (30%) had problems with the profitability of their business than women (26%), and more men than women had other job or business opportunities (8% vs. 6%) or retired (4% vs. 0%).



From 2013 to 2015 the exit reasons shifted. Problems in getting finance increased for both genders and at the same time other job and business opportunities increased as well (Figure 3.28). 17% of men –more than twice as many as 2013- exited their business in 2015 because of other job or business opportunities. Fewer of these possibilities are

in place for women, yet also 8% of women exited for this reason, an increase of 13.3% compared to 2013. The reason to exit because the business was not profitable decreased for men by 13.3% to 26%. Opportunities to sell halved for both genders, decreasing from 4% in 2013 to 2% in 2015.



Twice as many women (33%) than men (17%) terminated their businesses in 2015 out of personal reasons. From 2013 to 2015, this apparent gender gap between men and women opened further. If a business is not profitable and it is difficult to obtain finance –when other opportunities open for men, they might use these for an exit. Similarly, when personal reasons for women add to the stress factors of struggling with a business, maybe

in combination with additional cultural issues in some ASEAN countries which influence their behavior, they will exit for personal reasons. In the Philippines and in Thailand, this exit cause is considerably higher than in the other ASEAN countries, both for men (26%) as for women (37%), whereas lowest rates are prevalent in Vietnam (Figure 3.29).



### 3.4.5 TEA and education

Educational achievements can be linked to innovative types of entrepreneurial activity (Koellinger, 2008). The needs for increases in higher educational degrees nurture hope that innovativeness in general might increase. An overall better educational background of both start-ups and young as well as established business owners can help to improve the overall quality of the businesses.

Across the region, the pattern of the education level within the population shows little gender differences on average (Figure 3.30). The development over the last three years is similar for both genders and tends to lead to lower overall educational level, with the largest increase in secondary education which results in a decrease in post-secondary degrees. A post-secondary degree is a degree obtained from an institution that offers schooling after secondary school resulting in an associate, bachelors or other more advanced degree. Generally, the public and politics show big interest in post-graduate degrees, because they offer valuable social and economic benefits for individuals, states and the entire nation. One of the primary reasons for earning a post-secondary degree is that the relationship between post-secondary education and an individual's income is strong and individuals with a post-secondary degree are more likely to earn a more profitable income. It is therefore critical for countries in ASEAN to promote higher education as it is shown to boost more innovativeness in general, not only for entrepreneurs but for the whole population to advance their societies.



The general educational level of the female population, both entrepreneurs and non-entrepreneurs of the five ASEAN countries sees peaks of 40-50% of all females either at secondary education level (Philippines, Indonesia, and Malaysia) or –for Thailand and Vietnam- at post-secondary level (Figure 3.30). Over the last three years, the educational level in Indonesia showed only small changes, whereas post-secondary and graduate education decreased in Malaysia and Vietnam with increased secondary and up to secondary education. In Thailand and the Philippines, women education on a higher level, graduate or post-secondary, increased. With the exception of Vietnam, all other countries still have a remarkable portion of women without formal education, highest and increasing level in Thailand with 22.1% in 2015 to the highest rate in ASEAN, and the biggest decline in the Philippines from 27.6% in 2013, which was the highest number in the ASEAN-6 countries to 15.5% in 2015.



Development of education level for female population, 2013 - 2015

The effect of higher education on early-entrepreneurial activity is not certain. The possibilities of better employment opportunities that might be available in the market for those with higher education could even deter them from entrepreneurship; however, those with higher education might have additional knowledge, better experience, and better networks which could support their way into entrepreneurship.

Looking at entrepreneurs only, the educational profile of women entrepreneurs in ASEAN (Figure 3.31) shows some similarities for the five ASEAN countries. In general, less female entrepreneurs start and run their businesses in 2015 without formal education compared to 2013. An outlier is Malaysia which sees an increase from 7.3% of the female entrepreneurs in 2013 to 10.3% in 2015 without formal education. In Malaysia, also less graduates than in 2013 are entrepreneurs, whereas many more women entrepreneurs (82.8%) than in 2013 (73.2%)confirm a higher level of education on either secondary or post-secondary level when running businesses. In Vietnam (46.3%), Indonesia (56.3%) and the Philippines (51.2%), the majority of women entrepreneurs increasingly rely on secondary education. In Vietnam, the overall level of education for women entrepreneurs declined. Whereas in 2013, post-secondary level was most prevalent with 51.1%, after three years the educational level reduced to secondary level.



### Development of education level for female TEA, 2013 - 2015

### **3.4.6 Business sectors of women entrepreneurs**

The free movement of goods, services, investment, skilled labor and capital within ASEAN since the end of 2015 presents both opportunities and challenges for enterprises. It is important to understand how women can perform in this context and how –in series- policies could be shaped to ensure they reap the benefits of the ASEAN economic integration. Trade openness and the expansion of new information and communication technologies (ICTs) have led to easier and stronger market connections for many women, increasing their access to economic opportunities (WorldBank, 2012). Some business sectors are likely to benefit more and some less from the AEC with impact on women-owned enterprises on the national level in the ten ASEAN countries.

Female entrepreneurs in general are concentrated in the less lucrative retail and textile manufacturing sectors, whereas male-owned enterprises are predominantly operating in services and manufacturing rather than in textiles (The World Bank, 2011). Traditionally, women entrepreneurs in ASEAN have a strong foothold in the "Retail trade, hotel & restaurant" business sector representing approximately 75% of the TEA businesses compared to 59% of their male counterparts. For established businesses, this sector shows lower participation rates. Changes in the last three years per sector for TEA are displayed in Table 3.2 and for established entrepreneurs in Table 3.3. The Retail trade, Hotel & Restaurant sector decreased most for established businesses in the last three years, whereas young businesses and start-ups still tend to open and run their business in this strongly represented sector. Male established entrepreneurs left this sector by 9.4% and female by 9.7%, whereas female TEA remained stable and male TEA decreased only by 3%. Largest growth rates for sector participation rates for female TEA are found in Agriculture / Forestry / Fishing (+72%), Manufacturing (+69%), whereas Mining / Construction, Utilization / Transport / Storage and Information / Communication decreased, similar for both genders.

	Table 2.2: Human	Capital Index		
Country	ma	ale	fen	nale
	20	13	20	13
Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing	7.0%	8.5%	2.9%	5.0%
Mining, Construction	2.9%	2.6%	1.8%	0.2%
Manufacturing	4.3%	6.3%	4.2%	7.1%
Utilization, Transport, Storage	3.9%	2.3%	1.7%	0.6%
Wholesale Trade	8.4%	11.9%	3.3%	4.3%
Retail Trade, Hotels & Restaurants	59.2%	57.4%	75.9%	75.3%
Information and Communication	3.3%	0.9%	1.1%	0.2%
Financial Intermediation, Real Estate Activities	3.2%	1.3%	2.3%	0.7%
Professional Services	1.8%	0.8%	0.4%	0.2%
Administrative Services	1.6%	3.4%	0.7%	0.7%
Government, Health, Education, Social Services	3.4%	4.3%	4.9%	5.4%
Personal / Consumer Service Activities	0.9%	0.4%	0.7%	0.2%

The difference between female TEA and established women entrepreneurs is mainly the decrease in the traditional sector and a more diversified picture in other sectors than for female TEA alone (Table 3.3). A large gender

gap for established businesses exists for Wholesale Trade, where male entrepreneurs (12.9% in 2015) outnumber their female counterparts (4.5% in 2015) by nearly 3 times.

Table 3.3: Business sectors of estab	blished businesse	s in ASEAN-5 cour	ntries, by gender,	2013 to 2015
Country	ma	ale	fen	nale
country	20	13	20	13
Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing	12.3%	13.5%	7.9%	11.4%
Mining, Construction	5.8%	3.8%	1.7%	0.9%
Manufacturing	3.7%	7.5%	3.3%	7.0%
Utilization, Transport, Storage	2.6%	2.8%	1.2%	0.5%
Wholesale Trade	11.5%	12.9%	3.2%	4.5%
Retail Trade, Hotels & Restaurants	52.3%	47.4%	73.5%	66.4%
Information and Communication	1.5%	0.3%	0.4%	0.3%
Financial Intermediation, Real Estate Activities	1.6%	1.2%	1.8%	0.8%
Professional Services	1.8%	0.9%	0.4%	0.3%
Administrative Services	1.7%	3.0%	0.6%	0.3%
Government, Health, Education, Social Services	4.0%	6.5%	5.4%	7.7%
Personal / Consumer Service Activities	1.2%	0.2%	0.5%	0.1%

The business sector stronghold in Retail trade, hotels & restaurants in the ASEAN region with an average participation rate of 75.3% in 2015 (75.9% in 2015) experienced a decrease in two countries from a higher than average level to the abverage level, in Indonesia -8.4% from 81.3% in 2013 to 74.5% in 2015

and in the Philippines with -8.7% from 83.7% in 2013 to 76.4% in 2015 (Figure 3.33). Malaysia, Thailand and Vietnam see increasing levels of this sector in the last years, with Thailand ranking highest in the region for female TEA in Retail trade, hotel & restaurants with 77.7% of all female TEA entrepreneurs operating in this sector.





### **3.5 Entrepreneurial aspirations**

### 3.5.6 Firm growth and job creation

Growth can be defined in different ways, be it in terms of revenue growth, market share or number of employees. For young start-up businesses intended job growth can show the dynamics of entrepreneurship in an environment. The perceived ability to grow the businesses is an indicator for further development of businesses from a small to a medium or to a large enterprise. Table 3.4 shows the huge differences between the countries and between female and male TEA entrepreneurs. The majority of TEA entrepreneurs in all countries and women more than men do not intend to add any employees within the next 5 years, led by Thailand, where this attitude increased from 45.4% of all women entrepreneurs in 2013 to 58.4% in 2015. Similarly, male TEA with no expectation to employ anybody five years from now is highest in the Philippines, up from 43% of Male TEA in 2013 to 62.3% in 2015.

High growth expectations for 6-19 new employees over the last three years are increasingly prevalent in Malaysia,moreforwomen(+242%)thanformen(+53%). All other countries tend to have less expectations regarding their employee growth with decreasing attitude from 2013 to 2015. Women's expectations are generally lower towards firm growth and they traditionally start and run smaller businesses than men. The exception is Singapore, the only innovation-driven country in the region, which shoes early-stage entrepreneurs where in 2013 approximately half of them, both male and female, plan to grow their businesses by employing at least 5 more employees five years from now.

Table 3.4: Em	ployee growth expectatio	ons of more than 3 2013 to 2013		EA, by country an	nd gender,
		ma	ale	fema	ale
Country		20	13	201	.3
Malavaia	6-19 jobs	13.7%	17.2%	11.8%	8.0%
Malaysia	20+ jobs	7.4%	5.2%	2.9%	0.0%
Indonesia	6-19 jobs	7.4%	11.3%	4.3%	6.7%
muonesia	20+ jobs	0.0%	1.6%	1.6%	1.4%
Dhilippings	6-19 jobs	7.3%	20.6%	2.6%	11.0%
Philippines	20+ jobs	7.3%	3.2%	1.7%	6.1%
Theiland	6-19 jobs	8.8%	4.8%	4.2%	3.0%
Thailand	20+ jobs	1.0%	1.7%	2.8%	2.7%
Vietnem	6-19 jobs	10.2%	20.3%	10.8%	7.3%
Vietnam	20+ jobs	5.7%	4.4%	5.1%	1.7%
Cin con ono*	6-19 jobs	20.7%		15.0%	
Singapore*	20+ jobs	19.0%		25.0%	



### **3.5.2 Internationalization**

The newly in place ASEAN Economic Community (AEC) with its possibility for free movement of goods, services, investment, skilled labor and capital within the ten ASEAN member countries presents opportunities to become international with less obstacles than normal country borders would provide. In the last few years, the topic of the upcoming AEC was widely discussed within the ASEAN countries, although many, especially smaller entrepreneurs, are still not fully aware of the potential impact and potential opportunities. Trade openness can led to easier and stronger business internationalization -at least within ASEAN and the ASEAN + 6 countries. "Going international" is the first step in also "going global". Gem uses two indicators to measure this perception of entrepreneurs:

Entrepreneurs with weak international orientation are those who aim to have more than one percent of their customers coming from outside their own country; strong international orientation means aiming to have more than 25% of their customers coming from outside their own country.

Figure 3.34 displays that women are less likely to have a strong international orientation and also the upcoming AEC at the end of last year, did not affect their international aspirations around six months earlier, as most countries have lower aspirations in terms of their outlook on strong international trading or purchasing. Singapore certainly dependent is most on international trade; however, only 27.5% of early-stage entrepreneurial women are strongly international-oriented compared to 44.3% of the men. The gap between Singapore and the other ASEAN countries is huge with Malaysia (13.3% for male) and Philippines following next. Female Philippines early-stage entrepreneurs, who were approximately only 50% less than Singaporeans in 2013, saw a sharp drop of -66% to 4.9% in 2015.





\*Data for Malaysia available for 2015 and for Singapore for 2013 only

Early-stage entrepreneurs who aim to have more than 1% of their customers coming from outside their own country are more prevalent than those who aim at more than 25%. As Figure 3.35 displays, there is more gender equality in weak international orientation in TEA entrepreneurs than

in those who are strongly international oriented. Malaysia sees the largest increase in weak international orientation, both for men (+100%) as for women (+36.5%). All other countries either kept or lowered their aspirations from 2013 to 2015.



With the effect of AEC and its easy access to growing markets, entrepreneurs will be able to expand their markets and their customer base, also beyond borders. General propensity for market expansion can be an indicator, how entrepreneurs in certain countries are not only aware of this opportunity but also actively plan to undertake efforts and pursue it. On the contrary, the fact that entrepreneurs are less internationally oriented now that AEC is in place than three years before, is also an indicator that they are either not aware of the opportunities, are risk-averse or uncertain in what this new situation holds in place for their businesses.

### **3.6 Conclusions**

Specifically in the ASEAN region, women are an important contributor to entrepreneurial activities. As early-stage entrepreneurs, women in the Philippines, Vietnam and Thailand exceed the numbers of male TEA, and in Indonesia and Malaysia they are at par with their male counterparts. Similarly, nearly all surveyed countries have a higher rate of female than of male established business owners. On the global stage, the ASEAN-6 countries form a region with overall better gender equality than other regions (Kelley, et al, 2015).

Over last three attitudes towards the years, entrepreneurship improved for both genders. Opportunity and capability perceptions increased and women were able to draw close level with men. Where Malaysia experienced sharp declines, countries like Indonesia, Vietnam and the Philippines contributed strongly to the overall better entrepreneurial attitudes. Educational levels are similar yet overall educational level slightly declined. Less women than in previous years start their businesses without a formal education, even though highly educated females are less likely to start up a business.

In the region, entrepreneurial intentions declined in the last three years. With the exception of the Philippines, fewer individuals intend to start a business in 2015 than it was the case in the years before. Total early-stage entrepreneurial activity was less affected and remained nearly the same on average for women entrepreneurs. However, there are huge differences between the single countries. Only female TEA in the Philippines and Vietnam increased from 2013 to 2015. In addition, the TEA rate seems to be a volatile rate with ups and downs, result of changing political and economic framework conditions.

The reasons to start a business improved significantly in the last years with more women starting opportunitydriven instead of necessity-driven. In Vietnam on the other hand, necessity-driven entrepreneurship for women increased to the highest level for the region of 44%. Fewer women exited their businesses, but also the chance to sell a business decreased, whereas –other than for women-other employment opportunities formen saw a clear increase which made them exit their businesses. Personal reasons are still twice as common for women than for men to close their business - the combination of several social roles, unprofitability and funding problems taking its toll.

Despite a larger united ASEAN market and more online opportunities to sell their products, the AEC apparently did not spark growth and internationalization aspirations in women entrepreneurs. One critical tendency in the region is the increasing number of women, entering the traditional business sector of "Retail trade, hotel & restaurant", where established women and men exit this market and increase their foot print in other sectors.



In a comprehensive socio-economic approach to entrepreneurial activity within a country, entrepreneurship activities and attitudes need to be considered together with national conditions that foster or constrain entrepreneurship. Underlying fundamental conditions in economies include basic requirements like economic stability, infrastructure, health or primary education. These basic conditions are usually aimed at in factor-driven countries like Cambodia, Lao PDR, Myanmar and Vietnam. If these conditions are partly or fully established like in Brunei Darussalam, Philippines, Indonesia and Thailand), economies enter the efficiency-driven stage, where efforts are more directed towards enhancing labor and financial markets, training and higher education and technological readiness. In higher developed economies like Malaysia and Singapore, supporting factors aim to stimulate and to support innovation and entrepreneurial activity.

The overall purpose of the ASEAN Economic Community is to build a region with "sustained economic growth, accompanied by lasting peace, security and stability as well as shared prosperity and social progress" (Techakanont, 2014). ASEAN Is the 3rd largest economy in Asia and the world's 7th largest (US-ASEAN Business Council, 2016) and the second-fastest growing economy in Asia after China, expanding by 300% since 2001 and thereby exceeding the global growth average for the past 10 years (Figure 4.1).



### Figure 4.1: GDP growth in the world from 2001 to 2013

Source: US-ASEAN Business Council, East-West Center, USEAS, 2016

The region with its consumer base of 626 million people is a strong performer in raising the living standards in its ten member countries. The combined GDP of the ASEAN member countries (2.4 trillion US\$) adds up to 4.4% of the world's total GDP (PPP). The average GDP per capita in ASEAN is to 12,426.5 US\$ with a spread from 869 US\$ in Myanmar to 54,776 US\$ in Singapore (Schwab & Salai-Martin, 2014). Figure 4.2 displays the comparison of ASEAN'S GDP to major economies. In the ASEAN region, Lao PDR's annual GDP is smallest with \$10 billion and Indonesia's GDP highest (\$867 billion) due to the largest population in the region.

### Figure 4.2: ASEAN's GDP compared to major economies



Source: US-ASEAN Business Council, East-West Center, USEAS, 2016

# 4.1 An overview of the business environment in the ASEAN region

The annual Global Competitiveness Report of the World Economic Forum evaluates key factors and their interrelations that determine economic growth and a country's level of present and future prosperity. It tries to point out main strengths and weaknesses of an economy so policy makers and other stakeholders can make informed decisions to shape their economic agendas, address challenges and enhance opportunities.

All countries around the globe have room for improvement. There is considerable diversity in performance not only across but also within countries (Schwab & Sala-i-Martin, 2015). None of the participating countries in the 2015/16 report scored above average for its peer group in all surveyed sub-pillars, and only a few come close.

In ASEAN, nearly all countries in ASEAN could keep or increase their ranks according to the Global Competitiveness Report 2015/16 (Schwab & Sala-i-Martin, 2015). Despite fewer participating countries (140 countries) in 2015/16 compared to 2013/14 (146 countries), both Cambodia and Lao PDR lost 2 ranks compared to three years earlier (Figure 4.3). Especially the Philippines and Vietnam managed big steps forward in their competitiveness globally, climbing up 12 ranks (Philippines) and even 14 ranks (Vietnam) respectively. Singapore maintained its No. 2 position globally, and Malaysia and Thailand stepped up 7 and accordingly 5 ranks. Brunei Darussalam ranked No. 26 in 2013/14 with a value of 5.0 which makes it a close follower to Malaysia, ranking No. 3 in ASEAN but was not included in the rankings in 2015/16.



Source: Global Competitiveness Reports 2013/14 and 2015/16 (World Economic Forum)

Figure 4.4 displays the global values of the rankings which indicate how close the four countries Thailand (4.6), Indonesia (4.5), Philippines (4.4) and Vietnam (4.3) are

ranked despite a gap of 24 ranks between Thailand and Vietnam.



\*Data 2015/16 for Brunei Darussalam are not available Source: Global Competitiveness Reports 2013/14 and 2015/16 (World Economic Forum) The annual analysis of the main indicators in the global competitiveness landscape by the World Economic Forum reveals the differences between the countries in the region (Figure 4.5). For basic requirements, such as institutions, infrastructure, macroeconomic environment, health and primary education, Singapore ranks first on a global scale, whereas Myanmar takes one of the last ranks yet with an improvement of 8 ranks within the last three years. Despite overall lower rankings in 2015/16, both Cambodia and the Philippines improved several steps in the basic requirements, whereas Indonesia and Lao PDR experienced a decline. In efficiency enhancers, such as higher education and training, goods market efficiency,

labor market efficiency, financial market development, technological readiness, and market size, all countries gained in rankings with the exception of Cambodia which dropped 10 ranks from 91 to 101. Regarding innovation and sophistication factors, e.g. business sophistication, the ASEAN region on average is ranked lower than the overall ranking. Singapore, holding rank 2, managed to improve in Innovation and Sophistication Factors from rank 13 to 11 only. Within ASEAN, Indonesia, ranked 33, comes third after Singapore (11) and Malaysia (17). Despite an improvement in the last years, Thailand ranks 5th in this indicator and therefore lower than its overall rank of 3 in ASEAN, after the Philippines.

Т	able 4.1: Main	indicators 2	2013/14 ve	rsus 2015/	16, by coun	try		
			Basic requiren	ients	Efficienc enhance		Innovati sophistic factors	
		Overall rank	Rank	Value	Rank	Value	Rank	Value
Denversi Denversi la m	2015/16	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Brunei Darussalam	2013/14	26	18	5.60	65	4.10	54	3.80
Combodio	2015/16	90	93	4.19	101	3.63	121	3.05
Cambodia	2013/14	88	99	4.20	91	3.80	83	3.40
Indonosia	2015/16	37	49	4.84	46	4.34	33	4.14
Indonesia	2013/14	38	45	4.90	52	4.30	33	4.10
Lao PDR	2015/16	83	86	4.30	106	3.58	103	3.05
	2013/14	81	83	4.40	107	3.60	74	3.50
Malassia	2015/16	18	22	5.59	22	5.01	17	5.05
Malaysia	2013/14	24	27	5.40	25	4.50	23	4.70
Management	2015/16	131	128	3.45	131	3.17	134	2.71
Myanmar	2013/14	139	135	3.40	140	3.00	146	2.60
	2015/16	47	66	4.60	51	4.30	47	3.88
Philippines	2013/14	59	78	4.50	58	4.20	58	3.80
Singanara	2015/16	2	1	6.36	2	5.70	11	5.19
Singapore	2013/14	2	1	6.30	2	5.60	13	5.10
Thailand	2015/16	32	42	4.94	38	4.56	48	3.88
rnananu	2013/14	37	49	4.90	40	4.40	52	3.80
Vietnem	2015/16	56	72	4.54	70	4.04	88	3.44
Vietnam	2013/14	70	86	4.40	74	4.00	85	3.40

*Source: Global Competitiveness Reports 2013/14 and 2015/16 (World Economic Forum)* 

Enabling an economic-friendly framework is highly influenced by laws and regulations in a country. An annual global comparison of these framework conditions is conducted as "ease of doing business index" by the World Bank. A higher ranking, which means a lower numerical value, indicates better, usually simpler, regulations for businesses and stronger protections of property rights. Table 4.2 shows that Singapore was able to uphold its global No.1 rank in ease of doing business, despite a setback in certain indicators, such as "Starting a business" (-6 ranks), "Resolving insolvency" (-25 ranks) and "Trading across borders" (-40 ranks). However, Singapore also managed to become No.1 in 2015 in the three categories dealing with construction permits, protecting minority investors and enforcing contracts.

The three countries Malaysia, Thailand and Brunei Darussalam have lost ranks within the last three years; Malaysia and Brunei 6 and 5 ranks respectively lower, whereas Thailand took a steep decline in the Ease of Doing Business Index, losing 31 ranks, thereby dropping from rank 18 to rank 49. In Thailand , all but 2 conditions deteriorated. Only "paying taxes" and "resolving insolvency" were improved compared to 2013. This decline might be mirrored in the decline of entrepreneurship rates from 2013 to 2015 as displayed in chapters 2 and 3.

Table	4.2: Globa	l rankir	ngs of AS	SEAN co	ountries	in ease	of doing	g busine	ess, 2013	5 versus	2013		
		Ease of Doing Business Rank	Change in Ranking from 2013 to 2015	Starting a Business	Dealing with Construction Permits	Getting Electricity	Registering Property	Getting Credit	Protecting Minority Investors	Paying Taxes	Trading Across Borders	Enforcing Contracts	Resolving Insolvency
C:	2015	1	0	10	1	6	17	19	1	5	41	1	27
Singapore	2013	1	0	4	2	5	36	12	2	5	1	12	2
Malaysia	2015	18	-6	14	15	13	38	28	4	31	49	44	45
Malaysia	2013	12	-0	12	96	28	33	1	4	15	11	33	49
Thailand	2015	49	-31	96	39	11	57	97	36	70	56	57	49
Thananu	2013	18	-31	85	16	10	26	70	13	96	20	23	58
Brunei Darussalam	84	-5	74	21	68	148	79	134	16	121	113	98	
Di ullei Dai ussalalli	2013	79	-5	135	43	29	115	129	117	22	40	158	46
Vietnam	2015	90	9	119	12	108	58	28	122	168	99	74	123
Vietnam	2013	99	9	108	28	155	48	40	169	138	74	44	149
Philippines	2015	103	35	165	99	19	112	109	155	126	95	140	53
rimphiles	2013	138	55	161	100	57	122	129	128	143	53	111	165
Indonesia	2015	109	19	173	107	46	131	70	88	148	105	170	77
muonesia	2013	128	17	166	75	147	98	129	49	131	37	144	148
Cambodia	2015	127	6	180	181	145	121	15	111	95	98	174	82
Callibuud	2013	133	0	133	149	132	115	53	82	66	118	142	152
Lao PDR	2015	134	29	153	42	158	66	70	178	127	108	92	189
	2013	163	29	81	87	138	74	167	184	126	160	114	185
Myanmar*	2015	167	10	160	74	148	145	174	184	84	140	187	162
wiyalililal '	2014	177	10	189	130	121	151	171	178	116	103	185	160

\*2013 data for Myanmar is not available; 2014 data was used for comparisons

59

### 4.2 Assessment of the Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions in six ASEAN countries

The "Forum on ASEAN-Japan Young Entrepreneurs: Partnership for Growth" (ASEAN, 2014) in 2013 forecasted that –once AEC is established- the role of the private sector, of young entrepreneurs, and of women entrepreneurs will increase above average. However, they also raised concerns on the preparedness of those entrepreneurs for the increasingly competitive environment under the ASEAN Economic Community (AEC).

Social, political and economic factors are influential in creating unique business and entrepreneurial contexts. Environmental features that are expected to have an impact on entrepreneurship are captured in the nine Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions (EFCs), which are described in Table 4.3. Although the EFCs can be addressed at any stage of development, these conditions function best in economies with an underlying foundation of basic requirements and efficiency enhancers as described in Chapter 4.1. It can be assumed that a country such as Thailand, which experienced a sharp downgrade in the ease of doing business, also performs lower in entrepreneurship conditions than some years earlier.

Table 4	2.3: The GEM Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions (EFCs)
Framework condition	Description
EFC1:Financial support	The availability of financial resources, equity, and debt, for new and growing firms, including grants and subsidies.
EFC2: Government policies	The extent to which government policies, such as taxes or regulations) are either size- neutral or encourage new and growing firms. There are two sub-divisions – the first covers the extent to which new and growing firms are prioritised in government policy generally; and the second is about the regulation of new and growing firms.
EFC3: Government programmes	The presence and quality of direct programmes to assist new and growing firms, at all levels of government (national, regional, municipal).
EFC4: Education and training	The extent to which each level of the education and training system incorporates training in creating/ managing new, small or growing business entities. There are two sub-divisions – primary and secondary school entrepreneurship education and training; and post-school entrepreneurship education and training.
EFC5: Research and development transfer	The extent to which national research and development will lead to new commercial opportunities, and whether or not these are available for new, small and growing firms.
EFC6: Commercial and professional infrastructure	The presence of commercial, accounting and other legal services and institutions that allow or promote the emergence of small, new and growing business entities.
EFC7: Internal market openness	The extent to which commercial arrangements undergo constant change and redeployment as new and growing firms compete with and replace existing suppliers, subcontractors and consultants. There are two sub-divisions – market dynamics, i.e. the extent to which markets change dramatically from year to year; and market openness, i.e. the extent to which new firms are free to enter existing markets.
EFC8: Access to physical infrastructure	Ease of access to available physical resources – communication, utilities, transportation, land or space – at a price that does not discriminate against new, small or growing firms.
EFC9: Cultural and social norms	The extent to which existing social and cultural norms encourage, or do not discourage, individual actions that might lead to new ways of conducting business or economic activities which might, in turn, lead to greater dispersion in personal wealth and income.

The National Experts' Survey (NES) provides insights into the ways in which these EFCs either foster or constrain the entrepreneurial climate, activity and development in the ASEAN region. Six of the ASEAN countries (Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam) participated in the 2013 and 2014 GEM survey. For 2015, Singapore data was not available.

National conditions influencing entrepreneurial activity are observed in a survey with a minimum of 36 experts per country, using both a semi-structured and structured questionnaire. The closed questionnaire consisted of several statements relating to aspects of the nine Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions. The responses were measured on a Likert scale from "completely false (1)" to "completely true (5)". The statements were phrased so that a score of 4 or 5 would indicate that the expert regarded the factor as positive for entrepreneurship, while a score of 1 or 2 would indicate that the expert regarded the factor as negative for entrepreneurship.

Figure 4.4 summarizes the experts' perceptions of the entrepreneurial environment for ASEAN on average over the years 2013 to 2015. On the Likert scale of five, a mean score of three is regarded as average. The most positive EFCs are considered to be those with mean scores between 3.5 and 5, whereas those between 1 and 2.5 indicate a negative perception.

On average, many framework conditions in ASEAN saw a decline in the experts' perceptions. Only three conditions improved: (1) cultural, social and society support which increased from 3.2 to 3.4, still below a most positive EFC of 3.5; (2) internal market dynamics which was already one of the positive conditions in 2013 (3.6) could increase slightly to 3.7, and (3) entrepreneurial level of education at vocational, professional, college and university –up 0.1 to 3.2.



On a country level, differences between the countries become apparent which are understandable due to the different development levels of the countries. The ten ASEAN member countries represent all stages of economic development: from factor-driven (Cambodia, Lao PDR, Myanmar, Vietnam) over efficiency-driven (Indonesia, Thailand) to innovation-driven (Singapore), plus they cover the two transition phases between factor- and efficiency-driven (Brunei, Philippines) and between efficiency- and innovation-driven (Malaysia). In the last years, the financial environment supporting entrepreneurship slightly improved for Singapore (2014: 3.6), was stable for Malaysia (3.4), but deteriorated for the other countries with a highest decline of -0.5 for Thailand from an average 3.0 down to 2.5 in 2015. With regard to government policies and government programs, Indonesia managed to steadily improve this condition from 2013 to 2015 although still on a below average rating (Table 4.4) and managed to surpass the Philippines, Thailand and Vietnam. The other ASEAN countries either were stable or declined in government-related framework conditions, especially the Philippines dropped low. Malaysia could improve in government programs, yet faced a lower rating in bureaucracy and taxes.

Throughout the region, cultural and social norms and society support rank above average with a more positive attitude towards entrepreneurship which is also reflected in the high female entrepreneurship rates of most of the countries. Internal market dynamics ranks stable and as one of the most positive framework conditions besides physical infrastructure for the ASEAN countries, as can be expected in the verge of the AEC at the end of 2015. The entrepreneurial level of the education at vocational colleges, professional training, colleges and universities improved or was stable (Sing pore) at a level above average in all countries with the exception of Thailand which dropped -0.4 to 2.7 and Vietnam (-0.1 to 2.5).

Table 4.4: Experts' assessment of GEM entrepreneurial framework conditions – mean score by country, 2013	: Experts	s' assessr.	nent of G	EM entr	epreneur	ial fram	ework cu	ondition.	s – mear	1 score b	y countr	y, 2013 -	- 2015				
	Ĩ	Indonesia	B	2	Malaysia		Ph	Philippines	S	L	Thailand			Vietnam		Singapore*	oore*
	2015	2014	2013	2015	2014	2013	2015	2014	2013	2015	2014	2013	2015	2014	2013	2014	2013
Financial environment related with entrepreneurship	2.9	3.0	3.1	3.4	3.3	3.4	3.1	2.6	3.2	2.5	2.5	3.0	2.1	2.4	2.4	3.6	3.5
Government concrete policies, priority and support	3.0	2.9	2.7	3.1	3.4	3.1	2.4	2.4	3.0	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.6	2.9	2.9	3.5	3.7
Government policies bureaucracy, taxes	2.7	2.5	2.2	3.1	2.9	3.5	2.3	2.1	2.3	2.5	2.6	2.4	2.8	2.5	2.8	4.0	4.1
Government programs	2.9	2.6	2.5	3.4	3.3	3.0	2.2	2.4	3.1	2.3	2.1	2.4	2.1	2.4	2.5	3.7	3.6
Entrepreneurial level of education at Primary and Secondary	2.7	2.6	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.3	3.0	2.9	3.1	2.2	1.9	2.3	1.6	1.8	2.0	3.0	2.8
Entrepreneurial level of education at vocational, professional, college and university	3.6	3.3	3.3	3.2	3.1	3.0	3.8	3.3	3.4	2.7	2.8	3.1	2.5	2.6	2.6	3.3	3.2
R&D level of transference	2.9	2.6	2.3	2.9	2.7	2.9	2.5	2.1	2.5	2.4	2.1	2.6	2.3	2.3	2.5	3.2	3.2
Professional and commercial infrastructure access	2.9	3.0	3.3	3.4	3.3	3.2	3.1	2.9	3.4	2.9	3.2	3.4	2.8	2.9	2.9	3.2	3.5
Internal market dynamics	3.8	3.6	3.9	3.6	3.6	3.4	3.7	3.1	3.8	3.8	3.6	3.7	3.6	3.7	3.5	3.4	3.5
Internal market burdens	2.7	2.9	2.8	2.8	2.8	2.7	2.5	2.5	2.9	2.5	2.4	2.8	2.5	2.4	2.7	3.0	3.4
Physical infrastructures and services access	3.2	3.5	3.5	4.2	4.1	4.2	3.3	3.1	3.7	3.8	3.7	4.1	4.1	3.8	3.6	4.5	4.5
Cultural, social norms and society support	3.4	3.3	3.3	3.5	3.5	3.1	3.4	3.1	3.6	3.4	2.9	3.0	3.2	3.1	3.1	3.2	3.2

\*2015 data for Singapore are not available

Most negative conditions in 2015 with a rate below 2.5 are prevalent in three of the five countries: Philippines, Thailand and Vietnam with "government programs" marked negative in all three of them (Table 4.5). In the Philippines, all conditions related to government, be it policies, taxes, bureaucracy or programs, are considered to

be not supporting, whereas the experts rate primary and secondary education as R&D transfer as insufficient and negative towards entrepreneurship. In addition, Vietnam has obstacles in the financial environment which hinders entrepreneurship.

Table 4.5: GEM Entrepreneurial	framework condi	tions rated positiv	ve >3.5 (green) and	l negative (red), p	er country, 2015
	Indonesia	Malaysia	Philippines	Thailand	Vietnam
Financial environment related with entrepreneurship					
Government concrete policies, priority and support					
Government policies bureaucracy, taxes					
Government programs					
Entrepreneurial level of education at Primary and Secondary					
Entrepreneurial level of education (vocational, professional, college and university)					
R&D level of transference					
Professional and commercial infrastructure access					
Internal market dynamics					
Internal market burdens					
Physical infrastructures and services access					
Cultural, social norms and society support					

# 4.3 Key constraints to entrepreneurial activity

Besides their answers to the closed questionnaire, the experts were asked to identify and comment on the three most pressing constraining and fostering elements for entrepreneurship in their respective countries. The average constraints were assessed without Singapore, since data for 2015 were not available. In 2013, Singapore with its city-state status and limited in-country market was a complete outlier in the region, perceiving no

constraints in corruption, economic climate, labor costs and information, which was prevalent for other countries. The main constraints 2013 in Singapore were political, institutional and social context (61.7%), cultural and social norms (50.0%) and work force features (35.3%).

Figure 4.6 displays the five most pressing constraints in the five ASEAN countries. The top four constraints for entrepreneurship in 2015 remained the same as in 2013 with an increasing rate for entrepreneurial capacity. Rank 5 switched from education and training to cultural and social norms, which were increasingly considered an issue.





Not all countries perceive the same five constraints as their top priority. Broken down by country (Table 4.7), government policies lead before finance in the Philippines, and in Vietnam, some top pressing constraints are also the political, institutional and social context, the economic climate and corruption.

		Table 4.7: To	p five cor	ntraints for entr	epreneur	ship by country,	2015		
Indones	ia	Malaysi	а	Philippin	es	Thailan	d	Vietnan	n
finance	67.6%	finance	50.0%	government policies	77.8%	finance	71.0%	political, institutional and social context	44.4%
government policies	51.4%	government policies	26.9%	finance	38.9%	capacity for entre- preneurship	35.5%	government policies	38.9%
internal market openness	21.6%	capacity for entre- preneurship	34.6%	cultural and social norms	30.6%	government policies	32.3%	capacity for entre- preneurship	30.6%
cultural and social norms	21.6%	internal market openness	26.9%	corruption	22.2%	internal market openness	19.4%	economic climate	30.6%
capacity for entre- preneurship	21.6%	education & training	23.1%	physical infra- structure	22.2%	information	19.4%	corruption	30.6%

Especially women face constraints that limit their opportunities to establish, manage and grow an enterprise mainly in areas of policy development, coordination and implementation; access to finance and credit; capacity development; and social and cultural norms. Seed funding for the mainly very small start-ups in ASEAN is less available for women than for men (ADB, 2014). Even though micro-finance to women entrepreneurs has proven to be successful in terms of re-payments and enhancing women, options are still limited. Often legal, regulatory and social barriers which restrict women's ability to own assets, enter into contracts and obtain credit. Within support schemes that are not gender-responsive, women entrepreneurs compete with male counterparts who have greater collateral and credit history (UNESCAP, 2013).

### 4.3.1 Financial Support

Access to finance is one of the most pressing factors in all ten ASEAN countries (Schwab & Sala-i-Martin, 2014) and is an important resource for every enterprise, especially for start-ups and for growing firms.

In the GEM survey, half of the experts or more perceive financial pressures above average in Thailand (71%), Indonesia (67.6%) and Malaysia (50%), whereas financial constraints in the Philippines (38.9%) and especially in

Vietnam (19.4%) are considered as below average. In the Philippines and in Vietnam, financial constraints declined from 2013 to 2015 (Figure 4.7) and increased slightly for Indonesia and Thailand. Between 2013 and 2014, both Singapore and Malaysia see a step increase in financial constraints, settling on a lower level in 2015 for Malaysia, yet still 100 % above the level of 2013. According to the World Economic Forum (WEF), finance is also considered to be specifically important for Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia and Lao PDR (Schwab & Sala-i-Martin, 2014).



Especially in Thailand and Vietnam, funding by venture capitalists, business angels or through IPOs seems to be under-developed (Table 4.8). Lowest ratings are found in Vietnam, even though financial constraints are not

among the first five constraints. Apparently, the financial framework is indeed on a lower development level, yet other constraints are hindering more.

Table 4.8: Expert	ratings	on finan	cing for	new and	l growin	g firms, i	by count	ry, 2013	to 2015	(five po	int scale	)
	Mala	aysia	Indo	nesia	Philip	pines	Thai	land	Viet	nam	Singa	ipore
	2015	2013	2015	2013	2015	2013	2015	2013	2015	2013	2015	2013
equity funding	3.6	3.6	2.8	2.9	3	3.3	2.4	2.9	2.1	2.6	n.a.	3.8
debt funding	3.5	3.4	3.2	3.4	3.2	3.4	2.8	3.3	2.6	2.7	n.a.	3.2
Government subsidies	3.6	3.5	2.9	3.0	2.6	3.1	2.3	2.4	1.6	1.9	n.a.	4.3
funding from private individuals (other than founders)	3.5	2.8	2.9	3.1	3.8	3.5	3.3	3.0	3	2.6	n.a.	3.4
venture capitalist funding	3.4	3.1	2.9	3.2	3.3	3.1	2.4	3.1	2	2.2	n.a.	3.3
funding through initial public offerings (IPOs)	3.4	3.4	2.7	2.9	3.1	3.0	3.1	3.9	1.9	2.3	n.a.	3.1
professional business angels	3.5	n.a.	2.7	n.a.	3.2	n.a.	2.6	n.a.	1.8	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
crowdfunding (private lenders)	3.1	n.a.	3.3	n.a.	3.4	n.a.	2.1	n.a.	2.1	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.



In Malaysia, where "access to finance" is one of six focus areas in its SME Master Plan 2012-2020, the contribution of SMEs to GDP increased from 29% in 2005 to 33% in 2013 and the SME sector itself was growing faster with 6.3% than the economy (4.7%) because of better productivity gains. The plan is to offer more diversified finance options outside the traditional banking for SMEs, including more venture capital and angel investments, especially for early-stage businesses. Despite a lot of efforts and certain results, financial constraints for entrepreneurship are still the biggest obstacle in Malaysia and entrepreneurship rates are lower than in other ASEAN countries. The experts' assessment named the lack of vibrant funding sources and of financial assistance, especially for start-ups, where banks do not provide the necessary credit loans for young people. The access to finance itself is not easy; entrepreneurs lack capital and also incubator facilities are still rare in Malaysia.

Thailand, with the highest level of perceived constraints in the financial environment for entrepreneurship of 71%, funding in general, sources of funding and access to it are repeated issues. In addition, lacks of flexible financial products which are a good fit the needs combined with high costs to access funding channels hinder Thai entrepreneurs. Investments that are accessible are only for small-scale investments with little support from banks, whereas large-scale project funding is not available.

On the opposite side is Vietnam where –on the one hand the financial environment related to entrepreneurship is rated clearly below average and lowest in the ASEAN region and –on the other hand this financial environment is not perceived as one of the main five constraints. Constraints were seen for enterprises which lack capital and have problems to obtain bank loans because of already existent "bad debts". In addition, banks are tightening their loan conditions, so overall capital for business development is limited. Conditions for start-up businesses to approach sources of capital and related services are limited.

### 4.3.2 Government policies

Government policies in general are an important factor to enhance entrepreneurial activities. One role of government agencies is to increase the ease of doing business and to reduce bureaucratic burdens. It is not the task of governments to run businesses, but they are part of the ecosystem influencers who can easily hinder or not support entrepreneurial activities by having the wrong policies in place. In general, existing government policies in ASEAN are considered to be not sufficiently implemented in practice. On Average 45.4% of the experts see them as a major constraining factor for entrepreneurs in 2015.

Government policies became the top constraint for the Philippines in the last three years, whereas it became less important for other countries in the region, because new obstacles seemed to have opened up (Figure 4.8). The decline in importance as a constraint for Malaysia results from the new No.2 constraint "Capacity for entrepreneurship" with 34.6% which was not prevalent in 2013 (0%). Similarly, Vietnam's drop in this constraint happened because increasingly political, institutional and social context (44.4%) play a role as an obstacle for entrepreneurs, not being mentioned in 2013 (0%). For Thailand, there is a small but steady increase, yet government policies remain No. 3 constraint as in 2013. Entrepreneurs in Singapore face slightly less constraints from government policies. Here other factors like the political, institutional and social context, work force features and cultural and social norms prevail. The World Economic Forum ranks lack of adequate government policies and inefficient government bureaucracy as one of the most problematic factors for doing business in Cambodia and Myanmar, Brunei Darussalam and Lao PDR (WorldBank, 2014).

### Figure 4.8: Constraints from government policies for ASEAN-6 countries, 2013 - 2015



Figure 4.9 shows that the average experts' ratings on the different sub-topics deliver below average values The fact that governments have made support for new and growing firms a high priority for policies at the national government level is mirrored in the results, yet receives only

average rates. Certainly, theory and practice are two different aspects and entrepreneurs complain that the policies don't fit to the needs, especially of small businesses.

### Figure 4.9: Average expert ratings on government policies for new and growing firms across ASEAN-5 countries, 2015



In Thailand, the experts see problems in the alignment of policy forming by the government. An example is the promotion of organic products via policies versus turning the same area into an industrial area by other policies at the same time. These contradicting policies or "to try to please everybody" cannot be successful in the long run. In addition, government policies for SME support are implemented poorly and at high costs. The data is diverse and the government's information system not capable of handling it efficiently. In connection with government policies, corruption seems to be an issue as well. In Thailand, experts also miss adjustments in regulations for failed entrepreneurs to be able to restart or reborn their businesses as there are only poor options for a second chance for bankrupt entrepreneurs from a legal point of view.

In Malaysia, the constraints by government policies declined and are ranked third constraint in 2015 after capacity for entrepreneurship. Main obstacles in government policies were seen in the bureaucracy in government departments and in political inclination and cronyism. Tax incentives are mostly given to MSCstatus businesses in Malaysia. MSC Malaysia is Malaysia's national ICT initiative designed to attract world-class technology companies while grooming the local ICT industry and is fully supported by the Malaysian Government. Specific policies were a topic as well, such as national economic policies or the bumiputra policy, which was implemented in the 1970's, designed to favor bumiputras (a Malaysian term to describe the Malay race and other indigenous peoples of South East Asia, used particularly in Malaysia).

In Vietnam, experts perceive reduced constraints through government policies. Main problems were that laws and decrees are not coherent and many units are in charge of the same problem, thereby causing obstacles for business activities. Some procedures are redundant, even though the government has tried hard to enhance the processes. Many ministries have too many units providingpublicservices, competing with each other and with enterprises. Government officials do not encourage domestic enterprises or treat them equally compared to FDI enterprises. Since policies tend to change frequently, it is difficult for entrepreneurs to stay up to date. In addition, laws and related legal documents are inconsistent, instable and unpredictable as external forces.

### 4.3.3 Capacity for entrepreneurship

Capacity for entrepreneurship replaced education and training on rank 3 of constraints for entrepreneurship. Certainly, a lack of capacity for entrepreneurship also

includes education, specifically entrepreneurship education. This is certainly even more important for women entrepreneurs as depicted in Chapter 3. Women entrepreneurs lack behind in their educational attainment compared to male entrepreneurs. Besides ensuring equal access to education for women, inclusion, equity and more investments in technical and vocational training as for higher education for women is necessary to close gender gaps in secondary or higher education.

Regarding capacity development and time, women entrepreneurs have less access to opportunities to pursue higher education, specialized training and job experience than men entrepreneurs. Capacity development needs among women entrepreneurs vary significantly, with differences in education levels, skills and enterprises. As displayed in Chapter 3, women entrepreneurs are less able to access capacity development opportunities because they are constrained by domestic responsibilities. They are also less likely to know other entrepreneurs who could provide lacking skills and knowledge as well as capacity enhancement opportunities. The inequitable division of domestic responsibilities between men and women restricts women entrepreneurs' ability to allocate time for capacity development (UNESCAP, 2013).

Supported by many organizations, amongst others ADB, UN Women, UNESCAP, WOCAN, many projects and programs have helped to narrow gender gaps in education. Besides building schools and training female teachers (ADB, 2011), new directions are pursued to support school-to-work transition by delivering technical and vocational education and training to female students with the goal, that they will enter male-dominated industries. In Indonesia, 48,000 girls received technical

and vocational training in computer science, business, and tourism and hospitality programs with the result that not only 41% of the students received employment, but also 12% started their own business with a better educational background, namely a better capacity for entrepreneurship (ADB, 2012).

Constraints from capacity for entrepreneurship increased in most surveyed ASEAN countries since 2013. For Singaporeans, this constraint vanished from the sight and for the Philippines, capacity for entrepreneurship took a sharp decline and lost its obstacle status from 25.7% in 2013 to 2.8% in 2015 (Figure 4.10). In Thailand, capacity for entrepreneurship declined from 2013 to 2014 rapidly, then increasing again in 2015, yet not to the old level. All other countries experienced an increase within the three years, most prevalent in Malaysia, where this specific topic evolved in 2014 with 31% and increased further in 2015 to 34.6%



Capacity for entrepreneurship is considered as a combination of attitudes and aspirations and a set of skills and capabilities, such as management capacities for entrepreneurship. Experts in Malaysia complain about the lack of an entrepreneurial culture in their country, but also with reference to the individual persons, a lack of

entrepreneurial spirit, which is confirmed by the low start-up rates, the willingness to take risk and the general lack of a business attitude in individuals. Thinking out of the box is not encouraged, starting at school level, a lack of creativity and innovation is inherent. Similarly, individuals in Vietnam lack creativity and independence, general business knowledge, and technological capacities. Entrepreneurs need to practice critical thinking with an economical mindset. In Thailand, experts see a lack of expert knowledge for the entrepreneur's specific business field. Networking and connections are under-developed as is the "dare to do" mindset. In Indonesia, idea generation processes and the presentation skills of these ideas to relevant parties in order to get their support is missing. The culture of networking is fading away with the result that mutual cooperations are declining. The existing concentration with an "instant mindset" hinders creative future-oriented planning.

# 4.4 Key recommendations from the national experts

Stimulating entrepreneurship and then supporting it appropriately, is an important focus of the national experts' survey by not only identifying key weaknesses in the economic and entrepreneurial ecosystem, but also providing practical recommendations for leverage, to beused for informed policy decisions. Following the most prevalent three constraining factors "financial support", "government policies" and "capacity for entrepreneurship", it is natural that recommendations from the NES survey also revolved around those issues. It could therefore be implied that the most prevalent constraining factor "financial support" would receive the most recommendations from the NES experts. On average, most recommendations were made for government policies, financial support and government programs (Figure 4.11). Core areas of recommendations vary by country, due to the country-specific differing constraints. Top recommendation No. 5, the political. Institutional and social context for example is mainly driven by Vietnam, where 64% of the recommendations center on this topic and Thailand (16%). For all other surveyed ASEAN countries, this issue is not relevant. The key recommendations of the experts are summarized below.

### Figure 4.11: CExperts' recommendations for ASEAN-5 countries, 2015



### Government policies and government programs

Policy recommendations for ASEAN member countries that are already in place are numerous, yet most of them do not focus on entrepreneurs and on women entrepreneurs in specific. Recommendations also included policies to erase corruption, the problems of counterfeiting and piracy as well as commercial fraud.

- The governments should set up a seed capital system and improve or establish an investment support system.
- Policies should have mechanisms to encourage and promote enterprises (who for example have an agricultural production) to create a value chain and increase added value for their products, so they can compete effectively also on international markets
- Delegate authority to units in order to implement business-related activities according to existing laws
- Legislate bankruptcy laws to enable failed entrepreneurs to have a second chance (such as credit bureau bankruptcy guarantee law); create a new law that is more flexible for failed entrepreneurs to restart.
- Establish a one-stop SME service agency that cooperates any SME's stakeholders under Board of Investment or Ministry of Commerce.
- Attitudes and behavior of personnel at government agencies towards enterprises should improve.
- Develop an e-government in the right size and quality, also to combat corruption.
- Ensure gender sensitive support and push men and women towards nontraditional sectors.

- Government support to help in accessing business opportunities
- Develop programs for businesses in growth phase and beyond start-up phase.
- Change in governments' mindsets from managing enterprises to supporting them.
- Increase support to enterprises to adopt new products / technologies via incentives and regulations.
- Make entrepreneurship a MUST in the national culture.

### **Financial support**

One of the most impacting components of the AEC on entrepreneurs is the free flow of services which includes the liberalization of the financial services sector. This implies fewer restrictions on banks and financial institutions and increases the influence of the free market on financial services. Among others, this leads to interest rates that are determined by the market and to more privatization of financial services. Besides the free flow of services, the financial sector will also be influenced through free flow of investments within the AEC. The free flow of investment into the region will stem particularly from within ASEAN, but also from external sources.

Recommendations included

- Implement a banks' and funds' lending reform.
- Develop the capital market to support both new and established businesses.
- Establish an external financial support system from both governments and investors, for example through competitions.
- Diversification of funding sources, ease bank loans and access to funding sources.

69

- Provide bank loans at special rates to high-growth oriented potential new entrepreneurs and funding for technology enterprises.
- Provide affordable and flexible financial products, including insurance, to manage risk.
- Match grants for start-ups in the 1st to 3rd year of incorporation.

## Education & training and capacity for entrepreneurship

One common denominator in the recommendations of the experts clusters around the underdeveloped primaryandsecondaryeducationwhereentrepreneurship is concerned in most of the ASEAN countries. Foundations for an entrepreneurship training has to start early in life with basic education in schools and requires adjustments of school curricula.

Regarding women entrepreneurs specifically, the 10,000 Women program showed that training and education will "positively affect emerging economies by increasing revenues and creating jobs, expanding women's contributions to their community and informing their leadership styles" (Brush, et al., 2014). Policies therefore should target the improvement of generalized skills because women entrepreneurs would profit across many sectors. Results would not only improve the educational level of women, but open doors to the larger market, enabling women to make use of new opportunities from AEC, sell across borders without leaving their local place, reaching new customers despite limited agility due to home-based production. Other recommendations included:

- Capacity building development for new and for existing SMEs.
- Develop entrepreneurs' relevant expert skill sets.
- Foster creativity and innovative thinking and business innovations (both in technology and in management) which will result in improved competitiveness of the firms.
- Support in capacity-building could come through free entrepreneurial courses by universities or government agencies.
- Entrepreneurship education in analytical skills in order to avoid emotional decisions and replace them by a rational decision making process.
- Teach team based working skills.
- Promote the spirit of lawfulness in entrepreneurs.

In conclusion, the national expert survey identifies key constraints in the entrepreneurial ecosystem of a country or a region and provides policy makers, educators and businesses, for example banks where funding is concerned, with the relevant background to make informed decisions on further recommendations and policies. It is up to the entrepreneur to do the most out of a given environment, but it is up to a wide range of stakeholders to create an entrepreneurial ecosystem, from which entrepreneurs can take off smoothly and can concentrate on their strengths, namely to be successful and sustainable in their enterprises.



Ideas lead to startups which lead to small businessess thus creating an entrepreneurial pipeline. As such it is imperative that ideas and start ups have a robustness that will stand up to the rigours of inevitable competitive environment that is ASEAN. This research study affords a regional dimension to entrepreneurship and presents a view of both opportunities and challenges for ASEAN economies.

The territorial context does play an important role for ASEAN countries and does account for why some countries have a higher entrepreneurial rate than others. Startups and firm concentration does create larger markets and attracts specialists labour not easily available elsewhere. The availability of natural resources will also play a role in this as apparent across ASEAN's nation's trade zones. These give rise to clusters that significantly contribute to economic growth. However the sustainability of such clusters are not certain. Within ASEAN, as an example, shoe manufacturing has moved from Malaysia to Indonesia to Vietnam and then onto Bangladesh within a span of five to eight years as multinationals seek out cost efficiencies. This creates economic shocks to each country not to mention social costs resulting from job losses and firms downsizing. Thus a majority of ASEAN economies have embarked on R & D initiatives including research parks in affiliation with corporations and universities or even public research facilities like SIRIM (a public industrial research and technology organisation) of Malaysia. However successful clusters are not easily replicable and some form as a result of historically 'accidental' reasons. Additionally polices effectiveness too cannot be easily replicated as the context, timings and cultural makeups are never the same.

## Recommended Policy Interventions for Startups and Beyond

### Role of government in financing startups

The key role will be for government to mitigate the risk and cost to private institutions for startup financing. By doing so they will directly encourage its development. Continued support will be construed as 'interference' and discourage private engagements for such findings. However where projects are large and risky governments role becomes crucial to incentivising risky capital.

### *Obstacles to providing bank credit for startups*

Necessarily banks are only able to assess new and existing businesses using projection of cash flows, collateral and track records. This would be possible for SME's that have been around or started for some time. However startups and nascent businesses will be handicapped. Thus credit risk assessment methods will need to be revised to support entrepreneurial endeavours. These may be addressed using loan guarantee schemes and even specific banks (e.g. SME bank in Malaysia). Such guarantee schemes work in different ways including where a percentage of the sum is guaranteed by government thus reducing the risk of financial institutions. There could be criteria's attached based on each ASEAN nations needs e.g. will there be wider benefits i.e. job creation from such startups or new enterprises, or does the quality of the potential project justify the outlay. Overtime it is likely that such financial institutions will increase and improve their expertise which will result in better assessments and will grow their lending using their own resources.
Additionally startups will require credit decisions to be made speedily given the nature of opportunities for innovation led startups.

The role of taxation is also crucial as large businesses are better placed to undertake such burdens as opposed to new businesses. The tax system is actually a costeffective and efficient way to support key sectors that have extended positive impact for economies. It serves as an incentive and may also attract startups or small business from neighbouring ASEAN countries.

#### Role of the private sector

The private sector should attract, incentivise and retain talent for key industries that are strategically important for the economy, thus emphasizing Entrepreneurial Employees Activity (EEA).

#### Figure 5: Entrepreneurial Employee Activity (EEA), By Phase of Economic Development 10% Percentage of employed adult 8% population (18-64 years) 6% 4% 2% 0% Philippines: Peru Algeria China Uruguay Nigeria Iran Malaysia South Africa Poland Korea Botswana Vietnam Puerto Rico Chile ithuania United Kingdom Thailand Ecuador Bosnia Slovenia Slovakia Somania Finland Hungar -2% Factor-driven Efficiency-driven economies Innovationeconomies driven economies

The challenge would be to recalibrate each countries emphasis and make the entrepreneurial employee activity (EEA) equally important. Entrepreneurial Employee Activity or EEA is defined by the GEM EEA Report 2013 as 'employees developing new activities for their main employer, such as developing or launching new goods or services, or setting up a new business unit, a new establishment or subsidiary. The scope adopted is therefore broader than new organization creation; however it excludes employee initiatives that mainly aim at optimizing internal work processes'.

This employee working within an organisation could be provided the same incentives as given to new start-ups. However it will be for innovation efforts or spin off organisation for their employers. This approach has the added benefit of the EEA having a mentor in addition to other subsidiary resources for the new spin off venture. New monitoring mechanisms may be put in place that ensures that both the employer and employee benefits. The employee benefitting is an important aspect as they are the source of ideas and innovation and should be the ones working the project.

#### Innovative and High Growth Startups

"Technological progress is not translated into economic benefits and jobs by governments, countries, or sectors, but by innovative firms. Innovative firms are not superior algorithms to maximise production functions, but efficient learning organisations that seize technological and market opportunities creatively in order to expand production frontiers. The single most important finding of recent economic research might be that new evidence from longitudinal microeconomic data reveals that firms that innovate more consistently and rapidly employ more workers, demand higher skills, pay higher wages and offer more stable prospects for their workforce." OECD (1996), Technology, Productivity and Job Creation, Paris. The above OECD quote clearly highlights what holds true today where innovative startups are concerned. These startups face challenges that need to be addresses by governments within ASEAN. It is generally the case that such startups are involved in technological innovation. In any case the basic entrepreneurial framework conditions discussed earlier will apply albeit with special emphasis on technology diffusion.

High growth startups result in high productivity and crucially job creation for ASEAN economies. Part of this is due fast paced products introduction or improvements. Generally for such fast growing startups the human resources, R&D and innovation aspects will require support and relevant training to be in place. Skilled manpower will need to be sourced and managed within such high knowledge sectors.

#### Main barriers to Innovative and High Growth startups

#### (IHGS) and policy implications

• The risk of knowledge investments is too high. The ASEAN entrepreneur sees the rewards as uncertain. This is coupled with their uphill challenge to get financing. It is the case where fast growing equals cutting edge which equals high R & D investments which requires large upfront skills and monetary

investments. Some governments of ASEAN countries have created agencies that support IHGS and assist them in overcoming those challenges e.g. MSC and MTDC of Malaysia.

- IHGS generally view government regulations as major hurdles. Taxes, bureaucracy and labour law policies (barriers to importing skilled labour) are major challenges. Here again, some ASEAN governments have created special lowered tax considerations, skilled labour mobility support and specific business zones that are designed to nurture IHGSs.
- The above challenges also include the challenges recruiting qualified and skilled manpower for specific knowledge-led industries. National considerations by ASEAN members to protect local industries tend to result in regulations and policies that stifle IHGS opportunities and potential.
- Conversely government involvement is critically required. Government promotion comes about in many ways i.e. governments can monitor innovation performances, governments can evaluate innovation capacity and screens IHGS needs, they can provide benchmarking or diagnostic services, they can encourage and coordinates private initiatives and also facilitate access to private service providers.
- Nationality considerations run high in ASEAN but the advent of the Asean Economic Community (AEC) in 2015 will likely see greater economic integration. This will be critical for the promotion of IHGS within ASEAN. The volatility of exchange rates, technical specification variations, bureaucracy and inter-nation discriminatory practices for tenders and contracts all represent barriers for IHGSs. Agencies may be in place to support such companies (e.g. MATRADE in Malaysia provides access to international markets) but without the proper execution of AEC type regional imperatives it will remain a major challenge.

The above barriers when managed will result in an environment that supports not only IHGSs in particular but the broader knowledge investment industry. It will result critical spill overs of networking, skill building and access and exposure to new technologies; which will have positive extended consequences.

#### Women-owned Startups

Women-owned startups are growing at a faster rate within ASEAN relative to the economy as a whole. Their potential is well highlighted in government led conferences and especially the fact that women owned startups and new businesses can create jobs and wealth creation through innovation. However relevant statistics and data to measure this important phenomenon is not available in all countries within ASEAN.

Certainly, challenges are different for every single country in ASEAN, yetsome common denominators should be addressed if women entrepreneurship is further fostered:

• Access to finance: one of the three big reasons why women exit their businesses is because of financing problems. With their low-key and smallscale enterprises and -in some countries- additional legal and social barriers women are at disadvantage obtaining finance when compared to male entrepreneurs.

- Information and education: fear of failure is considerably higher for women and the educational level of female entrepreneurs is still lower than of men. Internationalization or the lack of it also stem from lack of information about possibilities.
- Networks: despite an increase in the know startup entrepreneur rate in the last three years, 15% fewer women entrepreneurs than men know other start-up entrepreneurs, increasing but at a slower slope than for men. In combination with a lack of information and education, they are more reliable on family and friends but would benefit from entrepreneurial advice and from exchange with like-minded persons. Lower capability perception and higher fear of failure rates could maybe be compensated with access to entrepreneurial networks.

#### Policy implications and recommendations

The data does allow us to outline recommendations for actions that governments can take along with business and financial institutions i.e.

- Increase and deepen studies on women entrepreneurship to allow for effective policy making. The numbers and growth and failure rates of women-owned startups and small businesses need to be measured.
- Women need to be trained and counselled and best financing practices proffered to them. This may involve highlighting the role of equity or quasi-equity formation via tax-driven mechanisms, women's loan funds or other micro financing programmes.
- Lending institutions should upgrade their lending criteria taking into consideration intellectual and business capital or experiences as factors in credit assessment of women run startups or new businesses.
- ASEAN's women entrepreneurs' associations should forge regional networks and supported to form partnerships along with corporations and governments.
- In order to improve such networking the use of technology should be promoted for women in business to enhance their competitiveness. Thus centres should be setup that provide such training which eventually can also support independent home learning for women.

#### An ASEAN entrepreneurial ecosystem

An entrepreneurial ecosystem is at worst a vague and indeterminate notion and at best a dynamic and stirring concoction of key business drivers comprising bankers, investors, educators, incubators and other relevant clusters. Funding is required but established conservative financial institutions tend only to lend money subject to their comfort levels when taking risks (i.e. often demanding high collaterals). Access to funding is also subject to the private equity and venture capital industry sizes within the respective countries. It is often the case that in developing economies, funders shy away from mezzanine and start-up funding and prefer to focus on bigger and safer projects, e.g. restructurings and mergers. There is no one formula that can provide the outcomes desired by diverse economies in ASEAN. This emphasises the importance of GEM's research study, in that it allows for country-specific insights whilst also facilitating regional and even global comparisons. This information makes it possible to identify the 'must-haves' for ASEAN's economies that can contribute to generating an entrepreneurially-enabled economy. The following are key focus areas:

- I. Governmental initiatives and projects with clear entrepreneurial criteria (in line with the entrepreneurial framework conditions discussed in Chapter 4). In this regard, the training of government agencies in entrepreneurship, business and economics as well as reforming administrative procedures could help build the professional ability of administrative officers to better understand and serve entrepreneurs.
- II. An openness to both new and incremental innovations, even within traditional industries. This will encourage the efficient and productive growth of agricultural, manufacturing and mining activities, an important staple for some ASEAN economies.
- III. Talent-driven initiatives that attract and keep the right talents both for start-ups and innovation integrators e.g. via tax incentives and equity contracts. This is currently a major challenge for ASEAN, as a great deal of talent or human capital is lost to highly developed countries.
- IV. Meaningful media communication that permeates all tiers of relevant stakeholders, highlighting local ASEAN entrepreneurship success stories.
- V. An entrepreneurship educational imperative (along with higher enrolment rates) that starts

from the primary phase and is emphasised throughout the learning continuum, including academic and vocational schools, both rural and urban. Singapore and Malaysia already allocate the highest public expenditure to within the region to education and patent applications (OECD, 2010c).

- VI. An understanding of the imperatives and extended consequences of entrepreneurship for an economy over the mid to long term i.e. an emphasis on R&D, high growth and sustainability for new start-ups.
- VII. Good IT infrastructure coupled with inclusiveness for all the players within an economy.
- VIII. Working and upskilling spaces that counteract uncertainty and high costs, e.g. accelerators, incubators and coaching agencies.
- IX. Individually tailored and holistic development programmes for SME vendors of select industries that are developed and funded by corporate players e.g. CIMB Group's Bumiputera Vendor Development Programme. Programmes that include KPI setting, measurement and interventions for at least 30 months.
- X. Engaging localised entrepreneurial capacity building across modalities within individual ASEAN economies e.g. the International Development Research Centre's (IDRC) ongoing regional entrepreneurship research funding that supports projects within ASEAN.

These initiatives for policymakers are by no means comprehensive but they will provide a solid foundation to facilitate and nurture the entrepreneurial enterprises that can provide employment and economic growth for ASEAN nations. It may be illustrated as follows;



#### AN ASEAN ENTREPRENEURIAL ECOSYSTEM

Source: ASEAN REPORT 2014/2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> OECD (2010c), Southeast Asian Economic Outlook, OECD, Paris

## REFERENCES

ADB. (2012). Indonesia Vocational Edication Strengthening Project. Mid-term Review Report. Retrieved from Manila: http://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/institutional-document/34149/files/midterm-review-strategy-2020-r-paper. pdf

ADB. (2014). Asia SME Finance Monitor 2013 Retrieved from Manila: http://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/41742/asia-sme-finance-monitor-2013.pdf

- Amorós, J. E., & Bosma, N. (2014). Global entrepreneurship monitor 2013 global report. Recovered on February, 28, 2014.
  ASEAN. (2014). ASEAN and Japan young entrepreneurs to strengthen trade and economic ties [Press release].
  Retrieved from http://www.asean.org/news/asean-secretariat-news/item/asean-and-japan-young-entrepreneurs-to-strengthen-trade-and-economic-ties
- Bekouche, Y., Hausmann, R., Tyson, L., & Zahidi, S. (2015). Gender Gap Report 2014.
- Brush, C. G., Balachandra, L., Davis, A. & Greene, P.G. . (2014). Investing in the power of women:
- Progress report on the Goldman Sachs 10,000 Women initiative. Babson.
- Chen, M. A. (2001). Women and informality: A global picture, the global movement. Sais Review, 21(1), 71-82.
  ILO International Labour Department & ADB Asian Development BankADB. (2011). Gender Equality andWomen's Empowerment Operational Plan, 2013–2020: Moving the Agenda Forward in Asia and the Pacific. Retrieved from
  - Manila: http://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/institutional-document/33881/files/gender-operational-plan. pdf
- Kelley, D., Brush, C., Greene, P., Herrington, M., Ali, A., & Kew, P. (2015). GEM 2014 Special Report: Women's Entrepreneurship. Retrieved from http://gemconsortium.org/report/49281
- Kelley, D., Brush, C., Greene, P., & Litovsky, Y. (2013). GEM 2012 Women's Report. Retrieved from http://www.gemconsortium.org/docs/2825/gem-2012-womens-report
- Kelley, D., Singer, S., & Herrington, M. (2016). GEM 2015/16 Global Report. Retrieved from GERA: http://gemconsortium.org/report/49480
- Koellinger, P. (2008). Why are some entrepreneurs more innovative than others? Small Business Economics, 31(1), 21-37.

Neimanis, A., & Tortisyn, A. (2003). NHDR Occasional Paper 2: Gender Thematic Guidance Note. Retrieved from http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/nhdr\_gender\_gn.pdf

Schwab, K., & Sala-i-Martin, X. (2015). World Economic Forum's Global Competitiveness Report, 2014-2015. Paper presented at the Retrived from: http://reports. weforum. org/global-competitiveness-report-2014-2015/. Switzerland: World Economic Forum.

Techakanont, K. (2014). Managing integration for better jobs and shared prosperity in the ASEAN Economic Community the case of Thailand's automotive sector.

UN. (1996). Report of the Fourth World Conference on Women, Beijing, 4-15 September 1995. Retrieved from http://beijing20.unwomen.org/~/media/Field%20Office%20Beijing%20Plus/Attachments/Beijing DeclarationAndPlatformForAction-en.pdf

UNESCAP. (2013). Enabling Entrepreneurship for Women's Economic Empowerment in Asia and the Pacific.

US-ASEAN Business Council (2016), Retrieved from: https://www.usasean.org/why-asean/asean-economy, accessed 3 August 2016

WorldBank. (2011). Lao PDR Investment Climate Assessment, includes Lao PDR Enterprise Survey. Retrieved from https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/2795/648000ESW0P1160over0ICA0Report02011. pdf?sequence=1

WorldBank. (2012). World Development Report on Gender Equality and Development. Retrieved from Washington DC: https://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTWDR2012/Resources/7778105-1299699968583/ 7786210-1315936222006/Complete-Report.pdf

WorldBank. (2016). Explore. Create. Share: Development Data. Retrieved from: http://databank.worldbank.org/data/home.aspx

WorldEconomicForum. (2016). The Global Gender Gap Report 2015. Retrieved from http://reports.weforum.org/global-gender-gap-report-2015/

# COUNTRY PFOFILES

KEY:

• "T" indicates a tie with another country in the ranking

 "n/a" indicates that the data is not available or cannot be found





Population: 42.0 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$540.2 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$12,873 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 40%~(2012)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 57/100; Rank: 121/189 World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 73/100; Rank: 157/189 World Economic Forum Global

**Competitiveness Rating:** 3.8/7; **Rank:** 106/140 **Economic Development Phase:** 

Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	45.9	28
Perceived capabilities	61.6	13
Fear of failure	25.8	11
Entrepreneurial intentions	29.1	15

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	17.7	13T
TEA 2014	14.4	n/a
TEA 2013	15.9	n/a
Established business ownership rate	9.5	18
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	2.4	27T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.7	33T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.8	13T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.8	49T

#### Entrepreneurship Impact

	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	18.8	32
Innovation	3.9	16T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	18.6	26

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	52.9	48
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	62.1	25









Population: 23.6 million (2014) GDP: \$1,444.2 billion (2014) GDP per capita: \$61,219 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 33% (2015)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 80/100; Rank: 13/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 96/100; Rank: 11/189 World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.1/7; Rank: 21/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	48.9	18
Perceived capabilities	48.2	31
Fear of failure	41.7	46
Entrepreneurial intentions	14.4	37

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	12.8	24T
TEA 2014	13.1	n/a
TEA 2013	n/a	n/a
Established business ownership rate	8.7	20
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	8.5	2

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	5.2	5

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.7	21T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	29.1	15
Innovation	4.0	15
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	25.3	15

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	70.1	21
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	56.4	36









Population: 277,821 (2010)

GDP: \$7,053.0 billion (2013)

GDP per capita: \$16,151 (2013)

SME contribution to GDP: n/a

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 57/100; Rank: 119/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 84/100; Rank: 100/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: n/a; Rank: n/a

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	55.0	11
Perceived capabilities	75.0	3
Fear of failure	14.7	1
Entrepreneurial intentions	21.6	25T

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	21.0	10T
TEA 2014	12.7	n/a
TEA 2013	21.7	n/a
Established business ownership rate	14.1	9
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	1.1	41T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	3.7	14T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.9	8T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	11.8	43
Innovation	2.9	30T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	10.6	37T

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	69.8	23T
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	69.6	19T









Population: 11.2 million (2014) GDP: \$534.7 billion (2014) GDP per capita: \$47,722 (2014) SME contribution to GDP: 62% (2014)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 73/100; Rank: 43/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 95/100; Rank: 20/189 World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.2/7; Rank: 19/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	40.3	36T
Perceived capabilities	31.9	54
Fear of failure	48.5	58
Entrepreneurial intentions	10.9	44T

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	6.2	51
TEA 2014	5.4	n/a
TEA 2013	4.9	n/a
Established business ownership rate	3.8	52
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	6.1	12

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.6	38T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.7	21T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.6	60

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	19.5	29
Innovation	2.5	36T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	27.5	13

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	54.5	46
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	54.2	38





BOTSWANA	

**Population:** 2.1 million (2014) **GDP:** \$15.8 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$7,505 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 20% (2012) World Bank Doing Business Rating: 65/100; Rank: 72/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 76/100; Rank: 143/189 World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.2/7; Rank: 71/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Factor-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	57.8	7
Perceived capabilities	74.1	4
Fear of failure	18.9	6
Entrepreneurial intentions	61.9	2

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	33.2	3
TEA 2014	32.8	n/a
TEA 2013	20.9	n/a
Established business ownership rate	4.6	47
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	1.6	35

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.4	46T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.8	13T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.8	49T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	31.7	9T
Innovation	6.7	4T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	10.6	37T

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	82.0	6
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	70.1	18









**Population:** 202.8 million (2014) **GDP:** \$2,353,0 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$11,604 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 27% (2014) World Bank Doing Business Rating: 58/100; Rank: 116/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 64/100; Rank: 174/189 World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.1/7; Rank: 75/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	42.4	31
Perceived capabilities	58.3	18
Fear of failure	44.7	52
Entrepreneurial intentions	24.4	21

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity TEA 2015	21.0	10T
TEA 2014	17.2	n/a
TEA 2013	17.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	18.9	4
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	1.0	43T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.1	50T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.9	8T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.7	56T

Entrepreneurship Impact			
	Value	Rank/60	
Job expectations (6+)	6.8	55	
Innovation	4.1	14	
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	5.9	45T	

# Societal Values About EntrepreneurshipValueRank/60High status to entrepreneurs80.19Entrepreneurship a good career choice77.73







**Population:** 7.2 million (2014) **GDP:** \$55.8 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$7,753 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 62% (2014) World Bank Doing Business Rating: 74/100; Rank: 38/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 91/100; Rank: 52/189 World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.3/7; Rank: 54/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	15.8	58
Perceived capabilities	35.2	53
Fear of failure	33.3	23
Entrepreneurial intentions	5.3	59

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	3.5	59
TEA 2014	n/a	n/a
TEA 2013	n/a	n/a
Established business ownership rate	5.4	39
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.4	55T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	0.9	55T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.7	21T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.1	ЗT

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	7.3	54
Innovation	0.3	59T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	8.7	41

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	71.5	20
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	57.5	34T









Population: 17.3 million (2014) GDP: \$28.0 billion (2014) GDP per capita: \$1,666 (2014) SME contribution to GDP: n/a World Bank Doing Business Rating: 51/100; Rank: 143/189 World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 87/100; Rank: 78/189 World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: n/a; Rank: n/a Economic Development Phase: Factor-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship			
	Value	Rank/60	
Perceived opportunities	58.1	6	
Perceived capabilities	78.0	2	
Fear of failure	17.9	5	
Entrepreneurial intentions	45.9	6	

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	29.8	5
TEA 2014	21.7	n/a
TEA 2013	n/a	n/a
Established business ownership rate	27.8	1
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.6	51T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.4	46T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.8	13T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	13.0	41
Innovation	3.5	23T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	0.3	60

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	83.4	4
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	73.8	8T





### CAMEROON





Population: 22.5 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$31.7 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$1,405 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 36% (2015)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 44/100; Rank: 172/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 77/100; Rank: 137/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 3.7/7; Rank: 114/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Factor-Driven

Value	Rank/60
60.7	4
73.1	5
23.9	8
33.1	13
	60.7 73.1 23.9

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	25.4	7
TEA 2014	37.4	n/a
TEA 2013	n/a	n/a
Established business ownership rate	12.8	12
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.7	48T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.3	48

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.9	8T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	13.3	40
Innovation	3.8	18T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	5.4	48T

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	64.8	35
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	61.1	28









Population: 35.5 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$1,788.7 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$50,398 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 27% (2014)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 80/100; Rank: 14/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 98/100; Rank: 3/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.3/7; Rank: 35/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	53.2	13
Perceived capabilities	50.5	25
Fear of failure	39.5	38T
Entrepreneurial intentions	11.6	42

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	14.7	17
TEA 2014	13.0	n/a
TEA 2013	12.2	n/a
Established business ownership rate	8.8	19
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	7.1	3

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	4,1	12

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.8	13T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.1	ЗT

Entrepreneurship Impact			
	Value	Rank/60	
Job expectations (6+)	24.2	21	
Innovation	5.3	9	
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	21	19	

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	n/a	n/a
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	n/a	n/a









Population: 17.8 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$258.0 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$14,477 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 20% (2013)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 71/100; Rank: 48/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 90/100; Rank: 62/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.6/7; Rank: 35/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	57.4	8
Perceived capabilities	65.7	9
Fear of failure	28.1	13
Entrepreneurial intentions	50.0	3

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	25.9	6
TEA 2014	26.8	n/a
TEA 2013	24.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	8.2	21
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	5.2	15

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	2.4	22

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.7	21T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.8	49T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	33.6	7
Innovation	14.1	1
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	18.7	25

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	64.9	34
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	69.6	19T











**Population:** 1 367.8 billion (2014) **GDP:** \$10,380.4 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$7,589 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 58% (2012)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 63/100; Rank: 84/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 77/100; Rank: 136/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.9/7; Rank: 28/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	31.7	47
Perceived capabilities	27.4	58T
Fear of failure	40.0	40
Entrepreneurial intentions	19.5	28

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	12.8	21T
TEA 2014	15.5	n/a
TEA 2013	14.0	n/a
Established business ownership rate	3.1	55
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	1.4	36T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.1	50T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.7	21T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.1	ЗT

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	35.0	5
Innovation	3.3	25T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	8.1	42

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	77.6	13
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	65.9	22





COLOMBIA

Population: 47.7 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$384.9 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$8,076 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 40% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

70/100; *Rank:* 54/189 World Bank Starting a Business *Rating:* 

86/100; **Rank:** 84/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.3/7; Rank: 61/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
Value	Rank/60	
58.3	5	
59.5	17	
33.2	21T	
48.2	4	
	58.3 59.5 33.2	

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	22.7	8
TEA 2014	18.6	n/a
TEA 2013	23.7	n/a
Established business ownership rate	5.2	41T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	2.3	29T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.7	33T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.7	21T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	54.3	1
Innovation	6.7	4T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	20.6	20

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	69.8	23T
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	72.3	13T









Population: 4.2 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$57.2 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$13,494 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 54% (2014) World Bank Doing Business Rating: 73/100; Rank: 40/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 86/100; Rank: 83/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.1/7; Rank: 77/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

#### Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship

	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	22.3	56
Perceived capabilities	47.5	33
Fear of failure	34.4	28
Entrepreneurial intentions	17.2	30

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	7.7	42
TEA 2014	8.0	n/a
TEA 2013	8.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	2.8	57
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	4.9	16

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.0	54

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.6	31T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	30.4	13
Innovation	1.3	53T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	22.5	18

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	42.3	54
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	61.5	27

#### Expert Ratings of the Entrepreneurial Eco-system (rank out of 62 recorded in brackets)



90







Population: 16.0 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$100.8 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$6,286 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 25% (2012) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

57/100; **Rank:** 117/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 69/100; Rank: 166/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.1/7; Rank: 76/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	52.7	14
Perceived capabilities	72.2	6
Fear of failure	28.6	14
Entrepreneurial intentions	46.3	5

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	33.6	2
TEA 2014	32.6	n/a
TEA 2013	36.0	n/a
Established business ownership rate	17.4	7
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.9	46T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.1	50T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	1.0	4T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	9.3	50
Innovation	9.3	3
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	5.9	45T

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	67.1	32
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	61.6	26









Population: 86.7 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$286.4 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$3,304 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 80% (2015)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 54/100; Rank: 131/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 88/100; Rank: 73/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 3.7/7; Rank: 116/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Value	Rank/60
41.6	27
41.5	46
29.5	16
36.8	11
	41.6 41.5 29.5

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	7.4	43
TEA 2014	n/a	n/a
TEA 2013	n/a	n/a
Established business ownership rate	2.9	56
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	1.3	38

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	0.8	59

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.3	59T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.7	56T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	25.7	19T
Innovation	1.6	47T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	2.4	58

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	79.6	11
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	73.6	10







Population: 1.3 million (2014)

GDP: \$26.0 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$19,671 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 76% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

79/100; **Rank:** 16/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 95/100; Rank: 15/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.7/7; Rank: 30/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	51.4	15T
Perceived capabilities	44.0	41T
Fear of failure	39.3	37
Entrepreneurial intentions	16.7	31T

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	13.1	22
TEA 2014	9.4	n/a
TEA 2013	13.1	n/a
Established business ownership rate	7.7	23T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	6.3	10T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	4.2	10T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.6	31T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	30.0	14
Innovation	5.2	10
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	25.9	14

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	62.6	40
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	53.4	40









**Population:** 5.5 million (2014) **GDP:** \$271.2 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$49,497 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 60% (2014)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 81/100; Rank: 10/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 93/100; Rank: 33/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.5/7; Rank: 8/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	48.6	21
Perceived capabilities	37.4	50
Fear of failure	32.6	20
Entrepreneurial intentions	10.9	44T

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	6.6	50
TEA 2014	5.6	n/a
TEA 2013	5.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	10.2	14
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	5.8	13

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	4.2	10T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.8	49T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	18.2	33
Innovation	1.3	53T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	31.4	8

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	84.9	2
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	33.2	53







Population: 81.1 million (2014) GDP: \$3,859.5 trillion (2014) GDP per capita: \$47,590 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 53% (2014)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 80/100; Rank: 15/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 83/100; Rank: 107/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.5/7; Rank: 4/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
Value	Rank/60	
38.3	40	
36.2	52	
42.3	48	
7.2	54	
	1.2	

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	4.7	57
TEA 2014	5.3	n/a
TEA 2013	5.0	n/a
Established business ownership rate	4.8	45T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	4.5	18

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	3.7	14T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	21.0	25T
Innovation	1.6	47T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	24.8	16

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	75.7	17
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	50.8	44T









**Population:** 11.10 million (2014) **GDP:** \$238.0 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$21,653 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 75% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

68/100; **Rank:** 60/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 91/100; Rank: 54/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.0/7; Rank: 81/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship	
---	--

	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	14.2	60
Perceived capabilities	46.8	34
Fear of failure	46.9	55
Entrepreneurial intentions	8.3	51

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	6.7	49
TEA 2014	7.9	n/a
TEA 2013	5.5	n/a
Established business ownership rate	13.1	11
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	1.0	43T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.5	42T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.8	13T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	4.3	57
Innovation	1.6	47T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	19.4	23

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	67.8	31
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	60.9	29T









Population: 15.9 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$60.4 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$3,807 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 40% (2012) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

63/100; **Rank:** 81/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 84/100; Rank: 101/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.1/7; Rank: 78/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	47.9	24
Perceived capabilities	60.0	15
Fear of failure	31.0	18
Entrepreneurial intentions	36.9	10

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	17.7	13T
TEA 2014	20.4	n/a
TEA 2013	12.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	8.1	22
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	1.2	39T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	0.9	55T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.6	31T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.7	56T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	11.9	42
Innovation	6.6	6
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	6.8	43T

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	79.8	10
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	95.6	1







Population: 9.9 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$137.1 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$13,881 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 54% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

73/100; **Rank:** 42/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 91/100; Rank: 55/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.2/7; Rank: 63/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship
---

	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	25.3	38
Perceived capabilities	38.7	40
Fear of failure	41.8	47
Entrepreneurial intentions	14.8	35

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	7.9	36T
TEA 2014	9.3	n/a
TEA 2013	9.7	n/a
Established business ownership rate	6.5	32T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	2.1	33

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	2.2	23

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.7	56T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	31.4	11T
Innovation	1.5	50
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	11.9	35

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	68.4	8
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	48.4	43









**Population:** 1,259.7 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$2,049.5 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$1,627 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 9% (2013) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

55/100; *Rank:* 130/189 World Bank Starting a Business *Rating:* 74/100; *Rank:* 155/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.3/7; Rank: 55/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Factor-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	37.8	41T
Perceived capabilities	37.8	49
Fear of failure	44.0	51
Entrepreneurial intentions	9.2	48

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	10.8	30T
TEA 2014	6.6	n/a
TEA 2013	9.9	n/a
Established business ownership rate	5.5	38
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.3	57T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.8	31T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.6	31T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.1	3T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	3.5	58
Innovation	5.5	7T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	1.3	59

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	46.6	53
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	39.3	50T







Population: 251.5 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$888.8 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$3,534 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 57%~(2013)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 58/100; Rank: 109/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 66/100; Rank: 173/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.5/7; Rank: 37/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship			
Value	Rank/60		
49.9	17		
65.3	10T		
39.5	38T		
27.5	18		
	49.9 65.3 39.5		

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	17.7	13T
TEA 2014	14.2	n/a
TEA 2013	25.5	n/a
Established business ownership rate	17.1	8
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.2	60

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.9	28T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	1.0	4T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	3.1	59
Innovation	3.1	29
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	4.3	51

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	81.4	7
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	74.4	6





## **IRAN, ISLAMIC REPUBLIC**

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	40.3	36T
Perceived capabilities	62.0	12
Fear of failure	38.1	33T
Entrepreneurial intentions	35.0	12

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	12.9	23
TEA 2014	16.0	n/a
TEA 2013	12.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	14.0	10
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	1.0	43T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.7	33T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	20.6	27
Innovation	1.6	47T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	13.5	34

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	82.3	5
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	56.3	37

#### Expert Ratings of the Entrepreneurial Eco-system (rank out of 62 recorded in brackets)





요네 안감에 안내 안내 안내 안내 안내 안내 안내 안내

Untrallation of the

Population: 78.0 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$404.1 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$5,183 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 30%~(2015)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 57/100; Rank: 118/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 86/100; Rank: 87/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.1/7; Rank: 74/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Factor-Driven







Population: 4.6 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$246.4 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$53,462 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 48% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

79/100; **Rank:** 17/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 94/100; Rank: 25/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.1/7; Rank: 24/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	39.4	54
Perceived capabilities	45.0	48
Fear of failure	40.9	44
Entrepreneurial intentions	14.6	36

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	9.3	41
TEA 2014	6.5	n/a
TEA 2013	9.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	5.6	37
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	6.6	33

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	2.0	27

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.4	54T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.2	1T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	33.0	8
Innovation	4.2	13
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	29.6	11

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	80.3	30
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	52.6	47





\$



Population: 8.2 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$303.8 billion (PP 2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$36,991 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 45%~(2012)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 71/100; Rank: 53/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 91/100; Rank: 56/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.0/7; Rank: 27/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	55.5	10
Perceived capabilities	41.6	45
Fear of failure	47.8	56T
Entrepreneurial intentions	21.6	25T

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	11.8	28
TEA 2014	n/a	n/a
TEA 2013	10.0	n/a
Established business ownership rate	3.9	51
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	6.5	6T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	3.3	17

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.6	31T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	23.6	22
Innovation	3.6	21T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	32.9	5

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	86.2	1
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	64.5	23









Population: 4.6 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$246.4 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$53,462 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 48% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

79/100; **Rank:** 17/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 94/100; Rank: 25/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.1/7; Rank: 24/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	39.4	54
Perceived capabilities	45.0	48
Fear of failure	40.9	44
Entrepreneurial intentions	14.6	36

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	9.3	41
TEA 2014	6.5	n/a
TEA 2013	9.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	5.6	37
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	6.6	33

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	2.0	27

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.4	54T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.2	1T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	33.0	8
Innovation	4.2	13
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	29.6	11

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	80.3	30
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	52.6	47









**Population:** 17.4 million (2014) **GDP:** \$212.3 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$12,184 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 26% (2013) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

73/100; **Rank:** 41/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 94/100; Rank: 21/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.5/7; Rank: 42/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Factor-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	48.7	20
Perceived capabilities	52.1	24
Fear of failure	75.4	60
Entrepreneurial intentions	17.5	29

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	11.0	29
TEA 2014	13.7	n/a
TEA 2013	n/a	n/a
Established business ownership rate	2.4	58
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.9	46T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	0.9	55T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.8	13T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	34.4	6
Innovation	2.0	42T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	9.7	39

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	83.9	3
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	76.9	4











Population: 60.0 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$2,148.0 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$35,823 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 67% (2013) World Bank Doing Business Rating: 72/100; Rank: 45/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 91/100; Rank: 50/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.5/7; Rank: 43/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	25.7	53
Perceived capabilities	30.5	56
Fear of failure	57.5	59
Entrepreneurial intentions	8.2	52T

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	4.9	56
TEA 2014	4.4	n/a
TEA 2013	3.4	n/a
Established business ownership rate	4.5	48
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	1.4	36T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.6	38T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.4	54T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.1	ЗT

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	5.0	56
Innovation	1.4	51T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	19.3	24

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	69.0	28
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	60.9	29T









**Population:** 17.4 million (2014) **GDP:** \$212.3 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$12,184 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 26%~(2013)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 73/100; Rank: 41/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 94/100; Rank: 21/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness *Rating:* 4.5/7; *Rank:* 42/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Factor-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	48.7	20
Perceived capabilities	52.1	24
Fear of failure	75.4	60
Entrepreneurial intentions	17.5	29

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity TEA 2015	11.0	29
TEA 2014	13.7	n/a
TEA 2013	n/a	n/a
Established business ownership rate	2.4	58
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.9	46T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	0.9	55T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.8	13T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	34.4	6
Innovation	2.0	42T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	9.7	39

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	83.9	3
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	76.9	4










Population: 50.4 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$1,416.9 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$28,101 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 50% (2014) World Bank Doing Business Rating: 84/100; Rank: 4/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 94/100; Rank: 23/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.0/7; Rank: 26/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	14.4	59
Perceived capabilities	27.4	58T
Fear of failure	38.1	33T
Entrepreneurial intentions	6.6	56

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	9.3	37
TEA 2014	n/a	n/a
TEA 2013	6.9	n/a
Established business ownership rate	7.0	28T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	2.4	27T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	2.6	21

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.7	21T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	15.6	39
Innovation	2.9	30T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	15.7	30

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	53.5	47
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	38.0	52







**Population:** 2.0 million (2014) **GDP:** \$32.0 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$15,729 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 69% (2014)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 78/100; Rank: 22/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 94/100; Rank: 27/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.5/7; Rank: 44/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

<b>Self-Perceptions</b>	About Entr	repreneurship
-------------------------	------------	---------------

	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	34.7	43
Perceived capabilities	49.1	28
Fear of failure	38.6	35
Entrepreneurial intentions	22.2	24

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	14.1	19
TEA 2014	n/a	n/a
TEA 2013	13.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	9.6	16T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	3.3	25T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	3.0	18T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	31.4	11T
Innovation	3.7	20
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	19.5	22

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	58.2	41
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	57.5	34T





# LUXEMBOURG

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
Value	Rank/60	
48.2	23	
44.0	41T	
42.6	49	
13.5	40	
	48.2 44.0 42.6	

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	10.2	32
TEA 2014	7.10	n/a
TEA 2013	8.7	n/a
Established business ownership rate	3.3	54
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	6.4	8T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	5.6	4

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.7	21T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	11.3	44
Innovation	4.9	11
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	36.1	2

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	68.8	29
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	44.1	48

#### Expert Ratings of the Entrepreneurial Eco-system (rank out of 62 recorded in brackets)





Population: 0.6 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$62.4 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$111,716 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 68% (2014)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 68/100; Rank: 61/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 86/100; Rank: 80/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.2/7; Rank: 20/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven







Population: 4.5 million (2014)

GDP: \$49.9 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$11,068 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 99% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

56/100; **Rank:** 123/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 83/100; Rank: 114/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 3.8/7; Rank: 101/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
Value	Rank/60	
45.7	29	
69.8	7	
17.4	3	
44.0	7	
	45.7 69.8 17.4	

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	30.1	4
TEA 2014	n/a	n/a
TEA 2013	n/a	n/a
Established business ownership rate	18.0	6
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	3.3	25T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	2.1	25T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.7	21T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	11.2	45
Innovation	11.6	2
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	5.4	48T

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	n/a	n/a
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	n/a	n/a





# MACEDONIA





Population: 2.1 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$11.3 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$5,481 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 64% (2010)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 80/100; Rank: 12/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 100/100; Rank: 2/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.3/7; Rank: 60/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	37.8	41T
Perceived capabilities	54.4	22
Fear of failure	34.3	27
Entrepreneurial intentions	23.3	22

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	6.1	52
TEA 2014	n/a	n/a
TEA 2013	6.6	n/a
Established business ownership rate	5.9	34T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	2.3	29T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	0.5	60

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.4	54T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	22.2	24
Innovation	1.0	56
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	11.4	86

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	57.1	42
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	67.1	21

#### Expert Ratings of the Entrepreneurial Eco-system (rank out of 62 recorded in brackets)



12







Population: 30.3 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$326.9 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$10,804 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 33% (2013) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

79/100; **Rank:** 18/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 95/100; Rank: 14/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.2/7; Rank: 18/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	28.2	49
Perceived capabilities	27.8	57
Fear of failure	27.1	12
Entrepreneurial intentions	5.6	57T

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	2.9	60
TEA 2014	5.9	n/a
TEA 2013	6.6	n/a
Established business ownership rate	4.8	45T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.3	57T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	4.9	6

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	1.0	4T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	8.6	53
Innovation	0.3	59T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	13.7	33

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	51.0	50
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	39.3	50T









Population: 119.7 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$1,282.7 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$10,715 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 52% (2011) World Bank Doing Business Rating: 74/100; Rank: 38/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 89/100; Rank: 75/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.3/7; Rank: 57/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	44.7	30
Perceived capabilities	45.8	37
Fear of failure	36.4	30
Entrepreneurial intentions	13.7	39

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	21.0	10T
TEA 2014	19.0	n/a
TEA 2013	14.8	n/a
Established business ownership rate	6.9	30
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	1.2	39T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	2.9	20

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.8	13T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	10.1	47
Innovation	3.8	18T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	4.1	53

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	52.0	49
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	49.3	46









Population: 33.2 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$109.2 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$3,291 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 38% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

65/100; **Rank:** 75/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 92/100; Rank: 43/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.2/7; Rank: 72/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	34.3	44
Perceived capabilities	47.6	32
Fear of failure	41.1	45
Entrepreneurial intentions	30.2	14

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	4.4	58
TEA 2014	n/a	n/a
TEA 2013	n/a	n/a
Established business ownership rate	5.2	41T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.4	55T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.5	42T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	16.5	35
Innovation	0.6	58
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	3.2	56

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	54.6	45
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	70.6	17







Population: 16.9 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$866.4 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$51,373 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 63% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

76/100; *Rank:* 28/189 World Bank Starting a Business *Rating:* 

94/100; **Rank:** 28/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.5/7; Rank: 5/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	48.4	22
Perceived capabilities	40.6	47
Fear of failure	33.2	21T
Entrepreneurial intentions	9.4	47

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	7.2	46T
TEA 2014	9.5	n/a
TEA 2013	9.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	9.9	15
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	6.3	10T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	4.5	8

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.3	59T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.2	1T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	21.0	25T
Innovation	1.9	44
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	33.9	4

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	64.5	36
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	79.2	2

#### Expert Ratings of the Entrepreneurial Eco-system (rank out of 62 recorded in brackets)



116







Population: 5.2 million (2014)

GDP: \$500.2 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$97,013 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 72% (2013) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

82/100; **Rank:** 9/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 94/100; Rank: 24/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.4/7; Rank: 11/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	68.9	3
Perceived capabilities	30.8	55
Fear of failure	33.4	24
Entrepreneurial intentions	4.8	60

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	5.7	54T
TEA 2014	5.7	n/a
TEA 2013	6.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	6.5	32T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	9.9	1

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	6.3	2

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.1	ЗT

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	15.8	38
Innovation	0.8	57
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	36.5	1

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	n/a	n/a
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	n/a	n/a









Population: 3.9 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$43.8 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$11,147 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: n/a

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 66/100; Rank: 69/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 92/100; Rank: 44/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.4/7; Rank: 50/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	46.5	26
Perceived capabilities	49.4	27
Fear of failure	23.1	7
Entrepreneurial intentions	13.9	38

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	12.8	24T
TEA 2014	17.1	n/a
TEA 2013	20.6	n/a
Established business ownership rate	4.2	49T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.5	54

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	0.9	55T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.9	8T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

### Entrepreneurship Impact

	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	2.0	60
Innovation	3.6	21T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	5.1	50

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	n/a	n/a
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	n/a	n/a









Population: 31.4 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$202.9 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$6,458 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 47% (2015)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 71/100; Rank: 50/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 85/100; Rank: 97/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.2/7; Rank: 69/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	51.4	15T
Perceived capabilities	65.3	10T
Fear of failure	25.5	10
Entrepreneurial intentions	38.6	8

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	22.2	9
TEA 2014	28.8	n/a
TEA 2013	23.4	n/a
Established business ownership rate	6.6	31
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.7	48T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	2.1	25T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	1.0	4T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	16.0	37
Innovation	3.5	23T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	6.8	43T

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	69.7	26
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	72.3	13T









Population: 99.4 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$284.9 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$2,865 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 30% (2013)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 60/100; Rank: 103/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 69/100; Rank: 165/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.4/7; Rank: 47/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Factor-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	53.8	12
Perceived capabilities	69.0	8
Fear of failure	36.5	31T
Entrepreneurial intentions	37.1	9

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	17.2	16
TEA 2014	18.4	n/a
TEA 2013	18.5	n/a
Established business ownership rate	7.3	26T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	2.3	29T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.6	38T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	1.3	1T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	10.2	46
Innovation	5.5	7T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	2.7	57

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	76.2	14
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	74.6	5







Population: 38.0 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$546.6 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$14,379 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 50% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

76/100; **Rank:** 25/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 86/100; Rank: 85/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.5/7; Rank: 41/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	32.9	46
Perceived capabilities	55.9	20
Fear of failure	47.8	56T
Entrepreneurial intentions	20.0	27

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	9.2	38T
TEA 2014	9.2	n/a
TEA 2013	9.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	5.9	34T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	4.0	22T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.7	33T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	26.1	17
Innovation	2.1	40T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	24.5	17

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	55.7	44
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	60.5	31









Population: 10.4 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$230.0 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$22,130 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 67% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

78/100; **Rank:** 23/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 96/100; Rank: 13/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.5/7; Rank: 38/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	28.1	50
Perceived capabilities	48.9	29
Fear of failure	40.8	43
Entrepreneurial intentions	16.2	33

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	9.5	35
TEA 2014	10.0	n/a
TEA 2013	8.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	7.0	28T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	4.0	22T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.5	42T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.8	49T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	17.1	34
Innovation	2.6	34T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	18.5	27

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	62.9	38
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	63.4	24











Population: 3.5 million (2015)

GDP: \$127.0 billion (2012)

GDP per capita: \$32,527 (2012)

SME contribution to GDP: n/a

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 69/100; Rank: 57/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 91/100; Rank: 51/189

**World Economic Forum Global** Competitiveness Rating: n/a; Rank: n/a

**Economic Development Phase:** Innovation-Driven

<b>Value</b> 25.0	Rank/60
25.0	
23.0	55
50.4	26
17.7	4
11.1	43
	50.4 17.7

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	8.5	40
TEA 2014	10.0	n/a
TEA 2013	8.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	1.4	60
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.6	51T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.6	38T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.7	21T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

#### **Entrepreneurship Impact** Value Rank/60 Job expectations (6+) 9.8 48 2.1 40T Innovation Industry (% in Business Services Sector)

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	47.6	52
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	16.7	54

5.6

47









Population: 19.9 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$200.0 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$10,035 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 50% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

74/100; **Rank:** 37/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 92/100; Rank: 45/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.3/7; Rank: 53/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	33.3	45
Perceived capabilities	46.3	35
Fear of failure	40.5	42
Entrepreneurial intentions	29.0	16

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	10.8	30T
TEA 2014	11.4	n/a
TEA 2013	10.1	n/a
Established business ownership rate	7.5	25
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	4.6	17

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.2	49

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.1	ЗT

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	39.8	4
Innovation	3.2	27T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	17.6	29

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	75.1	18
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	72.4	12









Population: 14.5 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$15.6 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$1,072 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 20% (2013) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

49/100; **Rank:** 153/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 86/100; Rank: 85/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 3.7/7; Rank: 110/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Factor-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	69.9	2
Perceived capabilities	89.0	1
Fear of failure	15.9	2
Entrepreneurial intentions	66.6	1

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity TEA 2015	38.6	1
TEA 2014	n/a	n/a
TEA 2013	n/a	n/a
Established business ownership rate	18.8	5
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	2.3	29T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.9	28T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.9	8T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.8	49T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	22.7	23
Innovation	3.2	27T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	3.5	54

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	n/a	n/a
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	n/a	n/a







# **SLOVAK REPUBLIC**

(F)



Population: 5.4 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$100.0 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$18,454 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 61% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

76/100; *Rank:* 29/189 World Bank Starting a Business *Rating:* 

89/100; **Rank:** 68/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.2/7; Rank: 67/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	26.4	51
Perceived capabilities	52.4	23
Fear of failure	33.7	25
Entrepreneurial intentions	15.7	34

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity TEA 2015	9.6	34
TEA 2014	10.9	n/a
TEA 2013	9.5	n/a
Established business ownership rate	5.7	36
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	3.6	24

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.7	33T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

#### Entrepreneurship Impact

	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	28.5	16
Innovation	2.0	42T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	32.6	6

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	64.2	37
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	50.8	44T









Population: 2.1 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$49.5 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$24,019 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 63% (2014)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 76/100; Rank: 29/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 95/100; Rank: 18/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.3/7; Rank: 59/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship			
	Value	Rank/60	
Perceived opportunities	20.5	57	
Perceived capabilities	48.6	30	
Fear of failure	32.4	19	
Entrepreneurial intentions	9.1	49	

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	5.9	53
TEA 2014	6.3	n/a
TEA 2013	6.5	n/a
Established business ownership rate	4.2	49T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	5.6	14

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.9	28T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.4	54T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	20.5	28
Innovation	1.8	45
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	19.6	21

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	70.0	22
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	53.7	39











Population: 54.0 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$350.1 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$6,483 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 45%~(2014)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 65/100; Rank: 73/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 81/100; Rank: 120/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.4/7; Rank: 49/140

Economic Development Phase: Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship			
	Value	Rank/60	
Perceived opportunities	40.9	35	
Perceived capabilities	45.4	38	
Fear of failure	30.3	17	
Entrepreneurial intentions	10.9	44T	

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	9.2	38T
TEA 2014	7.0	n/a
TEA 2013	10.6	n/a
Established business ownership rate	3.4	53
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.3	57T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.1	50T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.6	31T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	25.7	19T
Innovation	2.8	32T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	8.9	40

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	76.1	15
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	73.8	8T









Population: 46.5 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$1,406.9 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$30,278 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 63% (2014) World Bank Doing Business Rating: 75/100; Rank: 33/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 86/100; Rank: 82/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness *Rating:* 4.6/7; *Rank:* 33/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship			
Value	Rank/60		
26.0	52		
45.3	39		
39.2	36		
5.6	57T		
	26.0 45.3 39.2		

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	5.7	54T
TEA 2014	5.5	n/a
TEA 2013	5.2	n/a
Established business ownership rate	7.7	23T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	1.1	41T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	1.8	31T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.8	13T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	8.7	52
Innovation	1.4	51T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	29.3	12

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	48.4	51
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	53.2	41









Population: 9.7 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$570.1 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$58,491 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 59%~(2014)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 82/100; Rank: 8/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 95/100; Rank: 16/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness *Rating:* 5.4/7; *Rank:* 9/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	70.2	1
Perceived capabilities	36.7	51
Fear of failure	36.5	31T
Entrepreneurial intentions	8.4	50

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	7.2	46T
TEA 2014	6.7	n/a
TEA 2013	8.3	n/a
Established business ownership rate	5.2	41T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	6.4	8T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	5.7	3

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.0	11T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	16.1	36
Innovation	2.3	38T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	30.8	10

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	69.8	23T
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	52.7	42









Population: 8.1 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$712.1 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$87,475(2014)

SME contribution to GDP: n/a

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 76/100; Rank: 26/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 88/100; Rank: 69/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.8/7; Rank: 1/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	41.8	32
Perceived capabilities	44.0	41T
Fear of failure	33.8	26
Entrepreneurial intentions	7.0	55

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	7.3	44T
TEA 2014	7.1	n/a
TEA 2013	8.2	n/a
Established business ownership rate	11.3	13
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	6.5	6T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	6.5	1

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	19.3	30
Innovation	2.8	32T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	31.9	7

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	66.5	33
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	40.0	49









Population: 23.4 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$529.6 billion (2014)

GDP per capita: 22,598 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 31% (2010) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

81/100; *Rank:* 11/189 World Bank Starting a Business *Rating:* 94/100; *Rank:* 22/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.3/7; Rank: 15/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship			
	Value	Rank/60	
Perceived opportunities	30.2	48	
Perceived capabilities	25.4	60	
Fear of failure	43.8	50	
Entrepreneurial intentions	26.1	19	

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	7.3	44T
TEA 2014	8.5	n/a
TEA 2013	8.2	n/a
Established business ownership rate	9.6	16T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	4.1	20T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	3.8	13

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	41.8	2
Innovation	1.2	55
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	15.1	32

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	62.7	39
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	74.0	7







**Population:** 68.7 million (2014) **GDP:** \$373.8 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$5,445 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 37% (2013)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 71/100; Rank: 49/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 85/100; Rank: 96/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.6/7; Rank: 32/140

Economic Development Phase: Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
Value	Rank/60	
41.0	34	
46.2	36	
46.6	54	
16.7	31T	
	41.0 46.2 46.6	

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	13.7	20T
TEA 2014	23.3	n/a
TEA 2013	17.7	n/a
Established business ownership rate	24.6	2
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.7	48T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	4.4	9

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	1.2	3
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	8.8	51
Innovation	2.6	34T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	4.2	52

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	69.4	27
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	71.5	15









Population: 11.0 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$48.6 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$4,415 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 51% (2014)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 65/100; Rank: 74/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 84/100; Rank: 103/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 3.9/7; Rank: 92/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	48.8	19
Perceived capabilities	59.9	16
Fear of failure	40.3	41
Entrepreneurial intentions	28.8	17

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	10.1	33
TEA 2014	n/a	n/a
TEA 2013	n/a	n/a
Established business ownership rate	5.0	44
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	1.9	34

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	3.6	16

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.4	54T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	40.1	3
Innovation	3.3	25T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	15.3	31

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	72.1	19
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	71.1	16

#### Expert Ratings of the Entrepreneurial Eco-system (rank out of 62 recorded in brackets)



34



# UNITED KINGDOM





Population: 64.5 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$2,945.1 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$45,653 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 54% (2014)

World Bank Doing Business Rating: 82/100; Rank: 6/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 95/100; Rank: 17/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness *Rating:* 5.4/7; *Rank:* 10/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	41.6	33
Perceived capabilities	43.6	44
Fear of failure	34.9	29
Entrepreneurial intentions	8.2	52T

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	6.9	48
TEA 2014	10.7	n/a
TEA 2013	7.1	n/a
Established business ownership rate	5.3	40
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	4.1	20T

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	2.1	25T

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	1.1	3T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	19.0	31
Innovation	2.5	36T
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	34.5	3

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	79.2	12
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	57.8	33





# **UNITED STATES OF AMERICA**

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	**	
^*************************************	**	



Population: 319.0 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$17,418.9 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$54,597 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 54% (2014) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

82/100; *Rank:* 7/189 World Bank Starting a Business *Rating:* 91/100; *Rank:* 49/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 5.6/7; Rank: 3/140

Economic Development Phase: Innovation-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	46.6	25
Perceived capabilities	55.7	21
Fear of failure	29.4	15
Entrepreneurial intentions	12.4	41

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	11.9	27
TEA 2014	13.8	n/a
TEA 2013	12.7	n/a
Established business ownership rate	7.3	26T
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	7.0	4

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	4.8	7

Gender Equity		
	Value	Rank/60
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.6	31T
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T

Entrepreneurship Impact		
	Value	Rank/60
Job expectations (6+)	31.7	9Т
Innovation	4.3	12
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	31.2	9

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
High status to entrepreneurs	n/a	n/a
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	n/a	n/a







Population: 3.4 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$55.1 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$16,199 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 40% (2015) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

61/100; **Rank:** 92/189

World Bank Starting a Business Rating: 90/100; Rank: 61/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness *Rating:* 4.1/7; *Rank:* 73/140

Economic Development Phase: Efficiency-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship		
	Value	Rank/60
Perceived opportunities	39.2	39
Perceived capabilities	61.0	14
Fear of failure	24.4	9
Entrepreneurial intentions	25.4	20

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	14.3	18
TEA 2014	16.1	n/a
TEA 2013	14.1	n/a
Established business ownership rate	2.1	59
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	4.2	19

Motivational Index		
	Value	Rank/60
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity		
Motive	3.0	18T

Gender Equity							
	Value	Rank/60					
Female/Male TEA Ratio	0.5	38T					
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.9	24T					

Entrepreneurship Impact								
	Value	Rank/60						
Job expectations (6+)	25.9	18						
Innovation	3.9	16T						
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	17.8	28						

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship						
	Value	Rank/60				
High status to entrepreneurs	56.7	43				
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	58.8	32				











Population: 90.6 million (2014)

**GDP:** \$186.0 billion (2014)

**GDP per capita:** \$2,053 (2014)

SME contribution to GDP: 40% (2011) World Bank Doing Business *Rating:* 

62/100; *Rank:* 90/189 World Bank Starting a Business Rating:

81/100; **Rank:** 119/189

World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Rating: 4.3/7; Rank: 56/140

**Economic Development Phase:** Factor-Driven

Self-Perceptions About Entrepreneurship								
	Value	Rank/60						
Perceived opportunities	56.8	9						
Perceived capabilities	56.8	19						
Fear of failure	45.6	53						
Entrepreneurial intentions	22.3	23						

Activity		
	Value	Rank/60
Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity		
TEA 2015	13.7	20T
TEA 2014	15.3	n/a
TEA 2013	15.4	n/a
Established business ownership rate	19.6	3
Entrepreneurial Employee Activity – EEA	0.6	51T

Motivational Index						
	Value	Rank/60				
Improvement-Driven Opportunity/Necessity						
Motive	1.5	42T				

Gender Equity							
	Value	Rank/60					
Female/Male TEA Ratio	1.3	1T					
Female/Male Opportunity Ratio	0.8	49T					

Entrepreneurship Impact								
	Value	Rank/60						
Job expectations (6+)	9.5	49						
Innovation	2.3	38T						
Industry (% in Business Services Sector)	3.3	55						

Societal Values About Entrepreneurship							
	Value	Rank/60					
High status to entrepreneurs	75.8	16					
Entrepreneurship a good career choice	73.3	11					



# DATA TABLES

Region	Economy	Entrepreneurship as a Good Career Choice		High Status to Successful Entrepreneurs		Media Attention for Entrepreneurship	
		Rank/54	Score	Rank/54	Score	Rank/54	Score
Africa	Botswana	18	70.1	6	82.0	7	76.2
	Burkina Faso	8T	73.8	4	83.4	21	67.3
	Cameroon	28	61.1	35	64.8	23	64.5
	Egypt	10	73.6	11	79.6	34	58.5
	Morocco	17	70.6	45	54.6	41	52.2
	Senegal		-		-		-
	South Africa	8T	73.8	15	76.1	11	72.2
	Tunisia	16	71.1	19	72.1	47	48.3
	Total		70.6		73.2		62.8
Asia & Oceania	Australia	36	56.4	21	70.1	10	72.3
	China	22	65.9	13	77.6	6	77.2
	India	50T	39.3	53	46.6	52	39.4
	Indonesia	6	74.4	7	81.4	4	79.4
	Iran	37	56.3	5	82.3	35	58.3
	Israel	23	64.5	1	86.2	37Т	54.8
	Kazakhstan	4	76.9	3	83.9	3	80.0
	Korea	52	38.0	47	53.5	26	61.5
	Lebanon		-		-		-
	Malaysia	50T	39.3	50	51.0	24	63.9
	Philippines	5	74.6	14	76.2	2	81.5
	Taiwan	7	74.0	39	62.7	1	85.6
	Thailand	15	71.5	27	69.4	9	72.5
	Vietnam	11	73.3	16	75.8	8	73.5
	Total		61.9		70.5		69.2
Latin America & Caribbean	Argentina	25	62.1	48	52.9	22	66.7
	Barbados	19T	69.6	23T	69.8	25	61.6
	Brazil	3	77.7	9	80.1	15	69.6
	Chile	19T	69.6	34	64.9	30	60.4
	Colombia	13T	72.3	23T	69.8	12	71.7
	Ecuador	26	61.6	32	67.1	5	77.3
	Guatemala	1	95.6	10	79.8	29	60.6
	Mexico	46	49.3	49	52.0	51	40.5
	Panama		-		-		-
	Peru	13T	72.3	26	69.7	16T	68.1
	Puerto Rico	54	16.7	52	47.6	16T	68.1
	Uruguay	32	58.8	43	56.7	32	59.9
	Total		64.1		64.6		64.0

### Table 1: Ranking of Societal Values of Entrepreneurship by Region, GEM 2015

# **PART 3:** DATA TABLES

### Table 1: Continued

Region	Economy		eurship as a eer Choice			Media Attention for Entrepreneurship	
		Rank/54	Score	Rank/54	Score	Rank/54	Score
Europe	Belgium	38	54.2	46	54.5	39	54.7
	Bulgaria	34T	57.5	20	71.5	44	49.3
	Croatia	27	61.5	54	42.3	48	47.5
	Estonia	40	53.4	40	62.6	45	49.1
	Finland	53	33.2	2	84.9	16T	68.1
	Germany	44T	50.8	17	75.7	43	49.8
	Greece	29T	60.9	31	67.8	53	38.0
	Hungary	43	48.4	8	68.4	19T	33.4
	Ireland	47	52.6	30	80.3	54	67.4
	Italy	29T	60.9	28	69.0	46	48.5
	Latvia	34T	57.5	41	58.2	37T	54.8
	Luxembourg	48	44.1	29	68.8	50	44.0
	Macedonia	21	67.1	42	57.1	14	71.1
	Netherlands	2	79.2	36	64.5	36	57.7
	Norway		-		-		-
	Poland	31	60.5	44	55.7	42	51.5
	Portugal	24	63.4	38	62.9	13	71.6
	Romania	12	72.4	18	75.1	19T	67.4
	Slovakia	44T	50.8	37	64.2	40	54.0
	Slovenia	39	53.7	22	70.0	31	60.3
	Spain	41	53.2	51	48.4	49	46.9
	Sweden	42	52.7	23T	69.8	27	61.3
	Switzerland	49	40.0	33	66.5	33	59.5
	United Kingdom	33	57.8	12	79.2	28	61.1
	Total		55.9		66.0		55.1
orth America	Canada		-		-		-
	USA		-		-		-
	Total						

### **PART 3:** DATA TABLES

Region	Economy	Perceived O	pportunities	Perceived (	Capabilities	Fear of	Failure	Entrepreneur	ial Intentions
		Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score
Africa	Botswana	7	57.8	4	74.1	55	18.9	2	61.9
	Burkina Faso	6	58.1	2	78.0	56	17.9	6	45.9
	Cameroon	4	60.7	5	73.1	53	23.9	13	33.1
	Egypt	27	46.1	46	41.5	45	29.5	11	36.8
	Morocco	44	34.3	32	47.6	16	41.1	14	30.2
	Senegal	2	69.9	1	89.0	59	15.9	1	66.6
	South Africa	35	40.9	38	45.4	44	30.3	44T	10.9
	Tunisia	19	48.8	16	59.9	20	40.3	17	28.8
	Total		52.1		63.6		27.2		39.3
Asia & Oceania	Australia	18	48.9	31	48.2	15	41.7	37	14.4
	China	47	31.7	58T	27.4	21	40.0	28	19.5
	India	41T	37.8	49	37.8	10	44.0	48	9.2
	Indonesia	17	49.9	10T	65.3	22T	39.5	18	27.5
	Iran	36T	40.3	12	62.0	27T	38.1	12	35.0
	Israel	10	55.5	45	41.6	4T	47.8	25T	21.6
	Kazakhstan	20	48.7	24	52.1	1	75.4	29	17.5
	Korea	59	14.4	58T	27.4	27T	38.1	56	6.6
	Lebanon	29	45.7	7	69.8	58	17.4	7	44.0
	Malaysia	49	28.2	57	27.8	49	27.1	57T	5.6
	Philippines	12	53.8	8	69.0	29T	36.5	9	37.1
	Taiwan	48	30.2	60	25.4	11	43.8	19	26.1
	Thailand	34	41.0	36	46.2	7	46.6	31T	16.7
	Vietnam	9	56.8	19	56.8	8	45.6	23	22.3
	Total		41.6		46.9		41.5		21.6
Latin America & Caribbean	Argentina	28	45.9	13	61.6	50	25.8	15	29.1
	Barbados	11	55.0	3	75.0	60	14.7	25T	21.6
	Brazil	31	42.4	18	58.3	9	44.7	21	24.4
	Chile	8	57.4	9	65.7	48	28.1	3	50.0
	Colombia	5	58.3	17	59.5	39T	33.2	4	48.2
	Ecuador	14	52.7	6	72.2	47	28.6	5	46.3
	Guatemala	24	47.9	15	60.0	43	31.0	10	36.9
	Mexico	30	44.7	37	45.8	31	36.4	39	13.7
	Panama	26	46.5	27	49.4	54	23.1	38	13.9
	Peru	15T	51.4	10T	65.3	51	25.5	8	38.6
	Puerto Rico	55	25.0	26	50.4	57	17.7	43	11.1
	Uruguay	39	39.2	14	61.0	52	24.4	20	25.4
	Total		47.2		60.4		27.8		29.9

Table 2: Ranking of Self-perceived Entrepreneurial Opportunities, Capabilities, Failure and Intensions by Region, GEM 2015

## **PART 3:** DATA TABLES

### Table 2: Continued

Region	Economy	Perceived 0	Perceived Opportunities		Perceived Capabilities		Fear of Failure		Entrepreneurial Intentions	
		Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	
Europe	Belgium	36T	40.3	54	31.9	3	48.5	44T	10.9	
	Bulgaria	58	15.8	53	35.2	38	33.3	59	5.3	
	Croatia	56	22.3	33	47.5	33	34.4	30	17.2	
	Estonia	15T	51.4	41T	44.0	24	39.3	31T	16.7	
	Finland	21	48.6	50	37.4	41	32.6	44T	10.9	
	Germany	40	38.3	52	36.2	13	42.3	54	7.2	
	Greece	60	14.2	34	46.8	6	46.9	51	8.3	
	Hungary	38	25.3	40	38.7	17	41.8	35	14.8	
	Ireland	54	39.4	48	45.0	14	40.9	36	14.6	
	Italy	53	25.7	56	30.5	2	57.5	52T	8.2	
	Latvia	43	34.7	28	49.1	26	38.6	24	22.2	
	Luxembourg	23	48.2	41T	44.0	12	42.6	40	13.5	
	Macedonia	41T	37.8	22	54.4	34	34.3	22	23.3	
	Netherlands	22	48.4	47	40.6	39T	33.2	47	9.4	
	Norway	3	68.9	55	30.8	37	33.4	60	4.8	
	Poland	46	32.9	20	55.9	4T	47.8	27	20.0	
	Portugal	50	28.1	29	48.9	18	40.8	33	16.2	
	Romania	45	33.3	35	46.3	19	40.5	16	29.0	
	Slovakia	51	26.4	23	52.4	36	33.7	34	15.7	
	Slovenia	57	20.5	30	48.6	42	32.4	49	9.1	
	Spain	52	26.0	39	45.3	25	39.2	57T	5.6	
	Sweden	1	70.2	51	36.7	29T	36.5	50	8.4	
	Switzerland	32	41.8	41T	44.0	35	33.8	55	7.0	
	United Kingdom	33	41.6	44	43.6	32	34.9	52T	8.2	
	Total		36.7		43.1		39.1		12.8	
North America	Canada	13	53.2	25	50.5	22T	39.5	42	11.6	
	USA	25	46.6	21	55.7	46	29.4	41	12.4	
	Total		49.9		53.1		34.4		12.0	

14
Region	Economy	Nasce Entrepren Rat	eurship	New Bus Ownershi		Early-s Entrepre Activity	neurial	EE	A	Establis Busine Ownershi	ess	Discontin of Busine of TE	sses (%
		Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score
Africa	Botswana	3	23.0	6	11.9	3	33.2	35	1.6	47	4.6	1	14.7
	Burkina Faso	4	19.7	7	11.2	5	29.8	51T	0.6	1	27.8	9	8.1
	Cameroon	6T	16.5	10	10.0	7	25.4	48T	0.7	12	12.8	5	9.0
	Egypt	46T	4.0	37T	3.4	43	7.4	38	1.3	56	2.9	14	6.6
	Morocco	58	1.3	40T	3.2	58	4.4	55T	0.4	41T	5.2	46T	2.2
	Senegal	2	24.9	2	15.0	1	38.6	29T	2.3	5	18.8	2	13.3
	South Africa	35	5.5	32T	3.8	38T	9.2	57T	0.3	53	3.4	19	4.8
	Tunisia	36	5.4	25T	4.9	33	10.1	34	1.9	44	5.0	10T	7.2
	Total		12.5		7.9		19.8		1.1		10.1		8.3
Asia & Oceania	Australia	24	7.3	20	5.8	24T	12.8	2	8.5	20	8.7	22	4.5
	China	26	6.8	17T	6.3	24T	12.8	36T	1.4	55	3.1	39T	2.7
	India	22	7.7	40T	3.2	30T	10.8	57T	0.3	38	5.5	43T	2.3
	Indonesia	31T	6.1	5	12.1	13T	17.7	60	0.2	8	17.1	27T	3.7
	Iran	21	7.9	22	5.3	23	12.9	43T	1.0	10	14.0	12T	6.7
	Israel	18	8.4	34	3.7	28	11.8	6Т	6.5	51	3.9	21	4.6
	Kazakhstan	20	8.0	40T	3.2	29	11.0	46T	0.9	58	2.4	35T	3.1
	Korea	40	5.0	29	4.3	36T	9.3	27T	2.4	28T	7.0	49T	2.0
	Lebanon	12T	10.8	1	20.4	4	30.1	25T	3.3	6	18.0	4	10.6
	Malaysia	60	0.8	55	2.3	60	2.9	57T	0.3	45T	4.8	59	1.1
	Philippines	23	7.6	9	10.1	16	17.2	29T	2.3	26T	7.3	3	12.2
	Taiwan	54	2.5	27	4.8	44T	7.3	20T	4.1	16T	9.6	25T	3.8
	Thailand	43T	4.5	13	9.5	20T	13.7	48T	0.7	2	24.6	30T	3.4
	Vietnam	59	1.0	4	12.7	20T	13.7	51T	0.6	3	19.6	27T	3.7
	Total		6.0		7.4		13.1		2.3		10.4		4.6
Latin America & Caribbean	Argentina	10	11.7	17T	6.3	13T	17.7	27T	2.4	18	9.5	16	6.3
	Barbados	11	11.5	8	10.7	10T	21.0	41T	1.1	9	14.1	25T	3.8
	Brazil	27	6.7	3	14.9	10T	21.0	43T	1.0	4	18.9	12T	6.7
	Chile	6T	16.5	11T	9.8	6	25.9	15	5.2	21	8.2	7	8.5
	Colombia	9	15.6	16	7.5	8	22.7	29T	2.3	41T	5.2	10T	7.2
	Ecuador	1	25.9	11T	9.8	2	33.6	46T	0.9	7	17.4	8	8.3
	Guatemala	12T	10.8	15	7.6	13T	17.7	39Т	1.2	22	8.1	24	4.0
	Mexico	8	16.2	24	5.0	10T	21.0	39Т	1.2	30	6.9	15	6.4
	Panama	38	5.2	14	7.7	24T	12.8	54	0.5	49T	4.2	46T	2.2
	Peru	5	17.8	25T	4.9	9	22.2	48T	0.7	31	6.6	6	8.8
	Puerto Rico	28	6.6	57T	1.9	40	8.5	51T	0.6	60	1.4	60	0.9
	Uruguay	14	10.6	32T	3.8	18	14.3	19	4.2	59	2.1	20	4.7
	Total		12.9		7.5		19.9		1.8		8.5		5.7

 Table 3: Ranking of Six Stages of Entrepreneurial Activity by Region, GEM 2015

## Table 3: Continued

Region	Economy	Nasco Entrepren Rat	eurship	New Bus Ownershi		Early-s Entrepre Activity	neurial	EE	A	Establis Busine Ownershi	ess	Discontin of Busine of TE	sses (%
		Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score
Europe	Belgium	43T	4.5	56	2.0	51	6.2	12	6.1	52	3.8	51T	1.9
	Bulgaria	57	2.0	60	1.5	59	3.5	55T	0.4	39	5.4	58	1.4
	Croatia	39	5.1	53T	2.6	42	7.7	16	4.9	57	2.8	37	2.9
	Estonia	16	8.7	28	4.7	22	13.1	10T	6.3	23T	7.7	49T	2.0
	Finland	46T	4.0	48T	2.8	50	6.6	13	5.8	14	10.2	39T	2.7
	Germany	53	2.8	57T	1.9	57	4.7	18	4.5	45T	4.8	53T	1.8
	Greece	49	3.9	48T	2.8	49	6.7	43T	1.0	11	13.1	30T	3.4
	Hungary	29T	5.3	45T	2.7	36T	7.9	5	2.1	32T	6.5	35T	2.8
	Ireland	37	6.5	52	3.0	41	9.3	33	6.6	37	5.6	38	3.1
	Italy	50T	3.2	59	1.7	56	4.9	36T	1.4	48	4.5	51T	1.9
	Latvia	17	8.6	19	6.0	19	14.1	25T	3.3	16T	9.6	30T	3.4
	Luxembourg	25	7.1	40T	3.2	32	10.2	8T	6.4	54	3.3	23	4.2
	Macedonia	52	3.0	44	3.1	52	6.1	29T	2.3	34T	5.9	43T	2.3
	Netherlands	45	4.3	45T	3.0	46T	7.2	10T	6.3	15	9.9	48	2.1
	Norway	55	2.3	39	3.3	54T	5.7	1	9.9	32T	6.5	56T	1.6
	Poland	33	5.7	36	3.5	38T	9.2	22T	4.0	34T	5.9	39T	2.7
	Portugal	34	5.6	30T	4.0	35	9.5	22T	4.0	28T	7.0	34	3.2
	Romania	31T	6.1	23	5.1	30T	10.8	17	4.6	25	7.5	33	3.3
	Slovakia	29T	6.5	37T	3.4	34	9.6	24	3.6	36	5.7	17	5.4
	Slovenia	50T	3.2	48T	2.8	53	5.9	14	5.6	49T	4.2	53T	1.8
	Spain	56	2.1	35	3.6	54T	5.7	41T	1.1	23T	7.7	56T	1.6
	Sweden	41	4.8	53T	2.6	46T	7.2	8T	6.4	41T	5.2	39T	2.7
	Switzerland	42	4.6	48T	2.8	44T	7.3	6Т	6.5	13	11.3	55	1.7
	United Kingdom	46T	4.0	47	2.9	48	6.9	20T	4.1	40	5.3	43T	2.3
	Total		4.8		3.1		7.8		4.5		6.6		2.6
North America	Canada	15	9.7	21	5.5	17	14.7	3	7.1	19	8.8	18	5.0
	USA	19	8.3	30T	4.0	27	11.9	4	7.0	26T	7.3	29	3.6
	Total		9.0		4.8		13.3		7.0		8.1		4.3

cracy	Score	2.5	2.3	3.8	4.3	2.2	1.4	2.8	2.3	2.7	2.6	6.0	0.8	2.8	1.1	4.7	3.7	0.0	0.8	4.8	0.0	1.4	1.2	1.4	2.2
Bureaucracy	Rank/60	41	42T	31	27	45	47T	37T	42T		39T	19T	56T	37T	55	26	32T	58T	56T	25	58T	47T	53T	47T	
Ŧ	Score	3.8	9.2	7.1	5.2	0.0	5.8	9.8	2.9	5.5	2.3	1.1	5.4	0.2	3.0	2.1	1.7	5.2	11.3	0.0	2.5	6.6	3.9	0.0	3.2
Incident	Rank/60	24T	4	9	14T	46T	11	ო	28		32T	42	13	44T	27	34T	37T	14T	4	46T	31	Ø	22T	46T	
easons	Score	15.8	29.9	16.5	10.3	22.3	25.3	17.8	27.1	20.6	19.6	15.4	22.5	14.7	23.1	27.8	24.2	5.2	16.1	13.7	32.5	37.8	32.3	11.1	21.1
Personal Reasons	Rank/60	44	00	40	57	24	14T	35T	11		30	45	23	46T	20T	6	18	58	41	50	9	4	7	54	
nent	Score	0.8	4.5	2.4	1.0	0.0	0.8	1.4	1.5	1.6	5.7	4.7	0.0	0.0	2.4	1.1	3.6	0.0	9.9	0.0	0.0	13.3	7.1	2.8	3.6
Retirement	Rank/60	39T	17	22T	37T	44T	39T	32T	30T		13	16	44T	44T	22T	35T	19	44T	6Т	44T	44T	4	6	20	
Ţ	Score	2.6	8.1	5.2	3.5	0.0	5.9	1.0	0.0	3.3	5.3	5.5	0.0	6.5	2.6	1.5	6.9	2.6	4.2	0.0	4.2	2.7	2.1	9.7	3.9
Exit	Rank/60	34T	9	19	31	50T	11T	46T	SOT		18	17	SOT	6	34T	42T	00	34T	23T	SOT	23T	33	38	ო	
ler unity	Score	10.3	7.8	10.4	8.7	1.9	6.5	2.1	13.3	7.6	28.4	4.7	1.4	18.5	4.8	10.8	7.4	23.0	16.0	17.5	5.9	11.9	10.8	19.4	12.9
Another Opportunity	Rank/60	35	41	33T	39	56	44	55	22		H	50	57	7	49	30T	43	ю	12	0	46	26T	30T	9	
is with Ice	Score	20.2	6.8	14.6	24.0	26.5	15.5	27.6	25.6	20.1	4.0	23.0	13.1	19.1	15.5	4.0	12.5	10.3	4.3	40.7	35.6	6.3	11.5	29.2	16.3
Problems with Finance	Rank/60	12	43	24	œ	9	19T	4T	7		54T	თ	27	14	19T	54T	30T	37	52	H	0	44	32	ო	
table	Score	40.6	29.5	37.3	42.9	32.8	36.6	34.9	24.2	34.8	25.8	35.8	48.1	32.4	43.3	43.8	36.5	53.8	34.2	18.5	19.1	20.1	28.9	22.2	33.0
Unprofitable	Rank/60	16	39	18	13	30	19	23	47		44	21	o	33	12	11	20	ო	26	58	57	55T	40	52	
he ess	Score	0.9	1.9	2.8	0.0	14.2	2.2	2.6	2.3	3.4	6.2	3.7	8.8	5.8	1.9	4.2	3.5	0.0	3.2	0.0	0.2	0.0	2.2	4.2	3.1
Sold the Business	Rank/60	47	40T	31	50T	2	38T	32T	36T		11	24T	0	14	40T	20T	26	SOT	28	SOT	49	SOT	38T	20T	
Economy		Botswana	Burkina Faso	Cameroon	Egypt	Morocco	Senegal	South Africa	Tunisia	Total	Australia	China	India	Indonesia	Iran	Israel	Kazakhstan	Korea	Lebanon	Malaysia	Philippines	Taiwan	Thailand	Vietnam	Total
Region		Africa									Asia & Oceania														

Table 4: Ranking of Reasons for Business Exits by Region, GEM 2015

Region	Economy	Sold the Business	he sss	Unprofitable	table	Problems with Finance	with	Another Opportunity	er Nity	Exit		Retirement	ent	Personal Reasons	easons	Incident	ţ	Bureaucracy	cracy
		Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score
Latin America & Caribbean	Argentina	43T	1.6	Q	49.0	48T	4.5	30	ю. 9	26Т	4.0	37Т	1.0	35T	17.8	29	2.8	12	9.9
	Barbados	SOT	0.0	41	27.7	10	22.4	33T	10.4	26T	4.0	34	1.3	42T	15.9	22T	3.9	SOT	1.3
	Brazil	19	4.5	17	39.4	16T	16.7	32	10.5	49	0.7	29	1.8	14T	25.3	46T	0.0	53T	1.2
	Chile	16	5.1	53	21.9	40T	9.9	18	14.7	22	4.3	41T	0.4	4	34.9	17	4.7	28	4.1
	Colombia	32T	2.6	39	29.5	25	14.4	19	14.5	40T	1.7	43	0.3	16	25.2	32T	2.3	13	9.5
	Ecuador	29	3.1	24	34.6	13	19.5	38	8.8	14T	5.7	44T	0.0	29	20.8	41	1.3	18	6.3
	Guatemala	17T	4.7	37	30.2	18	16.3	20	14.1	45	1.1	44T	0.0	19	23.2	18	4.6	21	5.8
	Mexico	H	27.6	25	34.5	21T	15.0	47	5.2	SOT	0.0	41T	0.4	53	11.6	20	4.3	SOT	1.3
	Panama	36T	2.3	Q	50.0	48T	4.5	52	4.5	37	2.3	44T	0.0	Q	34.1	46T	0.0	42T	2.3
	Peru	45T	1.5	31T	32.5	38	10.1	17	14.9	39	1.9	44T	0.0	7	37.5	43	0.3	50T	1.3
	Puerto Rico	12	6.1	43	26.5	28T	12.9	54	4.1	SOT	0.0	44T	0.0	52	12.5	12	5.5	С	32.4
	Uruguay	23	4.1	31T	32.5	40T	9.9	29	11.0	Q	8.3	27	2.0	49	13.9	46T	0.0	9	18.4
	Total		5.3		34.0		13.0		10.2		2.8		0.6		22.7		2.5		7.8
Europe	Belgium	9	9.8	45	25.5	59	1.9	Q	20.3	40T	1.7	44T	0.0	ю	35.0	46T	0.0	22	5.7
	Bulgaria	24T	3.7	80	48.2	23	14.9	28	11.1	SOT	0.0	44T	0.0	34	18.3	46T	0.0	32T	3.7
	Croatia	SOT	0.0	59	15.7	11	21.1	45	6.2	42T	1.5	Ø	8.4	39	16.6	46T	0.0	ю	30.5
	Estonia	32T	2.6	28T	33.3	46	5.1	14	15.4	20	5.1	44T	0.0	20T	23.1	46T	0.0	6	15.4
	Finland	SOT	0.0	51	22.3	60	0.0	Ø	17.9	0	13.7	ო	13.8	17	24.3	36	2.0	19T	6.0
	Germany	10	8.1	34	30.6	26	14.0	52	4.5	30	3.6	11	6.1	10	27.2	30	2.7	35	3.1
	Greece	SOT	0.0	Ч	70.0	51	4.4	58T	0.0	50T	0.0	ß	13.0	55	11.0	39T	1.5	58T	0.0
	Hungary	15	5.5	14	27.4	16T	16.7	23	13.2	10	5.7	26	2.1	38	10.7	37T	1.7	00	17.1
	Ireland	40T	1.9	42	42.5	33	11.4	26Т	11.9	14T	6.2	28	1.9	56	17.4	46T	0.0	16	6.8
	Italy	5	10.0	27	33.6	15	18.5	58T	0.0	50T	0.0	44T	0.0	33	18.4	35	2.1	7	17.4
	Latvia	8	9.1	15	42.4	42	7.5	53	4.2	7	7.4	44T	0.0	42T	15.9	39T	1.5	10	12.0
	Luxembourg	20T	4.2	48	23.9	34T	10.8	24	13.0	4	9.4	10	6.8	26	21.8	16	5.1	23	5.1
	Macedonia	43T	1.6	50	22.7	4T	27.6	48	4.9	50T	0.0	25	2.2	59	3.6	7	11.0	4	26.3
	Netherlands	50T	0.0	4	50.5	45	5.3	4	22.0	46T	1.0	15	5.1	48	14.2	46T	0.0	46	1.9

(147

Continued	
Table 4: (	

Region	Economy	Sold the Business	he sss	Unprofitable	able	Problems with Finance	with	Another Opportunity	er nity	Exit		Retirement	ent	Personal Reasons	asons	Incident	ıt	Bureaucracy	racy
		Rank/60	Score	Rank/60 Score Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score
	Norway	7	9.3	54	20.9	28Т	12.9	13	15.8	11T	5.9	21	2.5	22	22.8	D	7.2	39.T	2.6
	Poland	50T	0.0	35	30.5	58	2.1	11	16.4	25	4.1	0	14.3	60	2.0	o	6.3	ß	24.3
	Portugal	30	3.0	С	54.6	30T	12.5	58T	0.0	28	3.9	30T	1.5	27	21.2	46T	0.0	34	3.2
	Romania	45T	1.5	10	47.9	34T	10.8	40	8.2	42T	1.5	44T	0.0	28	21.0	21	4.1	24	4.9
	Slovakia	27	3.3	28T	33.3	39	10.0	10	16.7	32	3.3	35T	1.1	32	18.9	7	6.7	17	6.7
	Slovenia	50T	0.0	22	35.5	21T	15.0	37	8.9	50T	0.0	₽	23.1	46T	14.7	46T	0.0	36	3.0
	Spain	48	0.7	7	48.5	36	10.4	25	12.8	48	0.9	бТ	9.9	51	12.8	44T	0.2	29Т	4.0
	Sweden	13	6.0	49	23.2	57	2.4	15	15.2	₽	16.8	24	2.3	37	17.6	10	6.0	11	10.6
	Switzerland	4	11.2	60	0.0	56	3.9	42	7.7	29	3.7	18	4.3	31	19.1	46T	0.0	Ч	50.2
	United Kingdom	32T	2.6	46	24.7	47	4.6	0	26.9	11T	5.9	14	5.5	25	22.0	24T	3.8	29T	4.0
	Total		3.9		33.7		10.1		11.4		4.2		5.2		17.9		2.6		11.0
North America	Canada	с	12.6	55T	20.1	53	4.2	21	13.4	14T	5.7	12	5.9	13	26.0	26	3.4	14	8.6
	NSA	17T	4.7	36	30.3	48T	4.5	16	15.1	21	4.8	32T	1.4	12	27.0	19	4.4	15	7.8
	Total		8.7		25.2		4.3		14.3		5.3		3.7		26.5		3.9		8.2

Region	Economy	Early-stage Entrepreneurial (TEA)		Necessity-dr of TEA		Opportunity-d of TEA		Improvement-d Opportunity (% o		Motivatio Index	
		Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score
Africa	Botswana	3	33.2	8	35.6	53	61.9	31	50.1	46T	1.4
	Burkina Faso	5	29.8	20T	27.5	35	72.0	49	37.3	46T	1.4
	Cameroon	7	25.4	15T	29.8	51	64.1	47T	37.5	48	1.3
	Egypt	43	7.4	5	42.4	56	57.3	55	33.5	59	0.8
	Morocco	58	4.4	18	28.4	40	69.2	38	43.2	42T	1.5
	Senegal	1	38.6	25	27.1	36	71.8	25	51.9	28T	1.9
	South Africa	38T	9.2	12	33.2	48	65.7	47T	37.5	50T	1.1
	Tunisia	33	10.1	43	18.0	20	79.3	9	64.1	16	3.6
	Total		19.8		30.2		67.7		44.4		1.6
Asia & Oceania	Australia	24T	12.8	55	12.7	4T	85.1	5	66.0	5	5.2
	China	24T	12.8	9	34.7	50	64.3	45	38.9	50T	1.1
	India	30T	10.8	39T	18.9	22	78.7	54	34.3	31T	1.8
	Indonesia	13T	17.7	38	19.0	16	80.3	50	36.5	28T	1.9
	Iran	23	12.9	17	28.8	44	67.5	32	48.5	33T	1.7
	Israel	28	11.8	56	12.4	19	79.4	41T	40.9	17	3.3
	Kazakhstan	29	11.0	20T	27.5	41	68.9	60	24.0	55T	0.9
	Korea	37	9.3	32	24.4	26	74.6	11	62.1	21	2.6
	Lebanon	4	30.1	24	27.4	34	72.3	14	57.3	25T	2.1
	Malaysia	60	2.9	52T	13.7	1	86.3	3	67.0	6	4.9
	Philippines	16	17.2	26	25.6	29T	73.7	39	41.6	38T	1.6
	Taiwan	44T	7.3	49	14.9	4T	85.1	16T	56.5	13	3.8
	Thailand	20T	13.7	44	17.2	10	81.2	1	75.9	9	4.4
	Vietnam	20T	13.7	7	37.4	52	62.6	13	57.9	42T	1.5
	Total		13.1		22.5		75.7		50.5		2.6
Latin America & Caribbean	Argentina	13T	17.7	15T	29.8	45T	67.4	29	50.7	33T	1.7
	Barbados	10T	21.0	47	15.2	12	80.8	16T	56.5	14T	3.7
	Brazil	10T	21.0	4	42.9	57	56.5	33	47.8	50T	1.1
	Chile	6	25.9	27	25.3	45T	67.4	12	61.2	22	2.4
	Colombia	8	22.7	11	33.3	49	65.6	16T	56.5	33T	1.7
	Ecuador	2	33.6	14	30.6	42	68.8	52	34.6	50T	1.1
	Guatemala	13T	17.7	2	45.8	58	53.5	43	40.8	55T	0.9
	Mexico	10T	21.0	39T	18.9	21	78.9	20	55.5	20	2.9
	Panama	24T	12.8	3	45.3	59	52.0	44	39.1	55T	0.9
	Peru	9	22.2	28	25.2	33	72.9	22	53.6	25T	2.1
	Puerto Rico	40	8.5	29	25.1	29T	73.7	40	41.4	38T	1.6
	Uruguay	18	14.3	42	18.2	13	80.6	21	53.7	18T	3.0
	Total		19.9		29.6		68.2		49.3		1.9

## Table 5: Continued

Region	Economy	Early-stag Entrepreneurial (TEA)		Necessity-dr of TEA		Opportunity-d of TEA		Improvement-d Opportunity (% c		Motivatio Index	
		Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score
Europe	Belgium	51	6.2	20T	27.5	54	60.2	37	44.3	38T	1.6
	Bulgaria	59	3.5	10	33.4	47	66.6	58	29.0	55T	0.9
	Croatia	42	7.7	6	40.1	55	59.2	41T	40.9	54	1.0
	Estonia	22	13.1	52T	13.7	6	84.8	15	57.0	10T	4.2
	Finland	50	6.6	48	15.0	15	80.4	10	63.0	10T	4.2
	Germany	57	4.7	45T	17.1	17	80.2	8	64.2	14T	3.7
	Greece	49	6.7	36	22.3	24	75.4	53	34.4	42T	1.5
	Hungary	41	7.9	35	23.2	18	71.6	30	50.5	23	2.2
	Ireland	37	9.3	37	19.3	37	79.8	46	38.5	27	2.0
	Italy	56	4.9	41	18.7	25	74.7	57	30.0	38T	1.6
	Latvia	19	14.1	45T	17.1	14	80.5	26	51.4	18T	3.0
	Luxembourg	32	10.2	59	9.3	2	86.2	24	52.2	4	5.6
	Macedonia	52	6.1	1	52.1	60	42.1	59	26.7	60	0.5
	Netherlands	46T	7.2	50	14.7	8	81.8	7	65.3	8	4.5
	Norway	54T	5.7	57	10.6	9	81.5	4	66.4	2	6.3
	Poland	38T	9.2	19	28.1	38T	69.3	34	46.4	33T	1.7
	Portugal	35	9.5	31	24.5	28	73.8	51	35.9	42T	1.5
	Romania	30T	10.8	20T	27.5	38T	69.3	56	33.2	49	1.2
	Slovakia	34	9.6	13	31.1	43	68.4	27	51.3	33T	1.7
	Slovenia	53	5.9	34	23.7	32	73.0	35	44.9	28T	1.9
	Spain	54T	5.7	30	24.8	31	73.5	36	44.5	31T	1.8
	Sweden	46T	7.2	60	9.2	23	76.7	23	52.6	3	5.7
	Switzerland	44T	7.3	58	10.1	3	85.4	6	65.8	1	6.5
	United Kingdom	48	6.9	33	23.9	27	74.3	28	51.2	25T	2.1
	Total		7.8		22.4		73.7		47.5		2.8
North America	Canada	17	14.7	54	13.5	11	81.1	19	55.9	12	4.1
	USA	27	11.9	51	14.3	7	82.2	2	69.0	7	4.8
	Total		13.3		13.9		81.7		62.5		4.5

# Table 6: Ranking of Gender Distribution of TEA, Necessity TEA & Opportunity TEA by Region, GEM 2015

Region	Economy	Male TE of Adult	Male	Female T of Adult F	emale	Male T Opportunit	y (% of	Female Opportunity	y (% of	Male Ti Necessity (%	of TEA	Female Necessity (	% of TEA
		Populat Rank/60		Populat Rank/60	ion) Score	TEA Mal Rank/60	es) Score	TEA Fema Rank/60	score	Males Rank/60	) Score	Femal Rank/60	score
Africa	Botswana	2	36.6	3	30.1	47	68.6	53	54.3	14T	28.2	7	44.0
7.11100	Burkina												
	Faso	5	33.6	4	26.6	26T	77.5	39	66.5	29	22.0	18	33.0
	Cameroon	7	27.2	6	23.6	52	67.1	48	61.0	17	27.2	20	32.5
	Egypt	39	11.1	52	3.7	56T	61.3	57	45.0	4	38.3	3	55.0
	Morocco	57T	6.1	60	2.8	43	70.9	42	65.5	20T	25.4	15	34.5
	Senegal	1	40.5	1	36.8	17	80.5	46	62.9	39	18.0	12	36.2
	South Africa	36T	11.6	35	7.0	48	68.0	47	62.2	10T	30.2	9	37.8
	Tunisia	23	15.0	43	5.3	16	80.8	22	75.1	41	16.9	41T	21.1
	Total		22.7		17.0		71.8		61.6		25.8		36.8
Asia & Oceania	Australia	21	15.5	22T	10.1	2T	87.3	10T	81.7	57	10.6	48	16.0
	China	22	15.3	21	10.2	56T	61.3	33T	69.0	5	37.8	25T	29.8
	India	28	13.6	31	7.9	29	76.9	8T	82.1	31T	20.9	50	15.3
_	Indonesia	17	17.6	14	17.8	11	82.8	16	77.8	43	16.6	38	21.3
	Iran	18	17.5	30	8.5	49T	67.6	38	67.4	12	29.1	29	28.2
	Israel	26	14.4	26	9.3	21	78.8	12	80.4	50	12.8	53	11.9
	Kazakhstan	35	12.0	22T	10.1	45	70.0	36	67.7	18T	26.3	28	28.9
	Korea	41	10.7	32	7.7	35	74.3	23T	75.0	22	24.8	35	23.7
	Lebanon	3	35.7	5	24.6	33	75.3	35	68.0	23	24.7	22	31.2
	Malaysia	60	2.9	57	3.0	5	86.2	4	86.4	49	13.8	51	13.6
	Philippines	24	14.9	11	19.5	19	79.5	32	69.3	34	20.2	25T	29.8
	Taiwan	44T	9.7	47	4.9	1	87.7	14	79.7	53	12.3	43	20.3
	Thailand	32	12.7	17	14.8	6	85.7	17T	77.5	51T	12.5	41T	21.1
	Vietnam	36T	11.6	16	15.5	40T	71.7	52	56.3	13	28.3	8	43.8
	Total		14.6		11.7		77.5		74.2		20.8		23.9
Latin America & Caribbean	Argentina	15	19.9	15	15.8	37	73.2	49	60.7	25T	23.3	11	37.3
	Barbados	10	22.4	10	19.8	8	84.6	20	76.7	55T	11.2	44	19.5
	Brazil	13	21.6	9	20.3	51	67.2	56	45.3	9	32.0	4	54.2
	Chile	6	29.7	8	22.1	34	75.0	51	57.2	37	18.8	16	34.0
	Colombia	8	27.1	13	18.5	53	66.5	43	64.3	8	32.1	14	34.9
	Ecuador	4	34.3	2	32.8	40T	71.7	40	65.8	16	27.7	17	33.5
	Guatemala	11T	21.9	18	13.9	58	60.5	59	43.4	3	38.7	2	56.0
	Mexico	9	23.0	12	19.2	13T	82.4	23T	75.0	46	15.6	37	22.5
	Panama	29	13.5	20	12.1	59	52.6	55	51.2	2	44.4	5	46.3
	Peru	11T	21.9	7	22.5	23	78.6	37	67.6	33	20.6	27	29.6
	Puerto Rico	43	10.0	34	7.1	30T	75.9	30	71.0	28	23.1	30	27.6
	Uruguay	14	20.1	28	9.1	13T	82.4	19	77.1	45	15.8	36	22.9
	Total		22.1		17.8		72.6		62.9		25.3		34.9

## Table 6: Continued

		Male TE	EA (%	Female T	<b>EA (</b> %	Male T	EA	Female	TEA	Male T	EA	Female	TEA
Region	Economy	of Adult		of Adult F		Opportunit		Opportunit		Necessity (%		Necessity (	
		Populat Rank/60	· · ,	Populat Rank/60	Score	TEA Ma Rank/60	Score	TEA Fem Rank/60	Score	Males Rank/60	Score	Fema Rank/60	Score
Europe	Belgium	52T	7.5	45T	5.0	44	70.5	58	44.6	31T	20.9	10	37.5
	Bulgaria	59	4.0	58T	2.9	54	64.8	33T	69.0	7	35.2	23	31.0
	Croatia	44T	9.7	41	5.7	55	62.3	54	53.9	6	36.5	6	46.1
	Estonia	19	16.6	25	9.7	10	83.6	3	86.7	47	15.2	56	11.2
	Finland	49	8.9	50	4.2	9	84.5	29	71.6	54	12.2	39T	21.2
	Germany	57T	6.1	55T	3.3	12	82.5	21	76.1	44	16.0	45	19.3
	Greece	52T	7.5	38T	6.0	26T	77.5	26	72.6	30	21.1	34	23.8
	Hungary	30T	10.4	40	5.5	22	78.7	2	58.6	24	19.4	24	30.3
	Ireland	42	13.0	42	5.8	30T	75.9	50	88.3	36	24.1	59	8.8
	Italy	55	6.9	58T	2.9	42	71.5	8T	82.1	35	20.0	49	15.6
	Latvia	16	18.6	24	9.8	15	80.9	13	79.8	40	17.0	46	17.4
	Luxembourg	36T	11.6	29	8.7	4	87.0	6	85.1	60	7.6	55	11.6
	Macedonia	50	8.6	53T	3.5	60	42.6	60	41.0	1	50.2	1	56.7
	Netherlands	40	10.9	53T	3.5	24	78.5	1	92.1	42	16.8	60	7.9
	Norway	52T	7.5	51	3.8	20	79.0	5	86.3	55T	11.2	58	9.5
	Poland	33	12.5	38T	6.0	38T	72.1	45	63.5	18T	26.3	21	31.6
	Portugal	34	12.4	36	6.7	18	79.6	44	63.7	38	18.4	13	35.1
	Romania	27	14.2	33	7.5	49T	67.6	27	72.4	14T	28.2	32	26.4
	Slovakia	30T	13.0	37	6.5	46	69.8	41	65.7	10T	30.2	19	32.8
	Slovenia	51	8.4	55T	3.3	36	73.3	28	72.0	27	23.2	33	24.9
	Spain	56	6.4	45T	5.0	32	75.8	31	70.6	25T	23.3	31	26.7
	Sweden	47	9.4	48T	4.8	26T	77.5	25	74.9	58	8.8	57	10.1
	Switzerland	46	9.5	44	5.1	2T	87.3	10T	81.7	59	8.4	52	13.2
	United Kingdom	48	9.1	48T	4.8	38T	72.1	15	78.4	20T	25.4	39T	21.2
	Total		10.1		5.4		74.8		72.1		21.5		23.7
North America	Canada	20	16.0	19	13.5	25	78.4	7	84.3	48	15.1	54	11.7
	USA	25	14.6	27	9.2	7	85.3	17T	77.5	51T	12.5	47	17.2
	Total		15.3		11.3		81.8		80.9		13.8		14.4

# Table 7: Ranking of TEA by Age Group. by Region, GEM 2015

Region	Economy	18 - 24	4 Years	25 -34	Years	35 - 44	4 Years	45 -54	Years	55 -64	Years
		Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score
Africa	Botswana	4	25.7	2	40.8	2	36.8	3	33.7	2	26.0
	Burkina Faso	1T	27.9	4	35.4	5T	30.7	7	24.9	5	21.4
	Cameroon	10	19.2	7	29.0	7	29.2	5	27.5	7	19.1
	Egypt	44	6.0	44T	9.7	46	8.8	49	5.9	41T	4.6
	Morocco	55T	2.9	57	6.1	55	6.6	59	2.9	58	1.3
	Senegal	5	25.4	1	45.3	1	46.2	1	45.6	1	32.5
	South Africa	43	6.3	40	10.9	31	12.3	37T	8.0	29	6.8
	Tunisia	42	6.5	27	14.9	38	10.1	27T	10.6	43T	4.4
	Total		15.0		24.0		22.6		19.9		14.5
Asia & Oceania	Australia	25T	10.2	26	15.3	22T	16.4	20	13.2	28	7.0
	China	24	10.9	22	17.7	24	16.3	22	12.6	35	5.8
	India	34	8.7	37	11.5	32	12.2	24	12.1	20T	9.3
	Indonesia	15	14.9	16	21.2	15T	19.2	17	15.0	12	13.7
	Iran	21T	12.1	24	16.3	28	14.2	33	9.5	30	6.4
	Israel	37	7.7	29T	13.8	26	15.7	26	10.7	18T	9.5
	Kazakhstan	27T	10.1	25	15.9	49	8.2	27T	10.6	24T	7.6
	Korea	59	2.2	58	4.6	44T	8.9	16	15.7	15	11.5
	Lebanon	3	26.7	5	31.9	4	35.2	4	31.4	4	25.6
	Malaysia	58	2.3	60	3.3	60	3.5	60	2.7	54	2.6
	Philippines	35	8.6	18	18.6	13	21.1	9	21.1	8	17.9
	Taiwan	27T	10.1	36	12.0	51	7.7	56	4.2	51	3.3
	Thailand	31T	9.0	20	18.0	20T	16.7	25	11.5	20T	9.3
	Vietnam	19	12.8	21	17.8	22T	16.4	37T	8.0	23	8.4
	Total		10.4		15.6		15.1		12.7		9.9
Latin America & Caribbean	Argentina	17	14.6	13	23.3	14	20.9	14	17.1	22	9.2
	Barbados	7	21.9	8	27.5	10	24.3	11	19.1	16	9.9
	Brazil	8	20.8	10	26.2	11	22.7	13	17.3	13	13.2
	Chile	12	17.2	6	30.8	5T	30.7	6	26.2	6	21.0
	Colombia	9	20.3	12	23.9	8	27.5	8	23.2	9	15.5
	Ecuador	1T	27.9	3	38.9	3	35.5	2	35.1	3	25.8
	Guatemala	13	16.4	17	21.0	17	18.1	15	16.3	14	11.9
	Mexico	20	12.7	9	26.8	9	25.6	10	20.2	11	14.7
	Panama	29T	9.9	28	14.2	27	14.5	19	13.6	17	9.8
	Peru	6	23.9	11	25.6	12	22.1	12	18.5	10	15.2
	Puerto Rico	40T	6.7	38T	11.4	35T	10.6	35	8.6	45	4.3
	Uruguay	23	11.6	19	18.4	15T	19.2	21	13.1	31T	6.2
	Total		17.0		24.0		22.6		19.0		13.1

## Table 7: Continued

Region	Economy	18 - 24	4 Years	25 -34	Years	35 - 44	4 Years	45 -54	Years	55 -64	Years
		Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score
Europe	Belgium	52T	3.4	43	9.9	43	9.0	53T	5.0	53	2.9
	Bulgaria	50	4.4	59	3.8	59	4.9	58	3.8	59	0.9
	Croatia	36	8.0	41	10.8	37	10.5	47	6.4	52	3.0
	Estonia	16	14.7	15	21.5	19	17.1	43T	7.3	41T	4.6
	Finland	48	5.2	49	8.6	39T	9.7	52	5.2	43T	4.4
	Germany	49	4.6	56	6.3	58	5.0	50	5.4	56T	2.0
	Greece	55T	2.9	51T	7.3	53	6.9	31	9.9	36	5.7
	Hungary	31T	6.7	42	10.3	41	9.2	23	7.8	24T	5.0
	Ireland	40T	9.0	50	8.4	42	9.1	41	12.5	39	7.6
	Italy	45	5.9	55	6.8	57	5.1	57	3.9	50	3.4
	Latvia	14	16.0	14	22.3	18	17.6	32	9.6	46T	4.2
	Luxembourg	31T	9.0	35	12.1	33T	11.4	30	10.0	27	7.2
	Macedonia	47	5.3	47	9.1	47	8.7	51	5.3	60	0.7
	Netherlands	39	7.3	44T	9.7	50	7.8	45	7.2	46T	4.2
	Norway	60	0.0	51T	7.3	56	6.4	42	7.6	38	5.2
	Poland	29T	9.9	32	13.1	35T	10.6	36	8.3	48	3.9
	Portugal	38	7.5	34	12.2	33T	11.4	34	9.0	33T	6.0
	Romania	18	14.2	31	13.6	29	14.0	48	6.0	31T	6.2
	Slovakia	21T	12.1	33	12.7	30	12.8	43T	7.3	49	3.5
	Slovenia	57	2.8	38T	11.4	54	6.8	53T	5.0	56T	2.0
	Spain	52T	3.4	54	7.1	48	8.4	53T	5.0	55	2.2
	Sweden	46	5.6	46	9.3	52	7.3	46	7.0	33T	6.0
	Switzerland	54	3.1	48	8.8	39T	9.7	39T	7.9	40	4.9
	United Kingdom	51	3.9	51T	7.3	44T	8.9	39T	7.9	37	5.4
	Total		6.9		10.4		9.5		7.1		4.2
North America	Canada	11	18.2	23	16.6	25	15.8	18	14.5	18T	9.5
	USA	25T	10.2	29T	13.8	20T	16.7	27T	10.6	26	7.4
	Total		14.2		15.2		16.3		12.5		8.4

Personal/ Consumer Services	Score	3.2	0.1	0.2	4.3	0.0	0.4	1.6	1.5	1.4	2.5	1.2	0.2	0.0	1.1	0.5	0.9	1.7	1.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.5	1.1	0.8
Pers Cons Ser	60	20	55	53T	11T	56T	52	32	33T		26T	37T	53T	56T	41T	49T	46T	30T	41T	56T	56T	56T	49T	41T	
Health. Education. Government and Social Services	Score	7.7	3.9	11.6	8.5	11.4	7.4	16.8	8.5	9.5	21.9	11.0	10.0	5.1	12.5	18.3	17.6	13.6	12.5	14.5	2.9	14.2	6.6	5.2	11.9
He Educ Govel and Ser	60	51	59	38	49T	39	52	20T	49T		7	41	44	57	36T	14	16	30	36T	26	60	27T	53	56	
strative ices	Score	3.4	0.1	1.5	1.0	0.9	1.8	2.5	5.7	2.1	3.9	0.9	0.8	2.8	1.5	3.9	3.6	2.8	1.9	3.5	0.6	2.8	1.9	1.1	2.3
Administrative Services	60	31	60	49T	54	55T	47T	39	7		20T	55T	57	34T	49T	20T	26T	34T	45T	30	58	34T	45T	53	
Professional Services	Score	2.2	0.0	0.9	0.8	2.3	0.2	3.1	7.3	2.1	12.2	0.4	0.2	0.5	4.8	17.6	5.9	5.1	2.6	3.0	0.0	9.9	0.6	0.7	4.5
Profes Serv	60	47	59T	51	52	46	57T	39	29		13T	56	57T	55	35	4	32	34	42T	40T	59T	23	54	53	
Finance	Score	2.0	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.0	1.5	2.5	0.6	0.9	4.5	5.1	0.3	0.9	2.7	5.8	0.8	2.8	0.5	7.1	0.9	2.1	1.5	0.0	2.5
Ein	60	32T	52T	52T	48T	55T	36T	26T	47		10	7	50T	39T	20T	വ	42T	18T	48T	ო	39T	31	36T	55T	
ion/ ations ogy	Score	3.0	0.0	3.1	0.2	0.0	0.2	1.0	2.4	1.2	4.9	1.8	0.2	0.1	4.5	7.8	0.4	5.7	0.4	0.0	1.2	0.7	0.1	1.5	2.1
Information/ Communications Technology	60	29T	58T	27T	51T	58T	51T	43T	32		20	34T	51T	55T	23	9Т	48T	16	48T	58T	40T	45T	55T	37T	
ssale/ ail	Score	46.9	60.8	45.6	53.6	59.7	54.7	50.4	28.0	50.0	26.7	62.2	37.2	73.0	37.2	25.1	46.6	51.1	64.3	64.4	82.4	56.6	71.2	71.2	54.9
"Wholesale/ Retail	60	24	13	26	18	14	17	21	41		44	11	32T	ო	32T	46	25	19	6	ø	⊣	16	4Τ	4Τ	
tation	Score	3.7	1.2	4.3	1.7	6.7	3.8	5.1	1.0	3.4	3.1	3.6	2.1	1.2	3.3	0.5	3.3	5.1	1.5	1.5	0.9	0.7	1.1	3.0	2.2
Transportation	60	17	53T	11	46	0	16	9Т	56		24T	18T	41T	53T	22T	60	22T	9Т	48T	48T	57	58T	55	26T	
Manufacturing	Score	4.8	6.6	7.0	21.9	12.7	6.9	3.6	10.0	9.2	4.6	4.5	3.5	10.0	19.3	14.4	5.6	8.6	9.1	1.8	2.0	5.8	3.1	8.1	7.2
Manufa	60	48T	36T	32	H	10	33T	53	15T		51	52	54	15T	0	9	44T	24	21T	59	58	42T	56	25	
Mining	Score	5.1	3.3	3.6	0.7	3.2	2.5	6.3	25.5	6.3	11.5	5.9	3.2	1.5	7.9	4.1	3.8	0.6	1.9	3.0	0.1	5.7	2.9	0.4	3.8
Ξ	60	30T	40T	39	55	42T	51	21T	H		വ	25T	42T	54	15	34	36T	56	53	45T	60	28	48T	58.T	
Agriculture	Score	18.0	23.7	22.1	6.6	3.1	20.5	7.2	9.6	13.9	4.1	3.3	42.4	4.8	5.2	2.2	11.4	2.8	4.1	1.2	8.9	1.4	10.4	7.7	7.9
Agric	60	9	ო	4	26	42T	ഹ	24	14T		35T	40	-	31	29	50T	11	46	35T	60	16	57T	13	21	
Economy		Botswana	Burkina Faso	Cameroon	Egypt	Morocco	Senegal	South Africa	Tunisia	Total	Australia	China	India	Indonesia	Iran	Israel	Kazakhstan	Korea	Lebanon	Malaysia	Philippines	Taiwan	Thailand	Vietnam	Total
Region		Africa									Asia & Oceania														

Table 8: Ranking of Industry Distribution of TEA by Region, GEM 2015 (Rank=60)

_
$\circ$
Ð
5
=
÷
-
$\mathcal{L}$
$\circ$
õ
00
d)
<u> </u>
ρ
<b></b>

Personal/ Consumer Services	Score	2.9	3.8	1.7	2.5	2.9	1.2	1.3	1.0	1.2	3.8	1.1	6.0	2.4	6.7	1.5	2.3	6.5	3.0	4.9	0.8	1.2	4.6
Pers Cons Serv	60	22T	13T	30T	26T	22T	37T	35T	45	37T	13T	41T	വ		ო	33T	28T	4	21	7	48	თ	37T
Health. Education. Government and Social Services	Score	12.9	17.2	22.5	9.4	10.1	5.6	4.8	8.7	13.0	6.0	13.8	13.5	11.4	21.1	16.6	16.8	9.3	22.4	29.0	13.3	14.2	16.4
Hex Educ Gover and 3	60	35	17T	4	45	42T	55	58	48	34	54	29	31T		∞	22	20T	46	വ	⊣	33	23	27T
trative ces	Score	3.6	4.8	1.2	3.6	3.6	2.6	2.4	0.4	2.8	2.0	4.3	3.3	2.9	2.3	3.1	5.6	5.3	6.2	3.8	5.9	4.0	3.8
Administrative Services	60	26T	15	51T	26T	26Т	38	40T	59	34T	44	17	32		42	33	ø	11	വ	23T	9	18T	23T
Professional Services	Score	10.8	2.6	3.5	7.8	11.2	1.7	2.4	2.4	1.2	4.7	1.1	6.8	4.7	12.2	3.0	10.7	11.7	14.7	10.0	8.3	4.5	14.0
Profes	60	20	42T	38	28	17	48	44T	44.T	49	36	50	30T		13T	40T	21	15	ი	22	27	11	37
Finance	Score	2.7	0.7	0.9	3.3	3.0	0.3	0.8	0.1	0.8	0.0	0.0	1.6	1.2	1.6	0.0	3.0	2.0	3.9	5.5	3.8	3.4	2.6
Ë	60	20T	45T	39T	15	16T	50T	42T	54	42T	55T	55T	34T		34T	55T	16T	32T	11T	ဖ	13	14	23T
ion/ ations ogy	Score	1.8	2.7	0.2	4.1	3.0	1.2	1.3	1.1	0.4	0.1	0.5	6.7	1.9	12.8	3.1	4.2	8.5	6.9	7.5	1.5	0.7	10.0
Information/ Communications Technology	60	34T	31	51T	25	29T	40T	39	42	48T	55T	47	14		2	27T	24	6Т	13	11	37T	3Т	45T
sale/ ail	Score	50.7	43.0	39.3	48.4	39.2	74.7	70.7	71.2	57.5	61.9	62.8	35.3	54.6	23.4	47.1	21.0	22.7	13.2	20.4	41.8	36.0	28.3
"Wholesale/ Retail	60	20	27	30	22	31	С	7	4T	15	12	10	36		49	23	52	50	60	54	29	35	40
tation	Score	2.1	2.6	2.3	5.2	4.0	1.5	2.1	3.5	9.4	4.0	1.5	5.2	3.6	5.6	6.0	1.9	5.3	0.7	1.5	2.3	2.8	2.5
Transportation	60	41T	35T	38T	7T	13T	48T	41T	20T	4	13T	48T	7T		വ	ო	44	9	58T	48T	38T	28T	37
Manufacturing	Score	8.7	10.0	16.1	6.8	16.1	4.9	9.3	9.8	4.7	6.5	9.3	10.1	9.4	6.4	9.1	14.1	12.6	6.9	7.5	7.2	7.6	4.8
Manufa	60	23	15T	4T	35	4T	47	19T	18	50	38	19T	14		39	21T	7	11	33T	30	31	29	48T
Mining	Score	2.3	5.9	10.7	6.9	3.0	0.5	2.9	0.4	7.1	3.3	3.0	8.9	4.6	4.9	6.1	3.9	8.9	13.6	6.7	3.1	13.5	8.2
Ē	60	52	25T	თ	19	45T	57	48T	58T	18	40T	45T	10T		32	24	35	10T	ო	20	44	4	14
Agriculture	Score	1.5	6.8	1.4	2.0	4.1	5.7	1.9	1.4	2.0	7.6	2.7	2.6	3.3	3.1	4.6	16.5	7.3	8.4	3.1	12.1	12.0	4.9
Agrio	60	56	25	57T	52T	35T	27	54	57T	52T	22	47	48T		42T	33	ø	23	19	42T	თ	30	10
Economy		Argentina	Barbados	Brazil	Chile	Colombia	Ecuador	Guatemala	Mexico	Panama	Peru	Puerto Rico	Uruguay	Total	Belgium	Bulgaria	Croatia	Estonia	Finland	Germany	Greece	Hungary	Ireland
Region		Latin America & Caribbean													Europe								

nal∕ umer ices	Score	3.4	3.7	4.7	3.7	7.2	9.0	2.3	2.7	1.3	0.5	3.6	2.9	5.6	0.9	3.3	3.6	4.5	4.3	4.4
Personal/ Consumer Services	60	18	15T	00	15T	С	-	28T	25	35T	49T	17	22T	9	46T	19		10	11T	
Health. Education. Government and Social Services	Score	20.4	11.1	17.2	10.1	18.2	15.8	19.0	19.0	9.1	14.8	24.5	13.5	17.1	27.2	19.4	17.3	22.2	19.7	21.0
He Educ Gover and : Sen	09	ത	40	17Т	42T	15	24	12T	12T	47	25	ო	31T	19	2	11		Q	<del>1</del> 0	
Administrative Services	Score	9.0	4.6	4.0	5.4	6.5	2.4	3.9	5.1	3.7	8.2	1.8	4.9	1.2	5.5	6.9	4.7	2.1	5.1	3.6
	60	⊣	16	18T	10	4	40T	20T	12T	25	2	47T	14	51T	თ	ო		43	12T	
Professional Services	Score	10.9	9.0	16.7	5.4	18.9	21.5	11.1	9.1	6.8	11.5	8.7	14.1	15.6	18.9	16.1	11.8	12.5	14.9	13.7
Profe Sei	09	19	25	വ	33	2T	Ч	18	24	30T	16	26	10	2	2T	9		12	ø	
Finance	Score	0.7	1.4	8.9	0.0	3.9	4.6	2.2	2.5	2.3	10.9	2.6	2.2	2.8	2.7	2.6	3.2	4.7	6.7	5.7
Ë	<b>0</b> 9	45T	38	2	55T	11T	ი	29T	26T	28	4	23T	29T	18T	20T	23T		00	4	
ntion/ cations ology	Score	1.0	4.8	9.4	1.6	4.7	8.5	7.8	1.9	5.2	3.8	7.1	8.3	13.4	5.4	10.0	6.2	5.4	6.1	5.7
Information/ Communications Technology	60	43T	21	വ	36	22	6Т	9Т	33	19	26	12	œ	ᠳ	17T	ЗТ		17T	15	
"Wholesale/ Retail	Score	31.3	24.0	27.4	33.3	18.6	14.1	19.9	42.1	30.4	20.8	20.2	37.2	26.3	16.1	22.5	26.6	27.5	24.0	25.8
Whol Re	60	38	47T	43	37	57	59	56	28	39	53	55	32T	45	58	51		42	47T	
rtation	Score	2.3	5.8	3.1	2.7	2.6	1.6	3.9	3.0	3.6	2.7	3.5	2.8	2.7	2.8	4.1	3.2	1.8	2.8	2.3
Transportation	09	38T	4	24T	32T	35T	47	15	26T	18T	32T	20T	28T	32T	28T	12		45	28T	
ncturing	Score	8.0	13.8	2.7	17.1	3.2	7.9	7.9	5.9	5.1	11.5	13.2	5.8	1.6	10.7	6.1	8.2	6.6	5.6	6.1
Manufacturir	60	26	ø	57	ო	55	27T	27T	41	46	12	ი	42T	60	13	40		36T	44T	
Mining	Score	5.1	11.3	2.6	3.8	10.8	5.9	19.9	6.2	8.3	10.9	5.2	3.7	4.7	6.3	7.4	7.5	8.0	7.8	8.3
Σ	09	30T	ဖ	50	36T	ø	25T	С	23	13	2	29	38	33	21T	17		12	16	
Agriculture	Score	7.9	10.6	3.2	17.1	5.4	8.7	2.2	2.6	24.0	4.4	9.6	4.7	8.8	3.5	1.8	7.8	3.9	3.0	3.5
Agı	<b>0</b> 9	20	12	41	7	28	18	50T	48T	ы	34	14T	32	17	39	55		38	45	
Economy		Italy	Latvia	Luxembourg	Macedonia	Netherlands	Norway	Poland	Portugal	Romania	Slovakia	Slovenia	Spain	Sweden	Switzerland	United Kingdom	Total	Canada	NSA	Total
Region																		North America		

Table 8: Continued

Africa       Bit         Africa       Bit         Image: Signal Signa	Economy	0 jobs in 5 y	ears (% TEA)	<b>1</b> – 5 jobs in 5	years (% TEA)	6 or more jobs ir	1 5 years (% TEA)
		Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score
Africa	Botswana	53	26.2	17	42.2	9Т	31.7
	Burkina Faso	60	5.6	1	81.4	41	13.0
	Cameroon	12T	52.1	39	34.5	40	13.3
	Egypt	14	51.4	58	22.8	19T	25.7
	Morocco	24	45.5	27	38.0	35	16.5
	Senegal	46	32.0	11	45.3	23	22.7
	South Africa	51	29.8	13	44.5	19T	25.7
	Tunisia	58	19.0	18	40.9	3	40.1
	Total		32.7		43.7		23.6
Asia & Oceania	Australia	50	31.0	20T	39.9	15	29.1
	China	44	32.4	44	32.6	5	35.0
	India	6	59.9	30	36.6	58	3.5
	Indonesia	5	60.7	31T	36.2	59	3.1
	Iran	10	54.3	56	25.1	27	20.6
	Israel	21	47.0	48	29.4	22	23.6
	Kazakhstan	29	41.0	57	24.7	6	34.4
	Korea	39	37.9	10	46.5	39	15.6
	Lebanon	28	41.9	9	47.0	45	11.2
	Malaysia	33	40.1	6	51.4	53	8.6
	Philippines	30T	40.5	8	49.3	46	10.2
	Taiwan	47	31.9	55	26.3	2	41.8
	Thailand	2	68.9	59	22.4	51	8.8
	Vietnam	19T	48.0	16	42.5	49	9.5
	Total		45.4		36.4		18.2
_atin America & Caribbean	Argentina	40	37.0	14	44.2	32	18.8
ounoocun	Barbados	23	45.6	15	42.6	43	11.8
	Brazil	7T	57.0	31T	36.2	55	6.8
	Chile	56	21.1	12	45.2	7	33.6
	Colombia	59	11.3	40	34.3	1	54.3
	Ecuador	54	26.1	3	64.7	50	9.3
	Guatemala	57	19.2	2	68.9	42	11.9
	Mexico	16T	50.3	22T	39.6	47	10.1
	Panama	19T	48.0	7	50.0	60	2.0
	Peru	49	31.1	5	52.9	37	16.0
	Puerto Rico	42	33.1	4	57.1	48	9.8
	Uruguay	41	35.7	26	38.4	18	25.9
	Total		34.6		47.8		17.5

## Table 9: Ranking of Job Creation Expectations of TEA by Region, 2015

## Table 9: Continued

Region	Economy	0 jobs in 5 y	ears (% TEA)	1 – 5 jobs in 5	years (% TEA)	6 or more jobs ir	1 5 years (% TEA)
		Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score	Rank/60	Score
Europe	Belgium	25	44.6	33	35.9	29	19.5
	Bulgaria	1	72.4	60	20.3	54	7.3
	Croatia	52	29.6	20T	39.9	13	30.4
	Estonia	45	32.3	28	37.6	14	30.0
	Finland	26	43.1	25	38.7	33	18.2
	Germany	36	39.4	22T	39.6	25T	21.0
	Greece	4	63.7	45T	31.9	57	4.3
	Hungary	35	39.9	36	28.6	11T	31.4
	Ireland	48	31.5	52	35.5	8	33.0
	Italy	3	66.0	51	28.9	56	5.0
	Latvia	37	39.2	49	29.3	11T	31.4
	Luxembourg	11	53.7	37	35.0	44	11.3
	Macedonia	30T	40.5	29	37.3	24	22.2
	Netherlands	15	50.7	53	28.3	25T	21.0
	Norway	7T	57.0	54	27.2	38	15.8
	Poland	32	40.2	41	33.7	17	26.1
	Portugal	27	42.7	19	40.2	34	17.1
	Romania	55	25.6	38	34.7	4	39.8
	Slovakia	38	38.3	42	33.2	16	28.5
	Slovenia	22	46.5	43	33.1	28	20.5
	Spain	12T	52.1	24	39.2	52	8.7
	Sweden	9	54.9	50	29.0	36	16.1
	Switzerland	18	48.8	45T	31.9	30	19.3
	United Kingdom	16T	50.3	47	30.8	31	19.0
	Total		46.0		33.3		20.7
North America	Canada	34	40.0	34T	35.8	21	24.2
	USA	43	32.5	34T	35.8	9Т	31.7
	Total		36.2		35.8		28.0

## Table 10: Innovation Levels of TEA by Region

Region	Economy	Innovation (product is new to all businesses offer t	
		Rank/60	Score
Africa	Botswana	39	20.3
	Burkina Faso	57	11.6
	Cameroon	52	14.8
	Egypt	36	22.3
	Morocco	55	12.6
	Senegal	60	8.2
	South Africa	21	30.1
	Tunisia	15	32.2
	Total		19.0
Asia & Oceania	Australia	17	31.7
	China	31	25.8
	India	2	51.1
	Indonesia	46	17.3
	Iran	56	12.1
	Israel	19	30.8
	Kazakhstan	44	18.4
	Korea	18	31.3
	Lebanon	8	38.4
	Malaysia	58	10.4
	Philippines	16	31.8
	Taiwan	49	16.7
	Thailand	42	19.0
	Vietnam	50	16.5
	Total		25.1
Latin America & Caribbean	Argentina	37	22.2
	Barbados	54	13.7
	Brazil	40T	19.7
	Chile	1	54.4
	Colombia	23	29.7
	Ecuador	26	27.8
	Guatemala	9	37.1
	Mexico	45	18.3
	Panama	24	28.1
	Peru	51	15.9
	Puerto Rico	32	24.3
	Uruguay	28	27.0
	Total		26.5

Table 10: Continued

Region	Economy	Innovation (product is new to all businesses offer t	or some customers AND few/no he same product)
		Rank/60	Score
Europe	Belgium	5	39.7
	Bulgaria	59	8.6
	Croatia	48	16.9
	Estonia	6	39.5
	Finland	40T	19.7
	Germany	13	34.2
	Greece	33	24.0
	Hungary	43	18.6
	Ireland	4	44.8
	Italy	25	28.0
	Latvia	30	26.3
	Luxembourg	3	48.5
	Macedonia	47	17.0
	Netherlands	29	26.4
	Norway	53	14.0
	Poland	35	22.4
	Portugal	27	27.2
	Romania	22	30.0
	Slovakia	38	20.7
	Slovenia	20	30.7
	Spain	34	23.9
	Sweden	14	32.7
	Switzerland	7	38.5
	United Kingdom	11T	36.0
	Total		27.9
North America	Canada	10	36.1
	USA	11T	36.0
	Total		36.1

	Stage	1	2a	2b	3	4a	4b	5	6	7a	7b	8	9
Botswana	2	4.1	4.2	4.1	4.1	4.2	4.9	3.8	4.2	4.9	3.5	5.0	4.7
Burkina Faso	1	3.6	3.7	4.7	4.0	1.9	4.6	2.9	4.9	4.4	3.8	4.8	4.7
Cameroon	1	3.6	4.5	3.8	4.4	3.0	4.7	3.6	5.2	4.1	4.0	5.1	4.7
Egypt	3	3.5	3.3	3.1	3.3	1.6	3.1	2.9	4.2	5.1	3.8	6.3	3.8
Morocco	3	4.3	3.6	3.6	3.8	1.8	3.3	3.1	5.0	4.7	3.7	7.0	3.7
Senegal	1	3.6	4.1	4.9	4.1	1.8	3.9	2.4	5.3	3.3	3.9	6.4	3.8
South Africa	3	4.0	4.1	3.1	3.0	3.1	4.2	3.4	4.9	4.5	3.9	5.9	3.4
Tunisia	3	4.2	4.1	2.7	3.6	1.7	3.4	2.8	5.8	6.9	2.9	6.7	4.1
Africa		3.8	3.9	3.7	3.8	2.4	4.0	3.1	4.9	4.7	3.7	5.9	4.1
Australia	5	4.0	3.7	4.2	4.2	3.7	4.2	3.7	5.1	4.7	4.7	6.5	4.8
China	3	4.9	5.8	4.4	4.4	2.6	5.0	4.1	4.3	7.2	4.3	6.9	5.0
India	1	5.7	5.5	3.9	4.5	4.1	5.1	4.3	5.0	5.7	4.8	6.2	5.5
Indonesia	3	4.9	5.1	4.4	4.8	4.4	5.9	4.9	4.8	6.2	4.6	5.2	5.8
Iran	2	3.3	3.8	3.3	2.1	2.8	3.4	3.0	2.8	5.9	3.1	6.6	3.7
Israel	5	5.1	3.7	2.5	3.9	3.0	4.3	4.4	5.6	4.1	3.5	6.4	7.4
Kazakhstan	4	3.6	5.3	4.5	4.3	3.5	4.3	3.1	4.8	6.0	4.1	5.9	5.0
Korea. Republic of	5	3.9	5.8	4.6	5.0	2.8	4.0	3.6	4.0	7.3	3.3	7.0	4.9
Lebanon	4	5.2	3.3	4.1	4.2	4.3	4.9	4.2	5.6	4.4	4.2	4.4	6.3
Malaysia	4	5.8	5.2	5.2	5.6	4.1	5.2	4.9	5.6	6.1	4.7	7.2	5.8
Philippines	2	5.1	3.9	2.9	3.6	5.0	6.3	4.1	5.2	6.1	4.1	5.5	5.7
Taiwan	5	4.7	4.4	4.5	4.1	2.9	4.2	4.1	4.4	5.8	4.2	7.3	4.8
Thailand	3	4.2	4.0	4.0	3.7	3.6	4.3	3.9	4.8	6.4	4.1	6.4	5.5
Vietnam	1	3.5	4.3	4.6	3.5	2.5	4.2	3.9	4.7	6.1	4.2	6.9	5.4
Asia & Oceania		4.6	4.6	4.0	4.1	3.4	4.7	4.1	4.7	5.9	4.1	6.3	5.3
Argentina	4	3.1	3.0	1.9	3.7	3.0	4.8	3.7	4.7	5.6	3.8	5.8	4.9
Barbados	4	3.1	3.7	2.5	3.5	2.6	4.5	2.9	4.8	4.4	3.6	6.1	4.3
Brazil	4	3.9	3.7	2.2	3.4	2.1	3.8	2.9	4.2	5.0	3.5	4.7	3.9
Chile	4	3.5	4.6	5.4	5.4	2.4	4.9	3.5	4.7	3.4	3.8	7.5	5.1
Colombia	3	3.2	3.8	3.4	4.3	2.9	5.3	3.5	4.1	4.1	4.2	6.2	5.2
Ecuador	3	3.4	4.7	3.2	4.4	3.7	6.2	3.7	4.9	3.7	4.2	7.6	5.8
Guatemala	3	2.8	2.6	3.2	3.3	2.1	4.6	2.8	4.2	3.2	3.3	6.1	4.3
Mexico	4	4.0	4.8	3.7	5.1	2.6	5.4	4.1	4.7	5.4	3.6	6.3	5.0
Panama	4	3.3	2.7	5.5	3.7	1.9	3.7	3.2	4.4	4.2	4.4	7.1	5.2
Peru	3	3.0	3.1	3.0	3.7	3.0	5.0	3.0	3.7	3.8	3.8	5.6	5.0
Puerto Rico	5	3.3	4.1	2.2	3.3	2.0	4.2	2.9	4.6	4.3	3.7	5.5	3.8
Uruguay	4	3.7	3.4	3.7	5.1	2.0	4.6	4.2	5.1	3.2	4.1	6.2	3.6
Latin America & Caribbean		3.4	3.7	3.3	4.1	2.5	4.8	3.4	4.5	4.2	3.8	6.2	4.7

 Table 11: Entrepreneurial framework conditions, by region, 2015 (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient. 9 = highly sufficient)

#### Table 11: Continued

	Stage	1	2a	2b	3	4a	4b	5	6	7a	7b	8	9
Belgium	5	5.3	6.5	3.2	4.8	3.1	5.4	4.6	6.2	4.8	5.1	6.4	4.1
Bulgaria	3	4.4	2.9	4.8	3.4	2.6	4.2	3.6	5.2	3.6	3.9	6.8	3.5
Croatia	4	3.3	2.8	2.0	3.2	1.9	3.5	2.9	4.3	6.1	3.0	6.5	2.6
Estonia	5	4.9	3.8	4.9	4.9	4.2	4.8	4.5	5.2	5.2	5.1	7.5	5.7
Finland	5	4.3	5.4	4.9	4.6	3.9	4.2	3.9	5.7	5.4	4.6	7.6	4.5
Germany	5	4.3	4.3	3.9	5.6	2.7	4.1	4.0	5.9	4.5	5.2	6.4	4.2
Greece	5	3.0	2.9	2.3	2.8	2.7	4.6	3.8	4.5	5.0	3.1	6.1	3.6
Hungary	4	4.0	2.7	2.4	3.2	2.3	4.3	3.6	4.4	5.5	3.8	6.1	3.2
Ireland	5	5.4	4.9	4.8	5.9	3.6	4.9	4.6	6.1	3.9	5.2	6.8	5.4
Italy	5	4.0	3.1	2.4	3.3	3.0	4.3	3.9	4.3	4.3	4.2	5.1	3.5
Japan	5	4.2	5.0	3.7	4.1	2.3	4.2	4.5	3.5	6.5	4.3	6.9	3.8
Latvia	4	4.5	3.7	3.8	4.7	4.0	5.4	3.5	6.1	4.8	4.5	6.7	4.8
Luxembourg	5	4.1	5.3	5.6	6.0	3.5	5.4	5.4	6.0	3.8	5.5	6.8	4.1
Macedonia	3	4.0	4.0	4.6	4.4	3.6	4.9	4.1	5.1	5.7	3.7	6.5	4.1
Netherlands	5	5.7	5.4	5.8	5.8	4.9	5.6	5.1	5.9	5.0	6.0	7.4	5.7
Norway	5	4.2	3.7	4.3	4.4	4.1	4.1	4.2	5.5	5.2	4.2	6.8	4.7
Poland	4	4.7	4.6	3.4	4.6	2.5	3.9	3.5	4.5	6.4	4.6	6.8	4.4
Portugal	5	4.7	5.0	5.8	4.7	5.6	4.7	5.3	4.6	5.4	5.0	3.5	5.2
Romania	3	3.4	3.6	3.5	3.8	3.9	4.5	3.7	6.0	4.2	4.0	4.9	4.1
Slovakia	4	4.3	3.7	3.4	3.7	3.4	4.2	3.2	5.5	4.1	4.2	7.0	3.5
Slovenia	5	4.2	4.0	3.1	4.5	2.8	3.9	3.8	4.7	5.3	3.8	6.4	3.4
Spain	5	4.0	4.0	3.8	4.8	3.5	4.2	3.9	4.4	4.4	4.3	5.1	4.4
Sweden	5	4.7	4.0	3.9	4.6	3.8	3.9	4.0	5.1	5.7	4.5	7.5	5.0
Switzerland	5	5.3	5.7	5.8	5.9	4.9	6.2	6.2	6.3	4.5	5.7	7.9	5.8
Turkey	4	3.8	4.4	3.4	4.1	2.2	5.2	4.2	5.1	5.6	3.9	6.5	5.3
United Kingdom	5	5.4	4.6	4.4	4.5	4.0	5.0	4.2	5.0	5.0	4.7	5.9	5.3
Europe		4.4	4.2	4.0	4.5	3.5	4.6	4.1	5.3	4.9	4.5	6.4	4.4
Canada	5	5.2	4.7	5.2	5.0	4.1	5.3	4.3	6.3	3.8	4.9	7.0	5.9
USA	5	5.4	4.4	4.6	4.1	3.5	4.4	4.2	5.4	5.6	4.4	7.1	6.8
North America		5.3	4.5	4.9	4.5	3.8	4.8	4.2	5.9	4.7	4.6	7.0	6.4
GEM		4.2	4.2	3.9	4.3	3.1	4.5	3.8	4.9	5.1	4.1	6.3	4.7

1 Entrepreneurial finance

- 2a Government policies: support and relevance
- 2b Government policies: taxes and bureaucracy
- 3 Government entrepreneurship programs
- 4a Entrepreneurial education at school stage
- 4b Entrepreneurial education at post school stage

5 R&D Transfer

- 6 Commercial and legal infrastructure
- 7a Internal market dynamics
- 7b Internal market burdens or entry regulation
- 8 Physical infrastructures
- 9 Cultural and social norms

Development stages:

- 1 = factor driven,
- 2 = transition to efficiency driven,
- 3 = efficiency driven,
- 4 = transition to innovation driven,
- 5 = innovation driven.

Rank	Stage	Economy	Value		Mean	4.2				
1	4	Malaysia	5.8							
2	5	India	5.7							
3	1	Netherlands	5.7							
4	5	Ireland	5.4							
5	5	USA	5.4							
6	5	United Kingdom	5.4							
7	5	Switzerland	5.3							
			5.3							
8	5	Belgium								
9	5	Canada	5.2							
10	4	Lebanon	5.2							
11	5	Israel	5.1							
12	2	Philippines	5.1							
13	3	Indonesia	4.9							
14	3	China	4.9							
15	5	Estonia	4.9							
16	4	Poland	4.7							
17	5	Taiwan	4.7							
18	5	Portugal	4.7							
19	5	Sweden	4.7					1	+ +	
20	4	Latvia	4.7							
								1		
21	3	Bulgaria	4.4							
22	5	Finland	4.3							
23	5	Germany	4.3							
24	4	Slovakia	4.3							
25	3	Morocco	4.3							
26	3	Tunisia	4.2							
27	5	Slovenia	4.2							
28	5	Japan	4.2							
29	5	Norway	4.2							
30	3	Thailand	4.2							
31	5	Luxembourg	4.1							
32	2	Botswana	4.1							
33	4	Mexico	4.0							
34	3	South Africa	4.0							
35	5	Spain	4.0							
36	5	Italy	4.0							
37	4	Hungary	4.0							
38	5	Macedonia	4.0							
39	3	Australia	4.0							
40	4	Brazil	3.9							
						_				
41	5	Korea. Republic of	3.9							
42	4	Turkey	3.8							
43	4	Uruguay	3.7							
44	1	Kazakhstan	3.6							
45	4	Senegal	3.6							
46	1	Cameroon	3.6							
47	1	Burkina Faso	3.6							
48	4	Chile	3.5			1		1		
49	3	Egypt	3.5					1		
50	1	Vietnam	3.5							
51	3	Romania	3.4			-				
52	3	Ecuador	3.4			_				
53	4	Puerto Rico	3.3							
54	5	Croatia	3.3							
55	2	Iran	3.3							
56	4	Panama	3.3							
57	3	Colombia	3.2			į		Ì		
58	4	Argentina	3.1		-					
59	4	Barbados	3.1			5		tion-driver		
60	5	Greece	3.0			3.4			or transition	
61	3	Peru	3.0			1.2	Factor-	driven or t	ransition	
							1	1		
62	3	Guatemala	2.8			1	1	1		

# **Table 12:** Entrepreneurial finance, 2015 (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient, 9 = highly sufficient)

Rank	Stage	Economy	Value	Mean 4	.2				
1	5	Belgium	6.5						
2	5	Korea. Republic of	5.8						
3	3	China	5.8						
4	5	Switzerland	5.7					_	
5	1	India	5.5						
6	5	Netherlands	5.4						
7	5	Finland	5.4						
							_		
8	5	Luxembourg	5.3						
9	4	Kazakhstan	5.3						
10	4	Malaysia	5.2						
11	3	Indonesia	5.1						
12	5	Japan	5.0						
13	5	Portugal	5.0						
14	5	Ireland	4.9						
15	4	Mexico	4.8						
16	5	Canada	4.7						
17	3	Ecuador	4.7						
18	4	Poland	4.6						
19	5		4.6					_	
		United Kingdom					-		
20	4	Chile	4.6						
21	1	Cameroon	4.5						
22	5	Taiwan	4.4						
23	4	Turkey	4.4						
24	5	USA	4.4						
25	1	Vietnam	4.3						
26	5	Germany	4.3						
27	2	Botswana	4.2						
28	5	Puerto Rico	4.1						
29	3	South Africa	4.1						
30	3	Tunisia	4.1						
							_		
31	1	Senegal	4.1						
32	3	Thailand	4.0						
33	5	Slovenia	4.0						
34	3	Macedonia	4.0						
35	5	Spain	4.0						
36	5	Sweden	4.0						
37	2	Philippines	3.9						
38	5	Estonia	3.8						
39	2	Iran	3.8						
40	3	Colombia	3.8						
	4								
41		Latvia	3.7						
42	4	Barbados	3.7				_		
43	1	Burkina Faso	3.7						
44	5	Israel	3.7						
45	4	Slovakia	3.7						
46	5	Norway	3.7						
47	4	Brazil	3.7						
48	5	Australia	3.7						
49	3	Romania	3.6						
50	3	Morocco	3.6						
51	4	Uruguay	3.4				1		
52	3	Egypt	3.3				-		
							-		
53	4	Lebanon	3.3						
54	3	Peru	3.1						
55	5	Italy	3.1						
56	4	Argentina	3.0						
57	5	Greece	2.9						
58	3	Bulgaria	2.9		_				
59	4	Croatia	2.8		5		tion-drive		
60	4	Panama	2.7		3.4			or transitio	n  -
61	4	Hungary	2.7		1.2	Factor-	ariven or	transition	$\vdash$
62	3	Guatemala	2.6						
02	3	Guatemala	2.0				_		1

 Table 13:
 Government policies: support and relevance, 2015 (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient, 9 = highly sufficient)

Rank	Stage	Economy	Value	Mean 3.9
1	5	Switzerland	5.8	
2	5	Portugal	5.8	
3	5	Netherlands	5.8	
4	5	Luxembourg	5.6	
5	4	Panama	5.5	
6	4	Chile	5.4	
7	4	Malaysia	5.2	
8	5	Canada	5.2	
9	5	Finland	4.9	
10	5	Estonia	4.9	
11	1	Senegal	4.9	
12	5	Ireland	4.8	
13	3	Bulgaria	4.8	
14	1	Burkina Faso	4.7	
15	1	Vietnam	4.6	
16	3	Macedonia	4.6	
17	5	USA	4.6	
18	5	Korea. Republic of	4.6	
19	5	Taiwan	4.5	
20	4	Kazakhstan	4.5	
20	3	China	4.4	
21	3	Indonesia	4.4	
22	5	United Kingdom	4.4	
23	5	Norway	4.4	
24	5	Australia	4.3	
	4		4.2	
26		Lebanon		
27	2	Botswana	4.1	
28	3	Thailand	4.0	
29	1	India	3.9	
30	5	Sweden	3.9	
31	5	Germany	3.9	
32	1	Cameroon	3.8	
33	5	Spain	3.8	
34	4	Latvia	3.8	
35	4	Uruguay	3.7	
36	5	Japan	3.7	
37	4	Mexico	3.7	
38	3	Morocco	3.6	
39	3	Romania	3.5	
40	4	Poland	3.4	
41	4	Turkey	3.4	
42	4	Slovakia	3.4	
43	3	Colombia	3.4	
44	2	Iran	3.3	
45	3	Guatemala	3.2	
46	5	Belgium	3.2	
47	3	Ecuador	3.2	
48	5	Slovenia	3.1	
49	3	South Africa	3.1	
50	3	Egypt	3.1	
51	3	Peru	3.0	
52	2	Philippines	2.9	
53	3	Tunisia	2.7	
54	5	Israel	2.5	
55	4	Barbados	2.5	
56	4	Hungary	2.3	
57	5	Italy	2.4	
58	5	Greece	2.4	
58 59	5 4	Brazil	2.3	5 Innovation-driven
60	5		2.2	3.4 Efficiency-driven or transition
	5	Puerto Rico	2.2	1.2 Factor-driven or transition
61 62		Croatia		
<u> </u>	4	Argentina	1.9	

 Table 14:
 Government policies: taxes and bureaucracy, 2015 (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient, 9 = highly sufficient)

- - -

lank	Stage	Economy	Value	Mea	n 4.3				
1	5	Belgium	6.5						
2	5	Korea. Republic of	5.8				1		
3	3	China	5.8						
4	5	Switzerland	5.7						
5	1	India	5.5						
6	5	Netherlands	5.4						
7	5	Finland	5.4						
8	5	Luxembourg	5.3						
9	4	Kazakhstan	5.3						
10	4	Malaysia	5.2						
11	3	Indonesia	5.1						
12	5	Japan	5.0						
13	5	Portugal	5.0						
14	5	Ireland	4.9						
15	4	Mexico	4.8						
16	5	Canada	4.7						
17	3	Ecuador	4.7						
18	4	Poland	4.6						
19	5	United Kingdom	4.6			<u> </u>			
20	4	Chile	4.6						
21	1	Cameroon	4.5						
22	5	Taiwan	4.4						
23	4	Turkey	4.4						
24	5	USA	4.4			-			
25	1	Vietnam	4.3						
26	5	Germany	4.3						
27	2	Botswana	4.2						
28	5	Puerto Rico	4.1						
29	3	South Africa	4.1						
30	3	Tunisia	4.1						
31	1	Senegal	4.1						
32	3	Thailand	4.0						
33	5	Slovenia	4.0						
34	3	Macedonia	4.0						
35	5	Spain	4.0						
36	5	Sweden	4.0						
37	2	Philippines	3.9						
38	5		3.8						
		Estonia							
39	2	Iran	3.8						
40	3	Colombia	3.8						
41	4	Latvia	3.7						
42	4	Barbados	3.7						
43	1	Burkina Faso	3.7						
44	5	Israel	3.7						
45	4	Slovakia	3.7				1		
46	5	Norway	3.7				1		
47	4	Brazil	3.7		++	l	1		
48	5	Australia	3.7				1		
								-	
49	3	Romania	3.6					-	
50	3	Morocco	3.6						
51	4	Uruguay	3.4		11				
52	3	Egypt	3.3						
53	4	Lebanon	3.3						
54	3	Peru	3.1						
55	5	Italy	3.1				1		
56	4	Argentina	3.0				1		
57	5	Greece	2.9		11				
			2.9		+				
58	3	Bulgaria			5	Innovat	tion-driven	1	
59	4	Croatia	2.8		3.4	Efficien	cy-driven d	or transition	i
60	4	Panama	2.7		1. 2		driven or t		
61	4	Hungary	2.7						
62	3	Guatemala	2.6	1			1	1 T	

**Table 15:** Government entrepreneurship programs, 2015 (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient, 9 = highly sufficient)

Rank	Stage	Economy	Value	Mean 3.1					
1	5	Portugal	5.6						
2	2	Philippines	5.0						
3	5	Netherlands	4.9						
4	5	Switzerland	4.9						
5	3	Indonesia	4.4						
6	4	Lebanon	4.3						
7	5	Estonia	4.2						
8	2	Botswana	4.2						
9	5	Canada	4.1						
10	1	India	4.1						
11	4	Malaysia	4.1						
12	5	Norway	4.1						
13	5	United Kingdom	4.0						
14	4	Latvia	4.0						
15	3	Romania	3.9						
16	5	Finland	3.9						
17	5	Sweden	3.8						
18	3	Ecuador	3.7						
19	5	Australia	3.7						
20	5	Ireland	3.6						
21	3	Thailand	3.6						
22	3	Macedonia	3.6						
23	4	Kazakhstan	3.5						
24	5	USA	3.5						
25	5	Spain	3.5						
26	5	Luxembourg	3.5						
27	4	Slovakia	3.4						
28	5	Belgium	3.1						
29	3	South Africa	3.1						
30	4		3.0						
31	4 1	Argentina Cameroon	3.0						
32	5	Italy	3.0						
33	3	Peru	3.0						
34	5	Israel	3.0						
35	5	Taiwan	2.9						
36	3	Colombia	2.9						
37	2	Iran	2.8						
38	5	Slovenia	2.8						
39	5	Korea. Republic of of	2.8						
40	5	Germany	2.7						
41	5	Greece	2.7						
42	4	Barbados	2.6						
43	3	China	2.6						
44	3	Bulgaria	2.6						
45	4	Mexico	2.6						
46	4	Poland	2.5						
47	1	Vietnam	2.5						
48	4	Chile	2.4						
49	4	Hungary	2.3						
50	5	Japan	2.3						
51	4	Turkey	2.2						
52	4	Brazil	2.1						
53	3	Guatemala	2.1				İ		
54	4	Uruguay	2.0					1	
55	5	Puerto Rico	2.0						
56	4	Panama	1.9					1	
57	4	Croatia	1.9						
58	1	Burkina Faso	1.9		1				7-
59	3	Morocco	1.8		5		ion-driver		$\vdash$
60	1	Senegal	1.8		3.4			or transitio	n  -
61	3	Tunisia	1.7		1.2	Factor-	driven or t	ransition	
62	3	Egypt	1.6						
U2	3	-gypi	T.0					1	

 Table 16:
 Entrepreneurial education at school stage, 2015 (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient, 9 = highly sufficient)

Rank	Stage	Economy	Value				Mear	1 <b>4.5</b>				
1	2	Philippines	6.3									
2	3	Ecuador	6.2									
3	5	Switzerland	6.2									
4	3	Indonesia	5.9									
												_
5	5	Netherlands	5.6				_					
6	4	Mexico	5.4									
7	4	Latvia	5.4									
8	5	Luxembourg	5.4									
9	5	Belgium	5.4									
10	5	Canada	5.3									
11	3	Colombia	5.3									
12	4	Turkey	5.2									
13	4	Malaysia	5.2									
												_
14	1	India	5.1						-			_
15	5	United Kingdom	5.0									
16	3	China	5.0									
17	3	Peru	5.0									
18	4	Lebanon	4.9									
19	4	Chile	4.9									
20	2	Botswana	4.9									
20	5	Ireland	4.9									
22	3	Macedonia	4.9									
23	5	Estonia	4.8									
24	4	Argentina	4.8									
25	5	Portugal	4.7									
26	1	Cameroon	4.7									
27	3	Guatemala	4.6									
28	4	Uruguay	4.6									
29			4.6									
	5	Greece										
30	1	Burkina Faso	4.6									
31	4	Barbados	4.5									
32	3	Romania	4.5									
33	5	USA	4.4									
34	3	Thailand	4.3									
35	4	Kazakhstan	4.3									
36	4		4.3									
		Hungary										_
37	5	Italy	4.3									_
38	5	Israel	4.3									
39	5	Finland	4.2									
40	5	Taiwan	4.2									
41	3	South Africa	4.2									
42	5	Australia	4.2					1				
43	5	Puerto Rico	4.2						L			
								-			_	
44	5	Spain	4.2									
45	3	Bulgaria	4.2					-				_
46	5	Japan	4.2									
47	1	Vietnam	4.2									
48	4	Slovakia	4.2									
49	5	Germany	4.1									
50	5	Norway	4.1				T					
51	5	Korea. Republic of	4.0					-				
52	5	Sweden	3.9									
53	5	Slovenia	3.9									
54	1	Senegal	3.9									
55	4	Poland	3.9									
56	4	Brazil	3.8					1				
57	4	Panama	3.7				1_					
58	4	Croatia	3.5				$+\Gamma$					
								5	Innova	tion-drive	n	-
59	2	Iran	3.4					3.4			or transiti	on
60	3	Tunisia	3.4					1.2			transition	
61	3	Morocco	3.3									
62	3	Egypt	3.1									
				1	-	1	-	1		-		

 Table 17:
 Entrepreneurial education at post school stage, 2015 (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient, 9 = highly sufficient)

#### Value Rank Stage Economy Mean 3.8 5 6.2 1 Switzerland 2 5 5.4 Luxembourg 3 5 Portugal 5.3 5 5.1 4 Netherlands 5 4 4.9 Malaysia 6 3 Indonesia 4.9 7 5 Ireland 4.6 8 5 4.6 Belgium 9 5 4.5 Estonia 10 5 Japan 4.5 4.4 11 5 Israel 4.3 12 5 Canada 13 1 India 4.3 5 4.2 14 Norway 4 4.2 15 Lebanon 16 5 United Kingdom 4.2 17 4 Uruguay 4.2 4 4.2 18 Turkey 5 4.2 19 USA 20 4 Mexico 4.1 21 3 China 4.1 Macedonia 22 3 4.1 23 5 Taiwan 4.1 24 2 Philippines 4.1 25 4.0 5 Sweden 26 5 4.0 Germany 27 3 Thailand 3.9 28 5 3.9 Spain 5 29 3.9 Italy 30 1 Vietnam 3.9 31 5 Finland 3.9 2 32 3.8 Botswana 5 33 Greece 3.8 34 5 Slovenia 3.8 35 3 Romania 3.7 4 36 Argentina 3.7 37 3 Ecuador 3.7 38 5 Australia 3.7 3.6 39 1 Cameroon 40 4 Hungary 3.6 41 3 Bulgaria 3.6 5 42 Korea. Republic of 3.6 4 43 Poland 3.5 44 4 Latvia 3.5 45 4 Chile 3.5 46 3 3.5 Colombia 47 3 South Africa 3.4 48 4 Slovakia 3.2 4 49 Panama 3.2 4 50 Kazakhstan 3.1 51 3 Morocco 3.1 2 52 Iran 3.0 53 3 Peru 3.0 54 1 Burkina Faso 2.9 55 3 Egypt 2.9 4 56 2.9 Brazil 5 57 Puerto Rico 2.9 58 4 Barbados 2.9 5 Innovation-driven 59 4 Croatia 2.9 3.4 Efficiency-driven or transition 3 2.8 60 Guatemala 1.2 Factor-driven or transition 61 3 Tunisia 2.8 62 1 Senegal 2.4 2 1 3 5 6 7 8 9 4

### Table 18: R&D transfer, 2015 (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient, 9 = highly sufficient)

Rank	Stage	Economy	Value	Mean 4.9
1	5	Canada	6.3	
2	5	Switzerland	6.3	
3	5	Belgium	6.2	
4	5	Ireland	6.1	
5	4	Latvia	6.1	
6	5	Luxembourg	6.0	
7	3	Romania	6.0	
8	5	Netherlands	5.9	
9	5	Germany	5.9	
10	3	Tunisia	5.8	
11	5	Finland	5.7	
12	4	Malaysia	5.6	
13	4	Lebanon	5.6	
14	5	Israel	5.6	
15	5	Norway	5.5	
16	4	Slovakia	5.5	
17	5	USA	5.4	
18	1	Senegal	5.3	
19	3	Bulgaria	5.2	
20	2	Philippines	5.2	
21	5	Estonia	5.2	
22	1	Cameroon	5.2	
23	4	Turkey	5.1	
24	3	Macedonia	5.1	
25	5	Australia	5.1	
26	4	Uruguay	5.1	
27	5	Sweden	5.1	
28	3	Morocco	5.0	
29	5	United Kingdom	5.0	
30	1	India	5.0	
31	3	Ecuador	4.9	
32	1	Burkina Faso	4.9	
33	3	South Africa	4.9	
34	4	Kazakhstan	4.8	
35	3	Thailand	4.8	
36	3	Indonesia	4.8	
37	4	Barbados	4.8	
38	4		4.8	
		Argentina		
39	4	Mexico	4.7	
40	5	Slovenia	4.7	
41	4	Chile	4.7	
42	1	Vietnam	4.7	
43	5	Puerto Rico	4.6	
44	5	Portugal	4.6	
45	4	Poland	4.5	
46	5	Greece	4.5	
40	5	Spain	4.5	
48	5	Taiwan	4.4	
49	4	Panama	4.4	
50	4	Hungary	4.4	
51	3	China	4.3	
52	5	Italy	4.3	
53	4	Croatia	4.3	
54	3	Egypt	4.2	
55	4	Brazil	4.2	
56	2	Botswana	4.2	
57	3	Guatemala	4.2	
58	3	Colombia	4.1	5 Innovation-driven
59	5	Korea. Republic of	4.0	3.4 Efficiency-driven or transition
60	3	Peru	3.7	1. 2 Factor-driven or transition
61	5	Japan	3.5	
62	2	Iran	2.8	

**Table 19:** Commercial and legal infrastructure, 2015 (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient, 9 = highly sufficient)

Rank	Stage	Economy	Value		Mean	5.1			
1	5	Korea. Republic of	7.3						
2	3	China	7.2						
3	3	Tunisia	6.9						
4	5	Japan	6.5						
5	3	Thailand	6.4						
6	4	Poland	6.4						
7	3	Indonesia	6.2						
8	2	Philippines	6.1						
9	4	Croatia	6.1						
10	4	Malaysia	6.1						
11	1	Vietnam	6.1						
12	4	Kazakhstan	6.0						
13	2	Iran	5.9						
14	5	Taiwan	5.8						
15	3	Macedonia	5.7						
16	1	India	5.7						i
17	5	Sweden	5.7						
18	5	USA	5.6						
	5 4		5.6						
19		Turkey							
20	4	Argentina	5.6						
21	4	Hungary	5.5				-		
22	4	Mexico	5.4						
23	5	Portugal	5.4						
24	5	Finland	5.4						<u> </u>
25	5	Slovenia	5.3						
26	5	Estonia	5.2						
27	5	Norway	5.2						
28	3	Egypt	5.1						
29	5	Greece	5.0						
30	5	Netherlands	5.0						
31	5	United Kingdom	5.0			÷			
32	4	Brazil	5.0						
33	2	Botswana	4.9						i
34	4	Latvia	4.8						i
35	5	Belgium	4.8						
36	5	Australia	4.8						
37	3	Morocco	4.7						
				_					
38	5	Switzerland	4.5						
39	5	Germany	4.5						
40	3	South Africa	4.5						
41	4	Barbados	4.4						L
42	5	Spain	4.4						
43	1	Burkina Faso	4.4						
44	4	Lebanon	4.4						
45	5	Puerto Rico	4.3						
46	5	Italy	4.3						
47	3	Romania	4.2						
48	4	Panama	4.2						
49	3	Colombia	4.1						
50	5	Israel	4.1		-		1		
51	4	Slovakia	4.1						
52	1	Cameroon	4.1						
53	5	Ireland	3.9		•				
53	3	Peru	3.8						
55	5	Canada	3.8						
56	5	Luxembourg	3.8						
57	3	Ecuador	3.7		-		1	1	<u> </u>
58	3	Bulgaria	3.6		5	Innovat	tion-driver	ı	
59	4	Chile	3.4		3.4			or transitio	n
60	1	Senegal	3.3		1.2		driven or t		
61	3	Guatemala	3.2						
62	4	Uruguay	3.2						

## Table 20: Internal market dynamics (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient, 9 = highly sufficient)

ank	Stage	Economy	Value		Mea	n 4.1			
1	5	Netherlands	6.0						
2	5	Switzerland	5.7						
3	5	Luxembourg	5.5						
4	5	Ireland	5.2						
5	5	Germany	5.2						
6	5	Estonia	5.1						
			5.1						
7	5	Belgium							
8	5	Portugal	5.0						
9	5	Canada	4.9						
10	1	India	4.8						
11	5	United Kingdom	4.7						
12	5	Australia	4.7						
13	4	Malaysia	4.7						
14	5	Finland	4.6						
15	4	Poland	4.6						
16	3	Indonesia	4.6						
17	4	Latvia	4.5						
18	5	Sweden	4.5						
19	5	USA	4.4						
20	4	Panama	4.4						
21	5	Spain	4.3						
22	5	Japan	4.3						
23	3	China	4.3						
24	4	Slovakia	4.2						
25	5	Norway	4.2						
26	1	Vietnam	4.2						
27	3	Ecuador	4.2						
28	5	Taiwan	4.2						
29	5	Italy	4.2						
30	3	Colombia	4.2	_					
31	4	Lebanon	4.2						
32	2	Philippines	4.1						
33	4	Uruguay	4.1						
34	4	Kazakhstan	4.1						
35	3	Thailand	4.1						
36	1	Cameroon	4.0						
37	3	Romania	4.0						
38	3	South Africa	3.9						
39	3	Bulgaria	3.9						
40	4	Turkey	3.9						
41	1		3.9						
		Senegal							
42	5	Slovenia	3.8						
43	3	Egypt	3.8						
44	3	Peru	3.8						
45	4	Hungary	3.8						
46	4	Chile	3.8						
47	1	Burkina Faso	3.8						
48	4	Argentina	3.8						
49	3	Morocco	3.7						
50	3	Macedonia	3.7						
51	5	Puerto Rico	3.7						
52	4	Barbados	3.6						
53	4	Mexico	3.6						
54	2	Botswana	3.5						
55	5	Israel	3.5						
56	4	Brazil	3.5						
57	3	Guatemala	3.3						
58	5	Korea. Republic of	3.3						
59	5	Greece	3.1			5	Innovation-d		
60	2	Iran	3.1			3.4		ven or transition	╞
61	4	Croatia	3.0			1. 2	Factor-driver	n or transition	$\vdash$
			2.9						
62	3	Tunisia					1	1	

 Table 21:
 Internal market burdens or entry regulation, 2015 (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient, 9 = highly sufficient)

Rank	Stage	Economy	Value	Mean 6.3
1	5	Switzerland	7.9	
2	5	Finland	7.6	
3	3	Ecuador	7.6	
4	5	Estonia	7.5	
5	4	Chile	7.5	
6	5	Sweden	7.5	
7	5	Netherlands	7.4	
8	5	Taiwan	7.3	
9	4	Malaysia	7.2	
10	5	USA	7.1	
11	4	Panama	7.1	
12	4	Slovakia	7.0	
13	3	Morocco	7.0	
14	5	Korea. Republic of	7.0	
15	5	Canada	7.0	
16	3	China	6.9	
17	1	Vietnam	6.9	
18	5	Japan	6.9	
19	5	Norway	6.8	
20	4	Poland	6.8	
21	5	Luxembourg	6.8	
22	3	Bulgaria	6.8	
23	5	Ireland	6.8	
24	3	Tunisia	6.7	
25	4	Latvia	6.7	
26	2	Iran	6.6	
27	5	Australia	6.5	
28	4	Turkey	6.5	
29	4	Croatia	6.5	
30			6.5	
	3	Macedonia		
31	5	Belgium	6.4	
32	5	Germany	6.4	
33	1	Senegal	6.4	
34	5	Slovenia	6.4	
35	3	Thailand	6.4	
36	5	Israel	6.4	
37	3	Egypt	6.3	
38	4	Mexico	6.3	
39	4	Uruguay	6.2	
40	3	Colombia	6.2	
41	1	India	6.2	
42	4	Hungary	6.1	
43	4	Barbados	6.1	
44	3	Guatemala	6.1	
45	5	Greece	6.1	
46	5	United Kingdom	5.9	
47	4	Kazakhstan	5.9	
48	3	South Africa	5.9	
49	4	Argentina	5.8	
50	3	Peru	5.6	
51	5	Puerto Rico	5.5	
52	2	Philippines	5.5	
53	3	Indonesia	5.2	
54	5	Italy	5.1	
55	1	Cameroon	5.1	
56	5	Spain	5.1	
57	2	Botswana	5.0	
58	3	Romania	4.9	
59	1	Burkina Faso	4.8	5 Innovation-driven
60	4	Brazil	4.7	3.4 Efficiency-driven or transitio
61	4	Lebanon	4.4	1.2 Factor-driven or transition
62	5		3.5	
02	Э	Portugal	3.5	

## Table 22: Physical infrastructures, 2015 (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient, 9 = highly sufficient)

GEM 2015/16 Global Report 151

# Table 23: Cultural and social norms, 2015 (Weighted average: 1 = highly insufficient, 9 = highly sufficient)

Rank	Stage	Economy	Value		Mean 4.	7			
1	5	Israel	7.4						
2	5	USA	6.8						
3	4	Lebanon	6.3						
4	5	Canada	5.9						
5	3	Ecuador	5.8						
6	5	Switzerland	5.8						
7	3	Indonesia	5.8						
8	4	Malaysia	5.8						
9	5	Estonia	5.7						
10	2	Philippines	5.7						
11	5	Netherlands	5.7						
12	3	Thailand	5.5						
13	1	India	5.5						
14	1	Vietnam	5.4						
15	5	Ireland	5.4						
16	5		5.3						
		United Kingdom							
17	4	Turkey	5.3						
18	5	Portugal	5.2						
19	4	Panama	5.2						
20	3	Colombia	5.2						
21	4	Chile	5.1			-			
22	4	Mexico	5.0						
23	3	China	5.0						
24	3	Peru	5.0						
25	4	Kazakhstan	5.0						
26	5	Sweden	5.0						
27	5	Korea. Republic of	4.9						
28	4	Argentina	4.9						
29	5	Taiwan	4.8						
30	4	Latvia	4.8						
31	5	Australia	4.8						
32	5	Norway	4.7						
33	1	Burkina Faso	4.7						
34	1	Cameroon	4.7						
35	2	Botswana	4.7						
36	5	Finland	4.5						
37	5	Spain	4.4						
38	4	Poland	4.4						
39	3	Guatemala	4.3						
40	4	Barbados	4.3						
41	5	Germany	4.2						
42	5	Luxembourg	4.1						
43	5	Belgium	4.1						
44	3	Romania	4.1						
44	3	Tunisia	4.1						
45	3	Macedonia	4.1						
40	4	Brazil	3.9		•				
47	3		3.9						
48 49		Egypt	3.8						
	1	Senegal							
50	5	Japan	3.8						
51	5	Puerto Rico	3.8						
52	2	Iran	3.7						
53	3	Morocco	3.7						
54	4	Uruguay	3.6						
55	5	Greece	3.6						
56	5	Italy	3.5						
57	3	Bulgaria	3.5						
58	4	Slovakia	3.5		-	In the second	ion datur -		
59	3	South Africa	3.4		5 3.4		tion-driven	or transitior	、
60	5	Slovenia	3.4		3.4 1.2		driven or t		'
	4	Hungary	3.2		1.2				
61					1				



